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PREFACE

THE merits of Sir James Frazer's edition (18¢8) of Pausanias have
been familiar to a generation of scholars pursuing the study of
the topography and monuments of Greece either on the spot or
in libraries. They require no emphasis here: the work has itself
become a classic. A special feature and a notable embellishment of
those volumes consisted in the series of maps and plans, both coloured
plates and text illustrations, in which the scholarship and judgement
of the editor were interpreted by means of some of the best crafts-
manship that was available. This material has served its purpose
well; and it is capable of further and more general usefulness.
When Sir James expressed his desire that it should be reissued
separately, accompanied by the modicum of text required to bring
its meaning into relief, as a portable atlas for travellers following
literally or in spirit in the footsteps of Pausanias, and when he added
that the present nature of his own scholarly undertakings precluded
the possibility of his preparing such a text himself, it appeared to me
0 be the duty of one who for years past had benefited by the guidance
and inspiration of the Pawsansas to offer to this new project such
collaboration as might lie within my powers—a slight return for the
services which the Pawsanias has rendered to scholarship. The pre-
paration of one condensed page of text to face each plate, though
demanding, on practical grounds, the exclusion of much matter
which would have had interest, has proved less a tax on the com-
piler’s ingenuity than a delightful privilege ; it has been rendered
easy, and the result has been assured of greater effectiveness, by Sir
James's consent that the apposite passages in his own commentary
should be incorporated in the new text. Economy of space has dic-
tated terseness and at times uncomely abbreviation ; but it is hoped
that, even in this form, something of the feeling for topographical
significance and something of the reverence for the works of the
men of olden days which pervades the original commentary may
have found its way into the present volume.

The plates, and a selection of the text-illustrations, are reissued
without change, except that we are indebted to the Director of the
American School of Classical Studies at Athens for permission to
reproduce Plan No. XXVI, Corinth; to the Director of the Oster-
reichisches Archiologisches Institut of Vienna for Plan No. XLII, 2,
Market-Place at Elis; and to M. E. de Boccard for permission to
reproduce Plan No. LVI, Delphi, Athena Pronaia, from Fowslles
de Delphes, Tome 11; while Plan No. XXXV, Sparta, has been
adapted 5o as to include the results of excavations conducted by
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the British School at Athens, through the kind co-operation of
Mr. A. M. Woodward, former Director of that institution.

When necessary, attention is called to the points in which the
plans require revision in the light of the thirty and more years that
have elapsed since their preparation ; such changes are occasioned
chiefly by the evidence yielded through fresh excavations, and where
there have been no extensive developments of this sort, the record
set forth so long ago still retains practically its full value, save indeed
as the economic forces of our own time have left their mark on the
landscape, especially in improved means of communication.

The few references to recent publications which have been intro-
duced may be acceptable to scholars, partly as justification for the
views expressed in the text, and partly as guides to the voluminous
literature of the past thirty years.

A. W. VAN BUREN.
Rome, September 1920,
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INTRODUCTION

Ax atlas to illustrate Pausanias is spso facto an atlas of Greek
ymdufthchhyandmmmIEﬁthcdﬁu
and shrines of Greece : the circumstances of its origin give it an

er:—witnmnfthu:ﬂeufﬁrmmﬁmmmﬁmnmrjrufmm
Dfnuntherpa.rtufth:nnnitwnﬂdhasadmipﬁmatmm
mimmemdsutmstwurthjmﬁved,mdifwehudbamfmm
singhmnmmuntryinmmnfwhi:hwahnuldwishamrd
mmprmwed,w:hnimmightwﬂlhnwfaﬂmmﬂminthe
age of the Antonines ; it was the mellow autumn—perhaps rather
the Indian summer—of the ancient world : depopulation had set
in; and the barbarians were at the gates.

The little we know of the life of our author is gathered entirely
from his writings. The books were written in the order in which
thzfsmnd;:heﬁmbmk,thedescripﬁﬂnﬁfAthms,cermjnlyhnd
been finished by 160 or 161 A.D. at latest, and perhaps as early as
143@..mdhndbennpubﬁshdhefmm=nth:m Books 6 to 10
wmwﬁﬂmmtmﬁﬂﬂmnlf4ﬁ.ﬂ.,mﬁmﬂyhnvebtmmmposed
a good deal later than that year. Thus the composition of the work
extmd:dmrnperbdafn.tlemqywsnndpmbnmymymm;
withthjsmmrdsadew[npnminwchniqug,awidmingufthe
Whrbmmﬂamdﬂw&ntﬁmd:mmthe
mﬁgimmmdiﬁmsufthemmwwhichhumniashndchmfm

mﬁcmﬁngmmmnﬁmimmdﬁm
itself that he dedicated the best part of his life.

His Description af Greece is a guide- arranged in topo-
_ graphical order; it seems clear that Pausanias intended to record

nﬂthenmnnmbleohjtthdmwmmaﬂﬂEmmtmmmhh
traditions which he found existi or current in the Greece of his
time. Hhmmhudnllhfstaﬂ,indmlingwi‘lhﬂtﬁm,is'mpmﬁ
an experimental nature ; but when once he has fully grasped his
pwblen}anﬂdwﬂnpmihiﬂm:thud,thegtncralpﬁnciplennwhid:
he his matter is this : after narrating in outline the history
dthﬁisuitth:habummd&mibebtprmds{mﬂwfmﬂﬁﬂ
lnlhccnpiulbytheneuestmnd,mﬁnganythjngufimueﬂthlt
st:ik:shhnbjrthﬂwn?_ﬁrﬁvrdntthempiml&gnejsuaighsmmﬁ
centre of it, generally to the market-place, describes the chief
buildings and monuments there, and then follows the streets, one
after the other, Lhatmdiam&mnth:unﬂcinaﬁdirwﬁuns,m:ﬂr&
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ing the most remarkable objects in each of them, Having finished
hisnncmuunfthempitalhzdm{be.sthemmundingdisniﬂmth:
same principle. When he has exhausted all the main highways that
bmnch&nmtbedty,andhmmchedthc:ndofﬂwhstuﬁhm,he
crosses the boundary into the next district, which he then proceeds
to describe after the same fashion. This arrangement of the topo-
graphical material is clear : the routes do not cross each other, con-
fusion is avoided ; but it has an element of convention, as it is
obvious that neither Pausanias nor his readers could follow it in an
entirely literal manner ; manifestly the order has been adopted for
the sake of lucidity.

Theinurwtsrwuledbythmmhstamufthebmkmmﬁn]y
antiquarian and religious : Pausanias gives few indications of hay-
ingintmestedhimselfcﬁhﬂin!htnltmﬂheﬂmiesnfﬂmurin
the ordinary activities of his contemporaries ; his work is a store-
hmueofinfurmaﬁmasmthzr:lighusﬁfenfﬂmpeﬂpk,thei:
mmﬁﬁnmmmuandbaﬁa&,thefnlk-ﬂl&:,myﬁmuﬂkgmﬁs
lhatwrrestiﬂtubegazheredfmmthnlipsnftheguidesatthnahﬁnﬁ
and the peasants on the land. It is this tendency which imparts its
tumtohildﬁcﬁptimnfthecounu?mdilsmmumm; his choice
nfthehﬁerfnmunth:oldmth:rthmthenm,thgreﬁginusmlhgr
than the profane ; heisattrm:dbycurinmr:limufdlm,
ﬁpecinﬂyifthmmquiutmﬁnsntm:hcdmthﬂu; but his
mﬁgimmbiuhymmﬂmsawpedhisnﬁndnsm:mderhim
hdiﬂ’emnmthehimricgmundwhichhetmdandmlhmmm-
menuufgmmmundmmmhlewmumwhjchhisemmm
hn?efﬂlm:mﬂmmtevc:yhun,mdespedﬂ]}-uthcgmatm
of national life, Athens, Olympia and Delphi.

Hisinheﬂigmumdabﬂiﬁzasecmtohawbemliﬁleabuwdm
average, his opinions not very different from those of his contem-
poraries ; his work probably gains thereby in value for us., His
mdeuﬁuumispuem,thnesseminlhuthfuhessofhismum
should never have been called in question. His literary style, in
npiuufhkmcdmcnfﬂiubﬁtmndds,ishmwaﬂdlnhﬂumd;
clarity, the prime Tequisite in a topographer, he did not attain save
after an obviously difficult struggle ; his earlier efforts at adornment
were not crowned with success ; in his later books he arrives at
what, relatively, mﬂjrbetemmdeﬂsemmanhallh:gmdprmﬁug
his material ; the sense of dignity which the work as a whole
mmedIyM?misduemtheﬁdﬂitywithwhichasimplemm
can act as medium for an exalted theme.

Theqmﬁmofth:mumsuf?ausania&hnsgivmﬁsem
voluminous scientific discussion. In matters of history, as in litera-
ture, he comes at the end of a long tradition, and quite properly he
madeﬂt&miveusenfmrliﬂwrﬂiugnnddOEmntsfmth:
elucidation of his special field; but for the actual description of
things existing in his own day there is every Teason to acrept him,
generally speaking, as an eye-witness.
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KEY MAP TO GREECE

PAUSANIAS'S route is an orderly one ; starting with Attica, culiumaily the most signifi-
u.m;-rtuiﬁmmdtnpugnphkallythemnnnmm,huthmnkﬁuptbemgiomnf
ﬂdenpomninmemﬂun!arphﬂwrkingﬂumHtmﬁghtmdﬁmﬂymchhg
jts centre in Areadia ; after which he crosses the Gulf of Carinth to Boeotia, and adopts
a course from E. to W. The description of Attica has heen trunsmitted without an
mﬁulinh-uduzﬁmmchanispﬂﬁudtuuchufth:mhuqumthoh; and no
general preface has reached us, if there ever was one. The work now ends with the
DnuihnLnuim.andthcpmmiuufauaimnntherunﬁnnImi-m[i:.:g,ﬂk
unfulfilled ; hmyhnvebemmewﬁmﬁinmﬁmwmrylﬁs-mumnﬂhnhumd
include Thessaly and the regions to the W.; bat, as the map shows, there is topo-
gupl!ll:ll.l.nﬂwrm-}'uﬂdhismriml,nniryinnthm:'hi:hshmuﬂuﬁ.-ﬁpﬁﬂ
dﬁrﬁm-ndtumhmuﬁsuplﬂ%mrtbeW.lhﬂtufﬂmGﬂfﬂﬂminﬂL

mnditiwrdrhedzfdupmmrufﬂmhciviﬁmﬁnnnndhimry: a series of tertary
limestone mountains formed about an earlier crystalline and metamorphie structure,
the broken prolongation of the Balkan peninsula ; in the W. part of Central Greece
l‘.'heya.tcmnfus:dhgmnping_.hﬂtamh&ugmﬂh&ghl.::p:dﬂer,-E.ufdeﬁi
{Pl.mu.'l-.Su?a&.}lmdinﬂmnngzmnuthtnﬂrymthcﬂ.-w.ufﬂutﬂﬂtmtm
(mod. Kiona, 8240 ft.) ; further E. they are less lofty, fall into more consistent ranges
ﬂlh-gmerulw_ﬁE.dhecmmdkav: between them fertile valleys of some extent
anrdh,hipumwhkhuﬂummimlubamdetnmlgﬁﬁmmhnm In N.
Pdnpunnﬁ:,ngﬁu,ﬂumnﬁgmnﬁnndthnmuunuinmumhmnfnud; further
Sitheymumuthefumu[pnmudlinﬂ.nmn'mguﬂ’smrwhnldﬁnuﬂl; Tajgetus,
upnnti.nghlmtniafrmimil,hlheh:fﬁ:ﬁtﬁgmftj: the sharp definition of
thghhtuﬁcngbnundm’hﬂn[ﬂmmtryisﬂu:miummuinnuh‘mnwh

deterred them—in contrast with the Persians and Romans—from road-building. The
W. coast Incks good harbours ; the W. portion of the Gulf of Corinth is enclosed
forhidding mountain slopes with only a fringe of plain at the water's edge ; hence the
peninsula opens out towards the E. rather than the W., and Greeks have always felt
themselves confronted with Asia rather than Europe.

The chief trade-routes and strategic lines were drawn on the surface of the land
long before the indigenous population, or the Northern invaders, sought oot the fertile
soil of the plains or the metals which ata few exceptional points could reward initiative
or serve as an object of strife. Dieforestation, now conspicusus, took place in historic
fimes ; malaria appears to have infested the regions where there was stagnant water
from the fourth or third century B.C. down to our own day, and to have been a cause
of depopulation. Natural resources are limited: as Herodotus said (vii. 102, “ Greece
ever hath poverty for & companion.” But clear atmosphere, salubrious winds, the
incomparahle contours of the mountains, alternating with the richly-coloured sea which
is never far distant, played their part in sharpening the senses of the inhabitants ; while
at npmmmmmm:dhcmryﬁmndiﬁumrh“ﬂmnbﬂﬁmnfuehh
meﬂwnfs.-E.Atﬁﬂ,nrth:goanﬁnmuminsufThm.gmﬂ:uﬂd
impetus to economic development ; and when the time came, the mountains of Attica,
Naxos and Paros yiclded worthy material in which the architects and sculptors might
embody the ideals of the race.

Recenmt Publications on Greece in Ganeral ; Bibliography in Xatalop der Bidl. d. K.
DPreuteck, Arch. fust, in Kom, i. (Rome, 1914). Current reports in Amer. Journ. of
Archaol., Bull de Corr. Hellénique, fakrbuck des Inst, (Arch. Anzeiger), Jfourn, of
Hellen. Studics, Year's Work in Cl. St. Various articles in Pauly-Wissowa-Kroll,
Real-Encyclopadie. 1. Kromayer and G. Veith, Anfike Schlackifelder, i, fi., iv., 1, 2
{Berfin, 1903~ ). Herodotus, iv.-ix., ed. Macan (London, 1895-1008). A. Struck,
Fur Landeskunde von Griechenlond (Frankfurt a. M., 1912). . Ponten, Griechische
Landschaften (Stwottgart & Berlin, 1914). O, Maull, Gr. Mittelmeergebiet [Breslau,
1022). E. Douglas Van Buren, Gr. Fictile Revetments in the Archaie Period (London,
1926}, pp. 3-72, Sites. V. Ehrenberg, Gr. Land und Gr. Staat, in Die Antihe, iii. (1927},
304-325- =
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11
ATTICA

Carvection of Map - Here as in other paris of Gresce, the system of carriage roads has
been greatly developed in recent years. A reilway also extends from Athens, betwien
Parnes and Pentelicus, then W. by Tanagra to Thebes, and on to Thessaly and Salonica.
MSunium.Hmkgcnd;hmldmbe:hngﬂmeEmnswPuﬂmmmnA:ma:
and on the island of Aegina, to TemeLE oF Artials.  The finding in 1921, not far
inhnd&nmihesmﬂpmmmmyafﬁnﬂm,S:EufﬂMPhﬂm;m,dmh-
scription of the deme Hﬁm.ﬁmﬂ:emﬂlnmﬂmnd’thisdme.mﬂhmd&w:m-
ﬁrmthelncnﬁmn{ﬂnp:&ﬂimgimmth:pumxmp{],].ﬂ Hondius, in Aws.
Brit. Sch, af Athens, xxiv, (1919-21), 151-160).

hmﬁgnﬁnmmniniwtinlg:ﬁby?ru&mrﬁmuhﬂﬂhthunghnnfﬂmthm
{Woodward in /. &. 5. xlvii. (1927), 254), have vielded valuable topographical results,
In the pass between Mt Agriz/iks and the Fresira Swamp he found acropolis walls
with a drcumference of ea. 300 metres, placed on a crag distant ¢a, 1.50 chilometres
from the mound of the Athenians (see No. X XI), and scarcely a chilometre from the
shore ; the place has a spring of good drinking water; he proposes to identify it as
Marsthon. Probalinthos would have lain not far distant to the 5., in the position
indinhednniﬁ:mpmﬂm:ﬁdmnfﬂuinsnipﬁnu.f,G.iL:su‘;,rhi:hmfuund_
there {now at New York University), and Strabe, ix. 1. 22.

The first book of Pausanias starts with Cape Sunjum, at the S-E. corner of Attica ;

Attica is not. Intﬁcd.gsuipﬁunnfthrmmhipsithdﬂﬁmhmmwmnhmdu;
Ww_hmdﬂ&:hﬂ:mhﬁm{p.!“,mdhﬁg&uhhd
his aceount of the townships he describes all the islands together. Finally, he resumes
lrigidbupngﬂp]:dﬂlnrd:rwh:nhm{;ﬁ.s]unthchighwny&mnﬁﬂ::uﬁw
Eleusis ; tﬁamkshimmmh!egnnudﬂmtnnﬂrmmbﬂrdﬂnf&rhr&ihn
territory between M. Gerania and the Isthmus.

Th:mupshmhﬂﬂaemﬁgunﬁmufﬁtﬁﬂpmteﬂrdthpmpie&umhuﬁm
hjrhnd,i.{th!nmaﬁmzsﬁmulaﬁnglhmmukemrh:mnndmﬂimmﬂ:mdm
in adventures towards the East. Wuunnppu:ciludmtupognphin]umnhhe
mngthudm.'ﬂmﬁal'Ath:n:,mdwtnngmpth:mctusivephnmufﬂ:ttnv
tension of Athenian territory. The map extends far enough to give the setting for the
tale of Oedipus, and for mirch of Herodotus’s account of the great Persian invasions.

"Df-ﬂlhemminmdmtﬂrm.buimmmtuhwtha.&th!.‘.moonint:mﬂiug
and complete system of land defences. A chain of important fortresses . . . . follows
the line of the Kithairon-Parnes range : Elcutherai, Oino#, Pamnkton, Phyle, Dekeleia,
Aphidna and Rhamnoos. Iuﬁdmhﬂjnndiuhrgtwmthqrmd“m:uduf
marking off Athenian territory, but * in origin they were intended rather to defend the
various roads from Attica into Bocotia." There should be mentioned also the ** inter-
u&ng#lﬁwhinhmu:!nngih:mumhadb:twmntheEImﬁninumdAmcphinn
about 2 miles W. of Epans Licria. Tt runs across the pass almost unbroken for over
3milu.nm!mnbvinmljriutrnd¢dun&rfemapi:mﬂemh. A seties of towers
on Mt. Aigaleos to the S. continued the line,” There was a definite system of defence :
mu:hhnpmmmmﬂnsmgmw{mﬂm; 'ﬂnumlnﬂfmt.blﬂtijﬂlﬂmm
of the others ; finally, the very numerous small watch-towers. {L. Chandler,in /. #. 5.
xlvi. (1926), 1-21.)
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ARGOLIS

For Pausanias, the Argolid includes the district of Corinth, His route enters Corinthian
territory ot the place called Cromyon, whence he soon reaches the Isthmus, which
“ reaches on the one side to the sea at Cenchrene, and on the other to the sea at Lechaeom ™
(ii. 1. 5). He ohserves, without approval, the vestiges of the sudacious attempt (of Nero)
to cot a canal ; and is more interested in the Iocal legends, cults, and festivals, He deals
briefly with the two ports of Corinth (2. 3), then proceeds o that great city itself, which
as he saw it was the colony planted by the Romans (No. XXVI). From the lower town
he mounts to the summit of the Acro-Corinth (5, 1 £.), whenee it is convenient to follow
the hill road on to Tenea (5. 3). Then (5. 4) be takes a fresh start to the W, from the
lower town of Corinth, and visits Sicyon (5. 4-11. 2} with its many things of interest.
From here he sets forth along the direct road for Phlius, but turns aside to the grove
called Pyraea and (with & detour to the shrine of the Fumenides) to Titane, whenee
(12. 2} he returns by another route to Sicyon, 20 as to follow the coast W, past the river
Helisson as far as Aristonautae, the port of Pellens, and the stream Sythas.

Agnin he makes Sicyon his starting-point (12. 3): he goes direct to Phlius (12,
3-13. 8) and Celeae (14). Once more, and for the last time, he tnkes Corinth as his base
(15. 1}, following, with some digressions, the highway to Argos: he touches Cleone,
knows of a short-cut, n mere footpath, but prefers the road over the pass of the Tretus,
He tells of Nemea and the lion’s cave among the mountains, Then resuming the road
to Arges he visits, on its left, the niins of Mycense (15, 4-16. 7; Nos. XXVII, XXVIIL
1), then the Herneum (No. XXIX), then goes direct from Mycenae to Arpos, where
there &8 much for him to ohserve and where he finally ascends the acropolis called
Larise (24. 1-4). He notes the imporitance of Argos os & road centre : one highwsy
into Arcadia (24. 5-7) leads to Tegea, another (25. 1-3) by Oenol and Mt. Artemizius
te Mantinea, still another (25. 4-5) to Lyrcea and Omeae.

Then (25. 6) he proceeds from Argos to the territory of Epidsurus, seeing by the
way various places and in particular the ruins of Tiryns (25.8; Nos. XXVIIL 2, XXX},
Before reaching the city of Epidaurus itself, he lingers (2628, 1; Nos. XXXI, XXXII,
XXXIIL 1}, with grest interest in the local legends, practices, and edifices, at the
sanctuary of Aesculupius. He visits (27, 7) the shrine of Maleatisn Apolls on Me,
Cynortium, and then {28. 2) that of Artemis on Mt Coryphum, then proceeds to
Epidaurus itself (29. 1), the harbour city. He crosses over to the island of Aegina
{20. 2-30. 5}, then returns to the mainland, traversing the territory of Troezen, its
peninsulas and islands (especially Calauria, No, XXXIV), and ending with Asine, on
its S.-W. border (36. 5).

When he lesves Argos for the last time (36. 6) it is in o 5. direction, to visit first
the shores of the Argive Gulf and then the hills to their W. ; from Lerna he turns aside
to follow the coast E. to Temenium and Nauplia, but finally takes a route; the exact
course of which has not yet been identified, first southward slong the cosst and then
westward through the Thyrean plain to the Lacedsemonian border on Mt, Parnon,

The mountsins of this E. part of the Peloponnesus are of o moderate elevation.
and assume & general W.-E. direction, leaving between them various fertile upland
valleys. The alluvial plain of Argos and the coastal terraces of Corinth contributed to
the economic prosperity of these two cities ; Corinth, s controlling the routes which
canverge at the Isthmus from all directions, by sea and by land, would appear the
natural commercial centre of Greece ; but the Isthmian Poseidon was the * Earth-
Shaker,” and down to our own day seismic violence has repeatedly rendered futile the
dﬂmﬂmlnmmhmammmwﬁm

Dnmmﬁh:mmtheﬂmn&n intheﬂmztﬁg:,mc_w. Blf#urind_j A,
xxiv. (1920}, 1-13, 274.
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M&ﬁ?],ltlmtmﬂt.mmmwmﬂm
boundaries meet ; P;uuniuﬁminhﬂ"athiﬂi:mﬂ—mdhadlmﬂuﬁghtm&qle"
{m.7j,buth:remmthnhighﬂnyudmﬁmmmmtbemimuf&nuh,m
Thorax, and to the capital. Sparts is properly assigned a long section (11-18. 5;
No. XXXYV). llthmmumtr:furamiﬂinindiﬂm:ﬁmsﬁm
Amyﬂ.le{]&ﬁ*lg.ﬁ}.whﬂtl&thrmn[ﬁpﬂh,ﬂmﬂﬂkﬂfﬂlﬂlrdﬂtheum
upe:hﬂyinmuhwrgtﬁde(mmturihmhincmmlﬁqm:mmminmspmh
Museum, see E. Fiechter, in Jakrduch des Jusi,, xxxiii. (1918}, 107-245). Another
road to the S.-E. from Sparta leads him to Therapue (19. 7-20. 1), whenee he works
umndinns,vw.dir:cﬁnnputmhemminupninu.sﬁﬂmidmﬁ&d.mﬂm
slopes of Tafgetus. Agﬁn.h:uku{m.ﬂ}nmﬂ.ﬁumSpnﬂnupﬂuEurmsﬂﬂq
pmfthmmdu&:nndmhl;afmwﬁmh:lmmsmfoﬂhehﬂ&mtm&
goes (21. 4) in the opposite direction, down-stream, to the port of Gythium.

Here begins (32. l}mﬂ:uphns:nfhmnh.ﬁurﬂmmﬂu:mi elang
the coast and the ndghhuuringmnunminl—ﬁntmthnE.nfﬁgﬂlh:m.nlnngthe
low shore as far as Acrisc and its hinterland, then about the forbidding cliffs of the
grﬂtEnﬂnmha:ﬁﬂwtmthnﬁn:qftthunmrmgcilmniaiﬁrmhmdh
:pmhqwhﬂiudfﬁnﬂymhﬁ,-&hmﬂin Cape Malea, while the
straight line is taken up by Onugnathus—in his day =& pmmmry.uwanhluﬂ—

lzg.ﬁf.],nnﬁng“t:ap:"Mi:nnl{mwmiilmﬁ},wiﬂ:iunmmu:mm&“nf
early relations with Crete ; then on to Zarax (24. 1) and its back-country and still
furth!rtuBrnﬂu."th:furtbutmﬁﬂrmwnufthethﬂmhnlinthildiucﬁbn"

'F‘m.ﬂy.th:r:isfullu!edthcru:kycmtb:thgw. {24- 6): Las, Arainum, and
other points; the forbidding Cape Tacnarum {25. 4-5) with its cave-temple and in front
of it an image of Poseidon, and #ithimreputndpﬁugttntbtﬁulumu-m
Psusanias does not accept; thmmuptheW.muthmmm,putCm
polis, the Thyrides promontery, Messa, Oetylum with Thalamnae apparently inland,
?qﬁnmanﬂihidmhum,ﬂuﬂnmﬂn.mdﬁn:ﬂyﬂﬂenhwﬁhﬂtﬂnhlhhm
and Alagonia in the interior.

angimufﬂmctmwahuﬂydmmtnﬁﬂduthis: the lofty wall of Tajgetus
l.n:lTnmnnunutendingmﬂghtﬂ.ands.mthew.ﬂde.thlﬁanutHnlimuf
Pnrmmdix:nmﬁnuaﬁumnnthsﬂ_,mdh:treenthmﬂmgudmlmmi&m
mthmrﬂsfmmth:hrﬂdinnuphnﬂslbthtﬂtﬂ!nflh!gum Sparta was mistress
n'l'lduﬂyd:ﬁmdn:rﬁmy,imlnwdbrlnnd.mdmth:mnﬁmufmﬁqnitr.whn
muld.ppr:d-mdupuﬂlnfrb:wind-diﬁdingmputhntgm:d:dﬁemmm
to the gulf, hardly less isolated by sea.

Tbewpugnphruflmnilhufmanﬁuufymfmmddmnpe:ﬂﬁddof
Eum?}dmﬂﬁﬁnhsmmlum; see its Annual, passim, beginning with xi.
1904-5).
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A
. MESSENIA

Dhmhmﬂfwﬂhkmdmlmmnuh&hmrﬁmmhmmmﬂ

Gm;pﬂhl;ﬂitmfnrthiimthalhtindud:diuhiifnmthbmkﬂmﬂrﬁng

uﬂlc:ﬁm[!-:g}dlnulbndiﬁmwhi:hh:dmwﬂhthnwnbd:a,“l-ﬂxhﬂbu[hw

mﬁdth:mnymﬁu’mgsnfduﬂmnhm,mﬂhw.u&dmmhgﬂmmﬂth:

ends of the earth and to lands the farthest from Pdupnnnm,ﬁndlftﬂ-mdihmaht

them safe back to their own land. I must now address myself to o description of the
and ity towns.""

H:wmnI:njrtluE.-E.maufrhi:hndhﬂtrminandrhcthudmglmfml.lj,
Abia (30, 1), and Pharare on the coast, then (3t. 1) Thuria and its region, next Messene
{Nos. XXXVI, XXXVIL 1), Ithome and (33- 4) the road leading N.-E. across the
pluin to Oechalis and Andania, whence he tirns W, towards Cyparissing, Then he
starts again from Messene, following the river Pamisus S.-E, ta its mouth, whence he
follows the coast S.-W. to (34. 2) Corone, Colonides, and Asine, then the headland of
Acritas, and the W, point of Mothone, thence working up the W. const past S
and Pylus (No. XXXVIII) to Cyparissiae and on to the defile of the river Neds, the:
boundary between Messenin and Elis.

As to the natural charms of this region, Pausanias is maore than usually restrnined.
OF the rich Messenian plain, known in antiquity as the Happy Land, where nowadays
the traveller passes, almost as in a tropical r:giun,btwuomnge—grwwﬂ.\'i.nmﬂﬂ
fenced by hedges of huge fantastic cactuses and sword-like aloes, he has nothing more (o
say than that * the Pamlsus flows through tilled land.”

Theﬂumhnmminlmumh&yhutprmtdiiﬁndfmnﬁhdrm:
thm“t&:gﬂmwﬂdmthﬁ.rnﬁ,hmhﬂ:ﬁ.mm
iullhmnden,ﬂm:hu:c&ﬁﬂi:unﬂinﬂufihichumﬁmﬂnmiuﬂu
J\.tmﬂilnuplaﬂi!dominﬂrﬂl&phin,lnﬂth!imlmdﬂL Mauthia to the South.
Th:yﬁnquitelpnrtimmﬂ:r:high:rmgﬂthumckueih:phiuhlgrntbendau
the North and East. The climate is sub-tropical, and Messenia has always been o land
by itself ; at the dawn of history the people proved unequal to asserting with success
their independence agninst Lacedaemon ; in the fifth century B.C. the patriots who still
had dared resort io the arbitrament of arms were exiled and found refuge at Nanpactus ;
in the fourth century it required the might of Thebes to re-estahlizh the Messenians as
a free community in their own land, and the new city, protected by the natural bulwark
of Tthome, was in realify, like Megalopolis und Mantinea, an armed camp set up to hold
Sparta in check.












vl
ELIS

_l."mmu!mm_rmfrum Messenin, crossing the Neda (v. 5. 3), to Samicom on the
coast, and the district of Triphylin with Lepreus in the interior ; he returns to Samicum,
moad for Olympia (6. 1), seeing first on his right the ruins of Samia, and then on his
left those of Scillus (6. 4) ; before reaching the Alpheus, he sees Mt Typacum and
learns its associations (6. 7); then he crosses the storied Alpheus (7. 1), the seven
tributaries of which he enumerates, and reaches Olympia, to which venerable meeting-
place of all Greeks is dedicated the greater part of his ffth and sixth books (Nos,
XNXIX, XL, XLI, XLII. 1); which being accomplished, he discusses (vi. 21. 3-22. 4)
the barder-land between Arcadia and Elis, with Phrixa, Pisa, and their region, Next
he poes N.-W. from Olympia to the dty of Elis, first taking the hill-road by the Elean
Pylus (22, 5), snd then (22. 8) the road through the plain by Letrini ; the capital itself
engapes his attention at some length (23-26. 3; No. XLIL 2}. Then N.-W, to the
coast, to Cyllene, the seaport of the city of Elis (26. 4-5), when he introduces a pari-
graph (26. 6-g) on the fiax which was a special product of the land of Elis; finally
(26, 10) he reaches the Larjsus river, the boundary between Elis and Achaia; *in
olden days Cape Araxus formed the boundary on the coast.”

“ The N.-W. Peloponnese is a long triangular strip of hill country and coastal plain
extending fram Cape Drepanon to Kuparisseia and cut off from the rest of the Pelopon-
nese by the massive limestone mountains that form the W. rib of the mountain system of
Arcadia. To the N. is the mighty mass of Erymanthos, the modern Olonos, which
with its N, extension the Panachaikon reaches the shores of the Corinthinn gulf, where
only a narrow strait divides it from the mountains of Ajtolia. To the 5. again the spurs
of the sacred Mt. Lykaion reach the sea between the Neda and the Aolon, from which
point the limestone mange continues to the 5. promontory of Messenin. Between
Erymanthos and Lykaion the mountain system recedes and gives way toa tableland
of soft tertiary rocks through which the waters of the Alpheios and its tributarics make
their way to the sea along a deep and ever-widening valley.” (E. Norman Ganliner,
Olympds, Its History and Remains, Oxford, 1925, p- 13 utilized also below.)

# Tnstead of the barren, rugged mountains of the interior we see an undulating hill
coumtry of marl, sandstone, snd conglomerate cut into innumerable ravines and valleys
by the streams that flow down from the mountains, and descending in wooded termces
to a flat coasta] plain. . . . Between the hills and the sea stretches a plain of rich,
alluvial soil. . . . The plain is extrnordinarily fertile. . . . The Rivers Peneios and
Alpheics flowing E. and W. divide the land into a series of zones. In the interior

from N. to S. is rendersd difficult, in winter almost impossible, by the deep

and precipitous ravines. The chief lines of communicstion are along the valleys

of these rivers or the coastal plain. This plain faces N. and W., and access to the plain

was not by land but by sea.” In all periods, invasion and commerce have come from
the N. and W. \

The fame of the political centre, Elis, is overshadowed by that aof the Panhellenic
sanctuary, Olympia ; the latter pluce was accessible by sea, by the land cmt—ruﬂl‘tu
N. and 5., and by the routes that converged in the Alpheus valley from Arcadia,

Laconia, and the Argolid.
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VII
ACHAIA

Cosmiss from Elis, Pausanias’s description of Achais begins (vil. 17. 5) at the rver

Larisus which forms the boundary. Next is the city Dyme (17. 5-14), then Olenus

beside the river Pirus; then Patrae, the capiml of the region, and near it the river
men,

the fine flax that grows in Elis ; for they weave it into nets for the hair and dresses ™
such glimpses into the kife of our suthor's contemporaries are all too few, and ocour
chiefly in his later books, The position af Pharae, inland by the river Pierus, occasions
a digression from Patrae whose dependency it was (22. 1-5}, as likewise Tritia (2, 6-0).
Then, sailing from Patme to Aegium (22 10}, he passes Cape Rhium, marking the
uﬂ:nnm.'mthrgu!f.ﬂlmmhu‘palHEnnthecmst,ﬁmﬂrrﬂrhingAngjumfz],ﬁ-u.#:
* yhe Achasan diet still meets at Aegium, just as the Amphictyons meet at Thermopylae
and at Delphi.” Next, continuing eastward along the coast, he passes the river Selinus
and sees the place where the city Helice had once stood until it was overwhelmed by en
earthquake in the year 373 B.C. (24 5-25. 4); this occasions & description of earth-
‘quakes, their precursors and concomitants, 50 precise and scientifically so correct 2s
tn recall with startling vividoess the scismic visitations of our own day.

From this point he turns inland and comes to Cerynea (25. 57) ; again he leaves
the highroad to reach Bura (8, ) ; after which, he proceeds further E. in the direction
of the sea to the river Buraicus and imgmttuw-ithmim.ng:anmuln{m]; the
mouth of the river Crathis (11-13) ; Aegira (26. 1-0), whenee a straight and steep road
led through the mountmins to Phellog (10,1 1). Thenfrom Aegim to Pellene (26, 12-27-8),
theﬂgn:um,mdmuhy-mmufhumhpius,withqﬁnpnfmumh
water in abundance—* rivers descend from the mountains gbove Pellene® ; fnally
f27. :z},“mﬁ:hmdmufhﬂm:ndﬁithnﬁvﬂﬁﬂhﬂ: it is the last river
§n Achaia, and falls into the Sicyonian Sea."”

The lofty, confused mountsin masses of the N. Peloponnesus and their foothills are
duphmudhy-saiﬁu{mmntumptyhginmthzqudgnﬁmmNutt'h,
tndudlafthﬁ:ti!hit:t!luﬁalmmrhuﬂdsupnm]lddhat its mouth. Apart
from such fan-shaped miniature pluins, the strip of fertile coast-land is narrow indeed ;
iti:unlyintheﬁcinityufl’nmmuthe fruits of the earth offer & generous return to
the labours of the husbandman. The interior contains some of the wildest and most

scenery to be found in Greece, but is ill-adapted to large economic or political
developments. Yet the Achaian stock had proud memories dating from before the
coming of the Dorinns, and at the dawn of Greek history they had expelled the lonians
from the Peloponnesus, thus starting them on their brilliant career of colonisation ; and
aguin, in & Iater age, for a short time in the second century B.C., an Achaian League
arose and playuinl:a.diugrﬁlrinmﬂmﬂ.uﬂmimemnﬁmd.lﬁﬂﬂ_ 1f Pausanias
fmd'mldﬂqummpugmphiﬂ]mi[erhlinthilregimmﬂ"!.bouk.hthudnndiﬂiwl‘tj
hdmwinganhfhaimmdiﬁnnmdhhsmry,mﬂinserﬁng:digmminnmmm
which he himeslf knew and loved so well (vii. 1. g-5. 13)—" a land of m-.nyvnnzx
that fall little short of the marvels of Greece itself,” thus constructing &
varied introduction which he might hope would prove acceptable to the reader.
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VIII
ARCADIA

THE plain of Tegea with the valley of Mantinea is given on the detsiled map, No.
XLIX

The peculiarities of this region require our attention before we follow the route of
Pausanias.

Arcadin, the central, least progressive part of the Peloponnesus, is most i
broken up by mountains, except for the S.-E, plain above-mentioned and the 5.-W.
plain of Megalopolis : the contrast between these two is marked. In natural beauty
the plain of Megalopalis is far superior to its eastern neighbour, The latter is a bare,
monotonous flat, onrelieved by trees or rivers, and enclosed by barren mountains ;
only towards its N, end do the mountaing rise in grander masses and with more pic-
turesque outlines. The plain of Megalopolis, on the other hand, is surrounded by
mountaing of fine and varied outlines, some of the slopes of which are clothed with
wood ; and the surface of the plain itself is diversified with copses and undulating downs
and hillocks, refreshied by numerous sireams shaded with plane-trees, and watered by
the broad, though shallow, stream of the Alpheus winding through its midst. The
scenery, in contrast to that of the E. plain, is eminently bright, smiling, and cheerful.

Arcadia is the only historically important part of Greece which is remote from the
sea @ it is not, however, excessively remote, for the view from the hillside ahove Bassas,
in the 5.-W. comner of this area, includes to 5.-W. a considerable stretch of the Tonian
gea. The Greeks considered the Arcadians an indigenous stock ; and the Arcadian
is one of the oldest of the Greek dialects.

To devise a topographical description of the scattered towns and hamlets of this
region must have sorely taxed the ingenuoity of Pausanias ; but he is not unsuccessful
in pursuing the thread of his narmative, which in Arcadin is almost constantly diversified
with the mention of mountains, springs, and rivers, or rather torrents.

From Mantinea (see No. XLIX) he goes W. to Methydrium (viii. 12. 2-4) and also
N.-W. to Orchomenns (12, 5-13. 4), then by one route to Caphya (13. 4), again by two
moutes to Stymphalus (13. 5; Lattermann and v, Gértringen, in k. Mk, =1 (1015),
71-g0) and Pheneus (13. 6-15. 4) respectively. From Pheneus he knows of several
routes to the boundary of its territory with Achain; and he discosses several of
the mountains to E. and N.-E. in this region—Geronteum, Tricrena (16, 1), Sepia
(16, 2), Cyllene (17. 1-4) and Chelydorea (17. 5), the last two with their jati
with Hermes. Again, he goes W. from Phencus to Clitor (17. 6), and, alternatively
N. to Nonacris, the water of the Styx, and the Aroanian mountains (17. 6, 18. 1-7), 2
Lusi (18, 7 £). Next he takes up the Cynaethaens, whose city was N.-W, of Lus
{19. 1:3), and the more southerly road from Pheneus by way of Lycuria to Clitor (£9. 4).
From Lycuria he takes us to the springs of the Ladon (20), and thence to Clitor (21}
?ﬂhmx?\lrg;llm}m Stymphalus and its territory (22), proceeding 5. to Alea (23. 1}

o, XX . 3

This circuit brings Pansanias back to Orchomenus and its region (23. 2-5), whence
he proceeds by Caphya to Condyles (23. 6 £.), Nasi (8), the passage of the ver Ladon,
.Argag:.hu. Lycuntes, and Scotane, the oak forest of Soron, Paus, and Sirae, eventusliy
reaching Psophis (24) on the Aroanius, just above its confluence with the Erymanthus.
From this point we can only coumerate the chief places which he tonches : Tropes 08
the left of the Ladon ; the oak forest of Aphrodisium ; Thelpusa ; the lower course of
the Ladon, as far as its confluence with the Alpheus ; Heraea and the Alphens (26. 1 £);
the crossing of that stream; Aliphers (26. 5-7); then the road from Herses past
Melaenae and Buphagium to Megalopolis (27). Next, a route from the sources of the
Buphagus past Gortys, with a digression to Thisoa and Tenthis, to Megalopolis (25)-
Enuhzcml_lu thtﬁ_.lpheultnﬁnitmﬂﬁnm[ﬂ,thmhtmm Megalopalis,
notices the river Helisson which flows the city, then takes up Megalopolis in
detail (30. 2-33; Nos. XLIV, XLV. 1, XLVI). The mountains of S.-W. Arcadis
with their various towns and sanctuaries next claim his attention (34-42) ; after which
he goes eastwards by Pallantium (43) to the plain of Tegea (No. XLIX), :
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IX
BOEOTIA

PAUSANIAS begins his survey of Boeotia with the roads from Eleutherac and Megam
mPllum.whinhplaanuinedmuchofiumﬂbmhmﬂuhiﬂhdlniﬂmﬂﬂ
searcher for curions antiquarian lore. Thence he journeys on to Thebes, which he
makes the centre for the whole region (see on No. LI}, On finally leaving Thebes
{ix. 25. 4) he proceeds to the sanctuary of the Cabiri, thence to the mountain of the
Sphinx, and Onchestus ; again (26. 6) from the Cabirium to Thespiae and Helicon ;
then he visits Creusis (32. 1), the port of Thespiae, sailing thence coastwise to a point on
the share whence he reaches Thisbe; by further coasting (retracing his course) he
comes to Tipha (32. 4) ; then going inland from Thespiae he reaches Halfartus, Alal-
comenas (33. 5), Coronea with Mt. Laphystius, and over against that eminence he sees
Orchomenus (34. 6), which like Thebes engages his attention at length. Then Lebadea
with its oracle (39, 40. 1-3), and finally, on the Phoclan berder, Chaerones.

The map shows the W.-E. alignment of the yarious mountain-ranges, which are
mostly of moderate elevation ; the alluvial, sometimes water-logged plains ; and the
enclosing nrms of the sea, which, however, did not effectually lay this region open to
wisitors from overseas, s o large part of the coast was unfavourable to navigation or
difficult of access from the interior. The Sphinx Mountain and the Jow ridge to its W.
demark the specifically Thehan sphere of influence from that which naturally
to Orchomenus. The valleys of Cephisus and Asopus are the natural
of Greece it was here thist an invader from the N. might be held in check.

The Athenians affected to disparnge Bocotia and its inhabitants : the air of its
plains, they said, and with justice, was heavy in comparison with their own ; yet few
mﬁm:ufmempdﬁmmhmﬂmmmuwiﬁmpuﬁn-rhgﬂl_kﬂmm
Hippoerene, the Grove and the Valley of the Muses ; the land produced Hesiod and
Pindar, and furnished the legendsand the setting for some of the noblest of Attic tragedy.
Boeotian ceramic art in the archaic period, while exposed to foreign, especially Carin-
thian, infiuence, still has a distinct flavour of its own, Myron's hirthplace, Eleutherne,
was a border town, originally Boeotian but subsequently Attic. The name of Tanagra
suffices o attest n refined taste on the part of the people in the latter part of the fourth
century B.C., but the artistic conventions of the exquisite figurines are Attic.

To the lover of liberty, some of these place-names have poignant associntions @ the
men of Plataes stood by the Athenians at Marathon, and eleven years later saw in their
own land the final discomfiture of the invader. If Thebes played an ignoble rile at the
time of the great invasion, she retrieved herself at Leuctra, where she broke the des-
potism of Sparta, and at Charronea, where side by side with Athens she offered her
best manhood & vain sacrifice for the freedom of Greece.

* There is nothing within the country itself to tempt either the inhabitants to the ses,
or through-traders to the land. Nearly all the way along its coast mountains of hills
slope down 1o the water's edge and shut out the view of the interior, while the plains
nre =0 surrounded by mountsins that from nowhere in Boeotia, except mounisEn-tops
and places actunlly on the coast, is the sea visible.” (Gomme, cited below.) Bﬂﬂ!u‘
the leading cities, * Thebes with the springs of the Dirke and the Ismenos, Orchomenos
with those of the river Melas, had abundant supplics of water. The former is in the
wery centre of the Eastern District, the latter commanded the Kopais. Their early
importsnce . . . was due to lh:i:pnsiﬁnnuth:dﬁ-ermhmlugelmim]tuni
districts ; the later importance of Thebes was due to the same cause ; while the later

ive insignificance of Orchomenus was doe . . . to the flooding of the Kopaic
. « We need not ook for trade-routes.”

A. W. Gomme, in 4. 8. 5 A. xvid. (1o11-13), 18g-210; W, A Heurtley, s&id.
xxvi. (1923-5), 38-45 (showing however intensive relations between the two sides of the
gulf in the Late Helladic 111 period).
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X
PHOCIS

PAUSANIAS enters this district from Boeotia when he proceeds (x. 4. 1) from Charronea
tnPa.nupws—“ncityufPhnci:,i.fcityhmb:uﬂnd that has no government
offices, no gymnasium, no theatre, no market-place, no water conducted to a founmin,
and where the people live in hovels, just like highland shanties, perched on the edpe of
& ravine, Yet its territory is marked off by boundaries from that of its neighbours,
and it even sends members to the Phocian parlizment "—a valusble enumeration of
what he considered the essential attributes of a city.

Next he visits Daulis (4. 7), whence he knows of 2 way up to the top of Parnassus

. {5.1). He returns, however, from Daulis to take the straight route, by the Cleft Way
with its tragic mssociations, to Delphi, which great sanctuary furnishes abundant
material for most of his tenth book (Nos. LIV-LVI). On leaving Delphi (32. 2), he
climbs to the Corycian Cave and sees the peaks of Pamnassus. Then (32. 8) he mentions
Tithorea and its region, with Ledon, and the two routes thither from Delphi. Again
(33. 3) be guides us over Parnassus to Lilaea (No. LVIL 1), Charadra (LVIL 2), and
the valley of the Cephisus, with Amphicles, Tithroninm, and Drymaen; then Elatea
(34), Abae (No. LVIII) and Hyampolis (35. 1-7).

To eover S. Phocis, he makes another cirouit, going (35. 8) from Chaeronea to
Stiris, Ambrosus, and Anticyra, whenee he observes the ruins of Medeon and the town
of Bulis across the bay. From Delphi he visits its port, Cirrha (37. 4-8). At the end
of this, the last of his books so far as we know, is a chapter (38) on the Ozolian Locriane
with their cities Amphissa, Myonia, Oeanthea, and Naupactus, where the sight of a
ruined sanctuary of Aesculapius leads him to tell of the miraculous restoration to sight
which had inspired the gratitude of its pious founder.

The determining ugicnlfnmnfﬂﬁsmgimmth:mmivcmuunmnh:mﬂlﬂf
Parnassus, with its still loftier companion to N.-W.and its less austere continuation to
§.-E.; and thelowerparallel rangesin Dorisand Epicnemidian (Opuntian) Locris tothe N,
Thepurﬁnmnt'pminsnln.thunfmm:diswuhn&m the one side by the Euboean Sea, be-
vond which lics a third parallel mountain-range ; on the other by the Gulf of Corinth,
beyond which are the mountains of the Peloponnesus. Erosion has produced the passes,
stich s that between Parnassus and Cirphis; and alluvinl deposit has created the
vallevs and ploins which once were submerged. The fertile valley of the Cephisus and
the high pass from mod. Grawid to mod. Jfea have always been important routes, and
the possession of Chaeronea, the true type af battlefield below the opening-out of the
pass, has ensured the control of Central Greece to more than one invading host.  Delphi
is a seismic centre ; the religious awe thus inspired was heightened by the majesty of the
landscape ; its position at the W. end of the pass from N.-W. Boeotin near the 5.
oatlet of the pass from Doris and near a deep bay of the Gulf of Corinth, rendered it
peculiarly accessible to all pilgrims from near and far.

Early tin mines have been found in the region of Cirtha (0. Davis, n /. &. 8,
xlix. {1920), 89-05).

In the inscription from the Treasury of the Athenians at Delphi, Foutlfes de Drelphes,
T1l. ii. No, 136, pp. 140-147, recording a delimitation of boundaries hetween ion
the one hand and Ambryssos (ric) and Phlygonion on the other, about the year 140 B.C,,
there has been preserved a topographical document of prime importance : it furnishes
some remarkahly precise information as to natural landmarks in the mountainous region
of Parnassus and Cirphis.
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X1
TEMPLE OF POSEIDON AT SUNIUM

THE discovery, in the neighbourhood, of an inscription ("Apx. ‘Edurpls, 1000, 133 1),
caontaining the text of a decree of the Athenian soldiers stationed at Sunium at the
beginning of the third century 5., which includes the provision that frwes o be carved
on stone and placed in the precinct of Poseidon, has jdentified this edifice as the temple
of that god : such temples to the divinities ruling the sea and the winds are found at
‘many points of importance to mariners along the trade-routes of the Mediterranean
(Dr. E. C. Semple, * The Templed Promontories of the Ancient Mediterranean,” in
The Geographizal Rewiew, xvil. (1927), 352-86). Another sanctunry, set astride the
saddle which connects the point of the promentory with the mainland, has been shown,
by excavation, to contain the foundations of commen stone that once supparted the
sun-dried brick walls of a diminutive archaic temple with two columns in front and the
- base, of Eleusinian stone, for a cult-statue in the cella; while not far distant lie the
considerable remains of the larger, marble structure which replaced it in the latter part
of the fifth century B.c.; probably the Persians in 400 or 480-479 burnt the edifices
then existing in both precinets. Vitruvies (iv. 4), when discussing Jonic temples,
refers to o temple of ** Pallas Minerva ™ ot Sunium, as sharing with * the temple of
Athena on the Acropalis,” se. the Erechtheum, the fame of being the first structures
to be distinguished by the peculiarity that “everything which is usually at the ends is
transferred to the sides ™ ; and the ground-plan of the larger structure at the newly-
discovered site corresponds to his description, as there were columns extending along
two adjacent sides of the exterior of the cella; hence this is the true temple of Athena
Sunies, which stood not “ on the summit of the promontary,” f.e. at the extreme and
highest point of the cape, us one must translate the words of Pausaniss, but on the crest
of the ridge when one came up, as did our author, from the small harbouor to fts W., the
remains of which, thoupgh largely silted up, can still be discerned.

The subject of the present plan, therefore, the famons Doric temple overlooking the
sea, which must always have been a conspicuous landmark, i3 not mentioned by
Pausanins ; unless we find it impossible to believe that this sentinel of the Greek main-
land could have escaped his notice or have appeared unworthy of his mention : in
which case we are forced to imagine either that he was misinformed as to its colt, or that
in preparing his description from memory he assigned the one cult to the spot sacred to
the other.

Recent investigations have thrown light on the fememor of this temple, with its
wotive offerings, including two colossal marble statues of youths (now in Athens) : the
_eolonnades which must have afforded welcome shelter to pilgrims by day and night ;
and the fortification-wall with its towers and gateway on the land side—parts of the
archaic polygonal wall were replaced in isodomic musonry of local marble in g13-412
and at later times; the archaic gatewsy was remodelled in marble when the temple
was rebuilt ; the great round tower to its E. still shows considerable remains of sun-
dried brick. The structure of the temple itself has now been consolidated, and some of
its fallen members replaced. In the plate, the local soft limestone, or poras, is brown ;
the characteristic dull white marble, quarried on the neighbouring mountains, is white,
bt the standing columns and anva are blark, Some of the metopes of the Doric frieze
of the prowsos have been placed near the N.-E. corner of the foundations. In the front
terrace are incorporated some porer drums of the archaic temple ; and in fact most of
the foundations, of peras, belong to the earlier edifice. The marhle structure is assigned
o é&. 423471 BC,

Offictal reporis: B. Staes, in 'Apy. ‘Bgmurpls, 1000, 113-150; A. K. Orlandos, in
“Apx. Adkrior, i. (1915), 1-27; B. Staes and A, K. Orlandos, in ‘Apx. ‘B¢, 1917, 168-235.
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XII
THE PIRAEUS

Fmtimhuﬂmnfﬁnﬂmrgr.theanﬁmPhﬂmtheuﬂiuhuhmnEm,
ﬂthemlpu{MndmAzhm;lndinnghhundmudﬂh.XK].
Thegmmrpmufﬁﬁsmiatmdaymﬁadbyamﬂndmnﬁddzﬂy;ﬁr
lmnfanﬂq':r.itjri.tmbnieeninphuthmishdimdnnth:ﬂm.budnnfwma
observations,
Pi:m:sia:mdy;:mimh'hi:hmahmtbemﬁnmﬂ.-ﬁtus.-w.fnrm
24 miles, Ithmpmedafhulimﬁmmuchmllmﬁeﬁdr.mﬂ:ﬁhyl
somewhat low and narrow ridge or isthmus. That to the 5.-W., anciently known as the
A:tr,risugmdua]ljnnnﬂﬂ'dumnh!ighmflﬂ;ﬁ;: the N-E. mass attains a height
of 280 ft. in the steep Munychia. Geologically, and in the belief of the ancients, it was
once an island : ilisjuhm&tuthnmtinlmdbyamuchaflw.mpygmaﬂ,
It includes three harbours, namely, the great harbour of Piracos, technically known
a3 the Cantharus, on the N.-W. (it had a N. appendage, the Kaphdr Limén, or Deaf
Hubm::},mdth:twnnwlyu’rndnrhubuunufznmaudﬂnnychin,mthes.vﬂ.
side of the peninsula. It was Themistocles, in his archonship, 493-492 B.c., who induced
the Athenians to fortify it; hence the appropriateness in bringing his remains for
burial by the entrance to the great harbour, The fortifications were destroyed by the
I.lcedaemotdnmatﬂuendufd!e?elupﬂnnﬁian“’uiumltﬂbutmmﬂmdm
ten years later, Sulls razed them, and burnt the arsenal and the docks ; the walls wers
nmrnhuﬂt;th:dnch,huwewr,mrm.mdathnmmmmmjnydl
considerable revival under the empire.
'Tht:En:ufthzfmﬁﬁnﬁmnmqutillhztmmdumundthnmump.ﬂofﬂuﬂ-
ward side of the peninsula; in the landward portion, the building activity of the past
twenty years has largely obliterated theline which formerly was notdifficult tofollow, The
lﬂ.*ﬂﬂruusllungthl:ahl:m:nldimxuﬂfﬁstntp&ﬁumtb:mmfuuldmdj
dﬂunm:ﬁdyﬂmmwﬁhtﬁ:mmmvmumyfmhrhgingﬁ:p
engines into play. It is from 10 to nearly 12 ft. thick, and is very carefolly built of
blocks of the native limestone without mortar ; the quarries may be seen at many
points both behind and in front of the wall, Towers, ca. 20 ft. long, project some 13
to 2o ft. from the curtain at intervals of ca. §5-66 yards. The mouths of the three harbours
were contracted by moles which mn out to meet each other on either side. The harbour
Hmchlu,th:maﬂuluﬂhcthru.nﬁnhmﬁlmemﬂyhndmﬁuedﬁulc&mﬂm
mudnnmunfmudrmlife.hubmpmunzddurdimufanﬁquﬂy. Originally it
mlmeupcubn}-,nndﬂ:aﬁurcitnudgdrmmmtmnﬁmnfmumymmmm
it into a war harbour. mmluuumnﬁdﬁedimmgﬂumtmgrﬂﬁrmtrpnd*
mens of ancient Greek fortification which have survived ; each mole terminated in a
tower, hﬁmﬂnfﬁlﬂﬂﬂcﬂnhufthehnrbmr-mnthsmuidbechﬂdt&hlﬂﬂh
Th:mnpgivﬂthrmmnfth:fmﬁﬁuﬁum;&d:rdaﬁnnmﬂmlmgwdh
which united Piraeus to Athens; and the arrangement of the ship-sheds—one of the
glories of Athens—which have been traced about the edges of the two smaller har-
bours ; lhnthehﬁﬁunufvnﬂmhm]diugnhﬂmﬁumumiﬂmﬁmﬂumthm;
Ih:;:n-phn,hyl-{ippndnmmufﬂﬂem. was 8 famous creation ufr]ml"u-idmﬁ
0 certain vestiges have been found of the t arsenal, & necessary adjunct to
ship-sheds of the navy, which was designed cf;:}'-_ué B.C. by the architect Philo to
replace an older structure, bug fortunately the directions given its contractors have
been preserved, engraved on a slab of marble not far from the N.-E. side of the harbour
of Zea, at the foot of the hill of Munychia (/. &. . 1054 ;= Dittenherger, Sp/l. fuscr.
Gr., ed. 3, 069); ﬂkahﬂn'aumlfmmmdmhundnﬁmbm:rpﬂhpsthm
lﬂraﬂlﬂbﬂﬂdinxnfmnimtﬂrm,rhmghmlmdithnbﬂn{uund; it
m'lh‘:em by Sulla in 86 5.C,
mﬂ'ﬂ:ﬂlﬁtﬂl-tm'eonth:hubouniadtdhyDr.J.Dn!,inhi:utirjgm
.ﬂ‘ KM Limdn in Jf A, xxxi,, 1937, 441-9.
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XIII
PLAN OF DIPYLUM AND STREET OF TOMBES

RECENT campaigns have vastly extended the ares of these excavations and have also
altered their appearance by disclosing the lower strata where previous investigators had
stopped at a high level ; but the very complexity of the new material precludes adequate
Presentation in so narrow a compass, and the indications given on our old plan are in
themselves as valuable as ever,

Coming by the main highway from Piraeus, Pausanias (i, 2. 2) sees some of the private
graves by the way, including one * not far from the gate . . . . surmounted by a warrior
standing by a horse ; who he is 1 know not, but both horse and wardor are by Praxi-
teles" It is clear that he enters by the Dipylum Gate : within it he sees the
and other edifices, then he follows the colonnades extending from the gate to the (inner)
Ceramicns. His ronte within the walls terminates (i. 29. 1) near the Arcopagus; he
then takes up the way (from the Dipylum) to the Academy, of which centre of learning
he drily observes that it was ** ance the property of a private individual, but in my time a
gymoasium.” On the way to the Academy he discusses in particolar the great state
eemetery which extended from the Dipylum in that direction. His description of this,
the national burying-ground of Athens—in his day doubtless still showing traces of the
havoc wrought by Sulla— is little more than a bare Hst of the names on the mopuments,
but there almost every nume was a history full of proud or mournful memories : the
annals of Athens were written on these stones (A. v. Domaszewski, Der Sroatsfriedhaf
der Athener, Heidelberg Sitsumgrber_, 1017, 5. AbL),

To return to our plan : it shows the dooble line of walls (the inner line between the
Ewo gates is the restoration of Conon, 303 8.c., while the outer line is to be nssigned,
together with the great Dipylum Gate itself, to the period of the orator Lycurgus,
338 f.8.c)); the Dipylum Gatr, through which passed the regulnr traffic frem Pinieos |
the small Sacred Gate, serving for the Sacred Way to Eleusis, which at its start ran
parallel to the canalised stream Eridanus, then crossed to its right on a bridge, and was
soon crossed in its tumn by the Piroens Road, which after starting from the Dipylum
must have made a great curve townrds 5.-W. The remains of various periods of fortifi-
cation 2t the Sacred Gate and to jts N.-W. are extremely complicated, but the con-
structions of both Themistocles and Conon can be identified.

Om our plan are represented, first, a small section of & public cemetery for the allies
of Athens, where were buried between 450 and 450 5.c. Pythaporas of Selymbria and
. 375 B.C. Themsander and Simyles of Corcyra, representatives of their several dities
who were uccorded state burial by the Athenians ; and then a systcmatically planned
area of family lots, in which the burials with richly-adormned monuments range from the
first decade of the fourth century 8.c. (the stone of Dexileos was one of the first) to the
sumptuary edict of Demetrius of Phalerum (317-316 B.c.), after which severe simplicity
was the rule.

than those on the N. side; and in general the elai were intended o be seen at a
distinct angle from below. The burials took place in the interior of each lot; while
mmphhﬁﬁdlmﬁemﬂmzﬁmm@hg—mﬂlmﬁimm
same inscribed, commemotating the various members of the family or, as in the case of
Sirens or dogs, having a more general significance. The wayfarer on the Piracus Road
saw a constantly shifting series of terraces, one behind the other. Rarely have the dead
been laid to rest with such dignified restruint in the expression of grief, or with such
tﬂdulugxuﬁmufﬂwmﬁnnitg.inmmlhndey.dhumﬂinm_

'ﬂuflm:ﬂlhmlﬂf the Pompeam, W, of the Dvipyium, which Pavsanias sw, wers
.lﬂlﬂrmrthﬂdm[:ﬁmu:hm.uminaufﬂzmmmufth:mfym
m!lf-ulﬂdhhwﬂ!#hrehcmfwndmmhofduﬁub-ﬂmpﬂini

A Brﬁl:kn-:-_-r. Derﬁ'ri:d_'gmj am Eridames, Bedin 1909 ; in Athen, Miitk, i, (1926),
:ﬁ.i;i sod in Gmomeom, iii. (1927), 736-0. K. Kabler, in ek, Mirek. bim. (1oa8),
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XIv
ANCIENT ATHENS

OuR auther's account of Athens itzelf pursues on the whole a topographical order, at
least if we are to accept Dr. W. Darpfeld's views as to the Enneacrunus passage ; for
the rest of Attics Pausanins follows several categories, namely demes, mountains, and
islands, until with hi= description of the Sacred Way which led from Athens to Elensis
he once and for all grasps firmly the topographical thread. He enters Athens at the
N.-W. corner, by the Pirseus highway and the Dipylon Gate ; he comes to the Market-
place and its neighbourhood, and eventually passes to E. and S. of the Acropalis, which
be ascends from the W. end ; he leaves it by the same gateway, proceeds northwirds,
and finally passes out of the city walls st the same point by which he had entered ; then
b sees the great burial-ground of the Athenisn state, lying to the E. of the private

wylrdxun\rhich had attracted his attention ss he was approaching from Pirncus

o, -

The plan shows the city walls of the classical period, with their extension to the E.
under Hadrian, to include & villa suburb; also the fortifications of the Acropolis,
which were restored in the fifth century B.C. after the departure of the Persians; of the
prehistoric walls of the hill considerable stretches are still to be seen. The ** wheel-
shaped " city of the omcle quoted by Herodotus (vl 140) was an intermediate phase ;
Thucydides (ii. 15. 3) says that the city which preceded it lay on the Acropolis and
extended in a southerly direction from the citndel.

The striking features of the Athenian landscape are due to geological conditions :
a straturm of hard Emestane rested upon softer layers of marl, clay, and schist ; with the
progress of erosion, only isolated bits of the limestone, in heights increasing from 5.-W,
to N.-E., have been left resting upon the lower strata ; thus were formed the hills of
Piraeus; the group consisting of the Hill of the Nymphs, the Pnyx, and the Hill of
the Muses; the Areopagus; the Acropolis; Lycabetius ; and Anchesmus, The genius
of Plato had arrived at a conclusion essentially the same as that of modern science,
though couched in other language ; he says (Critfar, 112 A) : * The condition of the

lis was different then from now. For one exceedingly rainy might dissolved it
and made it bare, earthquakes too participating in this, and a mighty rain, the third
before Deucalion's destruction ; but formerly, in other times, it extended a5 far as the
Eridanus and the [liszus and embraced within them the Poyx and incloded Mount
Lycabetius which is opposite to the Pnyx, and it was entirely covered with soil and
with few exceptions had = level surface.”
. In antiquity ss now, the supply of water at Athens was scanty except in time of
freshet, and was precious in the eyes of the people. Two of the streams, Eridanus to
N. of the Acropalis and Ilissus to S., appear on the plan ; their fellow, Cephisus, flows
in the lowest part of the plain to the N, (see No. XX]}. Several springs made their way
gut from the lower parts of the limestone cap of the Acropolis and the Poyx ; and in
some regions of the city there were many wells,

The clay of the Cephisus valley and the marbles of the mountains served as material
for Athenian potters, sculptors, and architects ; and the olive groves provided the prizes
for the winners at the festival

‘The bracing but often boisterous winds, and the limpid clarity of the atmosphere,
have always been famous. F i

Athens and Attica, though occupied various communities and princes &
Bmﬁﬁ.mmthlpﬁhﬁmtnlﬁh&tlmmmhﬂmlﬁmuﬂﬂ
the union of the various sections of the district in the first half of the seventh century B.C. ;
Inditmmtunﬁltb:mﬁghmaityrlmynfmmuth:mﬁdlﬂuftb:shm
century that the name of Athens became synonymous with the choicest Greek culture.,
Apart from the coltivation of the olive and the exploitation of the silver mines of
Laurium, the chief wealth was derived from overseas colonies and commerce. The
pre-eminence of Athens in art and letters was largely due to her readiness to accept
with hospitality the talents that were attracted thither from other parts : if not politically,
at least spiritually, she became the capital of the Greek world.

W. Judeich, Topagraphie con Athen (1, von Miller's Hamdbuck, 1. ii. 2), Munich,
1905; C. H. Weller, Athenr and ite Momnments, N.Y., 1913,

30
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(1) PLAN OF OLYMPIEUM

(z2) STRUCTURE AT THE CENTRE OF
THE QUADRANGLE OF HADRIAN'S
GYMNASIUM OR LIBRARY
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XV (1)
FPLAN OF OLYMPIEUM

TrE Olympicum is the spacious artificial platform situated to 5.-E. of the Acropalis.
on the right bank of the llyssus. Of the temple which occupied its centre, Giteen gigantic
Corinthisn columns still stand. The ruined temple agrees with Vitruvins's description
(. 2. § ; wii. praef. 15, 17), having been Corinthian, dipteral, and octostyle.
the roins have been found s number of inscribed bases (f. . @ii. 479-87, 491,-g), which
supparted statues of Hadrian ; Pausanins says the enclosure was full of such statues,

The original sanciuary seems to have been one of the oldest in Athens; remains
attributed to it have been brought to light. An Tonic temple, on & grand scale, was begun
by Pisistratus ; many of its details have been found incorporated in the later foundations
or terrace (G, Welter in Atk Mitth, xxxxvii. (1922), 61-71, pls. vii-x) ; the architects
were Antistates, Callaeschros, Antimachides, and Pormos. The death of Pisistratus
interrupted the work. Ca. 174 B.C., Antiochus IV. Epiphanes undertook to build it
nfresh on o more magnificent scale than ever, employing a Roman architect Cossutius
(he is mentioned in /. . §ii. 561, which was found nearby) ; this strocture too remained
unfinished but evoked great admiration ; Sulla carried off some columms to build the
Capitolium in Rome ; the temple was finally completed by Hadrian. The quality of
the carving of the existing capitals, being superior to corresponding Hadrianic work in
Athens, is considered to indicate that they belong to the part of the temple that was
executed under Antiochus Epiphanes,

The great platform is constructed of massive masonry, and is strengthened with
buttresses ; the exterior wall has been restored in recent years; the unfinished portico
or gateway on the N. side, in a line with the E. end of the temple, appears Hadrianic.

XV ()

STRUCTURE AT THE CENTRE OF THE QUADRANGLE OF
HADRIAN'S GYMNASIUM OR LIBRARY

THE plan appears to have comprised a square open court measuring <2, twenty paces on
the sides and enclosed on each side by a semicircular colonnade. The cloisters surround-
ing this court scem to have been paved throughout with ornamental mosaics, The N.
and 5. colonnades are best preserved ; the one that presumably once stood to E. seems
to have been absorbed by the apse of a church. At the N.-E. corner of the court
there are standing two short pieces of wall which meet at a right angle ; one faces
5., and has an arched doorway, the other faces E.  On the 5. side of the court, in front
of the semicircular colonnade, there is a marble stylobate, and on it stand three columns
and an e=fs of white marble, all supporting their architraves ; these columns and enia

appear to have belonged to the church,
XV (3)

BOHN'S DIAGRAM OF THE HEALTH ATHENA BASIS AND
ADJACENT STONES

B 15 the southernmost column of the E. porch of the Propylaea. D is the Health Athena
pedestal ; its base, of the same shape as the pedestal, is placed with its flat side in
contact with the stylobate of the porch, and its top is exactly on a level with the top of
the stylobate ; the edge of the pedestal actually overlaps and rests on the stylobate.
The two marks on the top show where the feet of the statue stood. The inscription an
the front shows at least one trace (efa for long E) of the intrusion of the Jonic alphabet,
its wording proves that the dedication was made by the Athenians (oot Pericles), The
block F rests on an accumulation of soil at a higher level than the base of the Athena
pedestal, which is bedded on the rock ; the altsr which it supported was probably erected
Inter than the statue. The N. end of the block E fits into the round base of the Athena
pedestal, and its N.-E. corner lies under F; the line of the block E is prolonged to
S.-E. by a groove cut in the rock ; probably E is the remnant of a row of blocks intended
mﬁhmduﬂuwﬂnin-murfrm&:mmﬂmﬁnm:hﬂmhﬂlmitbem
of the Brauronian Artemis.
32
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XVl
KEY TO PLAN OF ACROPOLIS

1. Gate excavated by Beulé, constrocted
in late antiquity, incorporating
most of the elements of the choragic
monument of Nicias, which stood
on the foundation partly indicated
to S5-E. of the Colonnade of Eu-

2.
23. Terrace steps.

24. Fruit-bearing Earth.

25. Cisterns.

26. Temple of Rome and Augustus.
27. Termee or altar (highest point).
28. Modem outwork.

29. Foundations of prehistoric palace.
30. Prehistoric staircase and entrance.,

Recent Publications on the Acropolis ;

31. Erechtheum.

32. Paved terrace.

33. Cuttings in rock.

34 Old temple of Athena (pre-Persian
temple, with prehistoric column-

precinct of Aglaurus,
39. Ancient well-house.
40. Position of great bronre image of

43- Ancient circular orchestra.

44. Two temples of Dionysus.

45. Monument of Thrasyllus,

46, Columns which mppm:tu:l tripods.

5o, Terrace-wall with

tion.
51. Colonnade of Eumenes.
52, Music Hall of Herodes Atticus.
53 Clepsydm spring.
54. Cave of Apollo,
55, Cave.
56. Subterranean winding passage.
57. Cleft in the rock with staircase,
58. Inscribed rock.
59. Votive niches in the rock.
60. Hollows in the rock.
61. Ruined Chapel of the Seraphim.
62. Chapel of St. Simeon.
63. Chapel of St.
64, 65. Remains of ancent walls.
66. Ancient road.

T. Wicgand, Dve archaische Poros-Arcki-

tektur der Akropolis su Athen, text and plates, Leipzig, 1900, O.Jahn and A, Michaclis,
Arx Athenarum, text and atlas, 3vd ed., Bonn, 1901, Kavvadias and Eaweran, H "Ars-
swngh i "Axperidews, Athens, 1907. M, L. D'Ooge, The Acropolis of Athens, N.X.,
1908. G. Dickins and others, Caf. of the Ader. Mureum, 2 vols,, Cambridge, 1912,

1021, M. Schede, Die Burg vow Athen, Berlin, 1922, G. Karo,

auf der

i
Adropolis vom Athen,in Die Antike, iv. (1928), 66-84. E. Buschor, Die Tondacker der

Akrapolis, Berlin, 1929,
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Xvii
PLAN OF PROPYLAEA
(THE DOTTED PORTIONS WERE PROJECTED ONLY)

mmw.ﬁdemmkﬁmeﬁumﬂupugmﬂymmm.m
and here was always, at lesst in historical times, the public entrance, There was, indeed,
& staircase leading down from the N. side to the sanctusry of Aglaurus (38 on plan,
No. XVI); and a little to the E. of this there is » natural rift in the rock in which
mhermmmhlﬂtinthemiddl:agu. But neither of these o wWas
open to the poblic. In addition there is & prehistoric staircase leading down to the
lower town from & point to the E, of the Erechtheum (30 on No. XVI). p
Thcgrmtpoﬂllwashuiltundﬂdmmlmilﬂnntkmuf.?cﬁdm; we are told that
itwuhcgu.niﬂ..g_n-uﬁmt.mﬂmﬂmﬂhﬁwm;hmmm-ﬂ
the Parthenon, among the gloties of Athens ; &-gm:nhd’ﬂ:emnufihz :
expended on its construction have been preserved on inscriptions (7. G. i. 314, 315) 3
the architect was Mnesicles. The partly restored marhle staircase which leads up to it
dates from Roman times and concealed the original ascent, apparently a path winding
up the terraced, rocky slope. The portal itself, magnificently constructed of Pentelic
mll‘hh.mnsimufabmudpeﬂhmfnﬂingafﬂﬂ:mrheﬁ.afw.,withmw
flanking the approach. The central portion contains the portal proper, a wall pierced
by five gradusted openings ; these were closed I?ym-nﬁ“ gates ; the side-posts and

und behind this wall were porticoes ; the outer or W. one has six Doric columns in
front and two rows of Tonic columns (three in each row) in the interior. These Tonic
columns supported the marhle roof which Pausanias admired so much ; it has proved
possible to restore a certmin portion of the marble beams and coffered ceiling. The
central passage, instead of having steps, rises , 50 that chariots could drive up
it; the ruts in which the wheels ran can be seen in the rock. At the inner side
l.'l:n:kjul‘th-.-purﬁm,lﬂighlolﬁnmpﬂud;upmlhefmn'd:gump;ul:l:ﬂ.tp
is ca 1 ft high; the first four are of Pentelic marble, the uppermost is of dark blue
Eleusinian stone, a material which is used very skilfully for such elements in the lower
parts of this building. The middle gateway is without steps, so that chariots could
pass through it. The inner or E. portico is shallower than the W. ane.

To N,mdﬁ.dllihmhmmc“ﬁmuhﬂhnndpmﬁms,indndingﬂu
* chamber containing pictures " mentioned by Pausaniss, and there are clear indica-
thmslhlthcunhil:ﬂiumrlhmmcimhnmwufmmdtnmdﬁyw:bﬂdm
some features in his project ; d\emaﬁnmindnuedﬂnuunthephn,thnughpuﬂn;n
not in all cases justified, still are intended to suggest what he may have had in mind, &
truly magnificent group of reoms which would have entailed serious sacrifices on the
part of the neighbouring sanctuaries. But the outhreak of the Peloponnesian War must
have put & stop to such undertakings.

As the plan indicates, there are considernble remains of the earfier stute of the W.
entrance to the Acropolis ; & well-preserved stretch of the Pelasgic wall, partly masked
bjthE.wingquh:Pmpyhu; and at its N.-E. termination & portion of the com-
paratively simple gete which was damaged by the Persians and then restored after their
dcpumremuﬂedmingsnmrfmtgj':mnf.ﬂ ian prosperity ; the cuttings in the
rnckthnmbenminth:cmﬁﬂnpmh:gnIMGruumpyhnhmhﬂn'iﬂuh
line of this earlier entrance.

gchf' Weller, in 4. /. 4. viii. (1904), 3570. W. B. Diinsmoor, hid. xiv. (1910,
143-1
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XVIII
(1) PLAN OF THE PARTHENON

(z2) PLAN OF THE ERECHTHEUM AND
THE TEMPLE DESTROYED BY THE
PERSIANS
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XVIII (1)
PLAN OF THE PARTHENON

TrE Periclean Parthenon, designed by Ictinus and Callicrates, the most famous and
beautiful of all existing Greek temples, is entirely built, from its steps up, of white
Pentelic marble. Tts dimensions are exceptional, 250 x 105 ft., its order Dorie, its
plan, here given in cross-hatching, is peripteral octastyle, and includes a second porch
of six columns st each end, a two-storied colonnade around three sides of the cella, with
the hase for the great gold and ivory statue of the goddess, and at the back, an additional
room, with its roof supported by four lonic columns. The sculptored decoration (now
mostly in London) was the richest of any Greek temple ; it comprised all the metopes of
the Doric irieze, both the pediments, and an Tonic fricee running about the exterior of
the cella ; not to mention the Lions” head 5 and other adornment of the eaves
and roof. The workmanship is exquisite, materinl of a wonderfully rich texture
which takes o mellow golden tint with weathering—thus partly compensating for the
Yoss of coloaring in details,—the curves and other subtleties in design and execution
contribute to an aesthetic effectof great refinement combined with strength. The structure
is now undergoing a partial restoration.

A. H. Smith, The Seulptures of the Parthenon, text and plates, Brit. Mus., London,
1g10. M. Collignen, Le Partiénen, Paris, 1912 (smaller ed_, Paris, 1014). Brit. Mus,,
A Short Guide to the Senlptures of the Parthenon, London, 1921,

For the history of the Parthenon before the Periclean age, the fundamental dis-
cussion is by Dr. B, H. Hill, in A. /. 4. xvi. (1512), 535-558. The pores substructure of
the earlicr temple is indicated on the plan, partly by conjecture, in faint outline ; it is
about 12 ft. longer than would be needed for the later building, and ca. 6 ft. narrower ;
it would have been adapted to a peristyle of 6 x 15 poror columns of large dimensions,
and its inception is to be assigned to the young Athenian democracy under Clisthenes.
Probably in the time of patriotic fervour after Marsthon, it was decided to make the
superstructure slightly smaller, but of marble ; thus when the Persians occupied Athens
in 480-479 B.C. it had the two peres steps which are still én sifw, and above them three
more—a lower step of Xard stone, set in from the edge, o middle step of marble, and a
stylobate of marble, which was planned to support 6 = 16 marble columins ; one or two
drums of these, and the markble wall-base of the celfs, had been put in place when the
Persians burnt the scafiolding and thus parily calcined these members. The old founda-
tion, end many blocks of marble already used or prepared for the structure, were adapted
for the Periclean Parthenon. That a still eardier temple, of large size, had alrcady
occupied the same site has been suggested by Prof. H. Schrader, in_Jakrb. J. Just.,
=hii. (1928), 54-89, on the grounds of certain fragments,

XVIII (2)

PLAN OF THE ERECHTHEUM AND THE TEMPLE DESTROYED
. BY THE PERSIANS

Fou the former temple, see No. XIX. Toits S. are the foundations of a large temple,
the restored plan of which is given in black. This building itself falls into two periods
as regards both foundation and superstructure ; extensive fragments of the latter are
in the two Acropolis museums, A structure of the first half of the sixth century 5. with
M&mldﬁmmlmmﬂmdm,ﬁm“mmﬂnh
the roof portions, and with perer pediment groups, was remodelled under the Pisistratids
hyﬂuaddmnnofm:ndm&ngmhqmd:ufpm:mppmudm:nﬁnhnt:nffw
stane ; mubkmuudfnrthcpedimmgwujptmu,mzmrmpu,andthcmmiu,

42



1108 B 35 w5 B B £ 5 e
PLAN OF THE PARTHENON

F' TEMPLE OF ATHEMA DESTROYED BY PERSIANS

) & & & & & 9 & & & 9

FLAN OF THE ERECHTHEUM AND THE TEMPFLE DESTROYED
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XIX
GROUND PLAN OF ERECHTHEUM (EXISTING REMAINS)

Tnxtmplewhinhwuﬂtthmhthnm,Mghﬂmmdmhp&ﬂnpruhﬁdﬂﬁt
name to the W. half, was a double temple containing a shrine of Athena Polias and
shrine of Erechtheus. Homer (04, vii. 78-81) says that Athena * went into the stout
house of Erechtheus,” as if it were the royal palace ; and in ancther passage (/7. &
549-551) he mentions that Erechtheus was warshipped in the temple of Athena, as
that were her home. The date of composition of the latter passape is questionabla—
probably the sixth century 5.c.; butin any case it is evidence for the belief in the presence
ul'-lnnpleuf&ﬂ:mnwiﬂ:pmvﬁnn{wthenﬂtnfEmbﬂmmnuchndltuw
r:lﬂ:rlime,nhmﬂdiﬂgeuﬂiulhanth:mﬂ}*fmufﬂu"TﬂnpltDcsﬂnyﬂihyﬂ!
Persians " (No. XVIIL 2}, the foundations of which lie o the S. of the present Erech-
theum : lndtnfaﬂth:mmrefminbmhnmnmdinuﬁpﬁmwhﬁdlmbe
taken to refer to such a predecessor of the present structure. Various remains or traces
of walls among the foundations of the building may also be assigned to an early structure,
theupmpnmuc"hithwmldpmhaﬂth:bemurmn-dd:dhd:kandwmd. The
nhﬁnndmrjutempkmﬂuhrguﬁ:ﬂ&-mutmyedﬁulﬁngmiusqmdthm
Prrh.ﬁunuflhnlitemyudtpigznplﬁmlhidmng:tﬂlfotmthemhjutuf:lnﬂgﬂy
controversy.

Th:fmmntftheprmtEmhthmmhpcruﬁulndindudunique, The templa is
of the lonic order, and is built of Pentelic marble except for the frieze, which ran roand
the building above the architrave, and had a ground of dark Eleusinian stone to which
the marble fipures were attached, The main structure is a quadrangle ; at the W, end
d’th:N.m'uieith.dlspuimpnrch.withnizlunicmlmminﬁuntmdmhhind
each of the comer columns, At the W. end of the S. side of the temple there was the.
smaller parch with the six sculptured Maidens. The W. front of the temple consists in
its lower portion of & solid wall; above that it originally contained four Tomie half-
columns on the exterior, with corresponding pilasters on the interior, while between
Mthnemtphnsﬂidnﬂ-mmmnmhhzight.mdabwe that, in four of
the intercolumniations, spnces closed by joiner's wark ; the present arrangement is due
10 & restoration which took place probably toward the end of the first century 8.¢. The

had four doors, TI:eS.lndE,:Eduufthetcmplusmndunnhigh:rlﬂd
by ca. g fu. than its N. and W, sides ; a flight of twelve marble stairs descended
Ihnnntsideu{th:}i.nlltnihetud:yphtmuunwhichth:N,porchisbuikL

While much remains of the exterior, very little is left of the ancient interior. It
appears to have been divided into thres chambers, E., Central, and W., of which the E,
and Central ones were about equal, but the W. was much smaller ; the E. one was at a
higher level, and was entered through the E, pottico ; it was divided from the central
l:lumlxrhylnm-nﬂ.whihth:cmuﬂ:hamhuwnupumtedﬁmnthcw.bjl
screen-wall ten courses high.  The large cistern in the W. chamber s post-classical in
date ; :ndthcmmypmﬂiufmtmunfthh;mtufth:huﬂdmgmmlybemﬁm
here ; thrydm:hﬂeﬂhﬂemduwithmhpmrﬁmnnd'ucnﬁcmibywwimﬂy
existing arrangements.

Pausanias first describes the * Erechth "' by which be may have designated, not
I.b:!hﬁle,butlpaﬂufﬂultmpln; mﬂncdm,n'l;:ddn{bnthﬁshﬁn:ﬂfﬁthtm?uﬁu;
and third, he mentions the temple of Pandrosus, which adjoined the Erechtheum, and
ﬂtelhudfnf&rmnidzmcﬂlrddnrpiwﬁ,w‘hichmmtfufmmit. While many
details of identification are still elusive, our understanding and reconstruction of the
‘Ihnhhuﬂdingﬂcdvemiﬂmufmmaducmmurym: for & mass of detafled
hdum:imuualhntdiﬁuismnmhedinthzbuiﬂingimuipﬁnu; so that we know,
q--?hemunfﬂmhparhmet:mmﬂfthzmnuﬁinmuu‘nymu.rh:umsuf
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XX
MODERN ATHENS AND ITS NEIGHROURHOOD

SoMme features of this landscape have been discussed at Nos. 1T, X1, and XIV. Other
essential matters were well presented by Weller, Aékens and Fir Monamenis, 13-19.

*“ The city of Athens lies in the midst of an irregular and undulating plain, which
extends from the northeast southwestwards to the Saronic Gulf and is, roughly speaking,
about 15 miles long by 10 miles wide. On three sides the plain is hemmed in by moun-
tmins, whose foothills extend far out into the central area. The mnge of Parnes is the
highest (4631 ft.} and longest, extending westward into Mt. Cithaeron and eastward
nearly to Mt. Pentelicus. High up in Parnes is the fort of Phyle, where Thrasybuolus
assembled the little band that wes to terminate the Thirty's tyranny, The naked ridga
of Harma was clearly visible to the Pythian priests at Athens, watching for the lighmings
over its summit to tell them of the time to send sacrifices to Delphi. Farther east is
Decelen, whence at the end of the Peloponnesian War the Spartans spied upon the city.”

“ N.-E. of Athens is the pyramidal peak {3637 ft.) of Mt. Pentelicus, or Brilessus ;
white scars in its side mark the site of the modern marhle quarries, which are not far
from the ancient. The summit of the mountain is about 113 miles, in a direct line, from
the Acropalis. Hymettus (3360 ft.) is the elongated mountain on the eastern borders of
the plain. Its sides are scored with deep and mpped ravines ; the Southern and lower
third, cut off by o high pass, is the Anhydros or Waterless Hymettus. Even more than
for its marble was the mountsin famous for its bees, which gathered honey, as they do
to-day, from the wild thyme and savory and other fragrant herbs growing on its rogged
slopes.  Butits most wonderful feature is the glow cast over it by the setting sun; furfureas
calles florentis Hymetti the poet Ovid called the deep-tinted heights, Marking the W
border of the plain are the lower summits (1535 ft.) of Mt. Aegaléus, or

Corydallus,
which divides the Atheniun from the Eleusinian plain. Aegaleus is really a spur of

Parnes and is joined to it by the low rdge (564 fr.), over which the milrosd to the
Peloponnesus now passes. In Acgaleus, almost directly west of Athens, is a low pass
(416 ft.) where now is the mediaeval monastery of Daphni; here in antiquity ran the
Sacred Way which led to the mystic close st Fleusis. In the middle of the pli i
another low range, the ancient Anchesmus, which terminates abruptly at the south end
in the conical hill of Lycabettus (912 ft.), at the northern edge of modern as of ancient
Athens; it is now crowned by the little chapel of St. George.”

* The arid, calcareous soil of the Athenian plain produces little vegetation save olive
lmlﬁghtﬁ.ﬂmughbfhﬁg:ﬁmmnsidﬂihhmmhdngmdﬂmdfnrm
and gurdens, Thucydides and other ancient writers mention the thinness of the soil,
which, except along the Cephissus, in many places barely hides the rock beneath. The
upper slopes of the mountains support the holm oak and a variety of shrubs, but the
lower declivities and the strip of plain adjoining have forests, which are subject to
destructive fires.  Athens itself contains few trees, except those planted in the parks;
apparently in antiquity it was not much better off in this Tespect, though we read of
planes and other trees in the Agora and the parks and along the Iissus.*
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XX1
MARATHON

For the location of the town of Marathon, see on No. IL  Mamthon was a member
of an ancient Tetrapolis, comprising Marathon, Oenoé, Probalinthus, and Tricorythus
or Tricorynthus; for purposes of religion this league survived into classical times
{I. . ii. 1324 =Dittenberger, Spll. faser. Gr,, 3rd ed., 930).

The plain of Marathon, the scene of the memorable defeat of the Persians by the
Athenians in 400 B.C. (in Cambr, Ane, Hist. iv. 233, 245, it is proposed to take 491 &3
the date), is o crescent-shaped stretch of flat land extending round the shore of &
spacious hay and bounded on the landward side by a semicircle of steep mountaing,
with bare rocky sides, which rise abruptly from the pluin, To N.-E. the plain is ter-
minated by the narrow rocky promontory of Cynosura running S, farinto the sea ; t0 8,
by Mt Agrieliki, 8 spur of Pentelicus, leaving only a narrow strip of flat land between
it and the sea, where there runs the only carriage road to this region from Athens. The
length of the plain from N-E. to §.-W. is ca. 6 miles ; its breadth varies from 1§ to 2}
miles, The shore is a shelving, sandy beach. A great swamp, divided from the sea by
& narrow strip of sandy beach, occupies most of the N. end of the plain ; it is decpest at
ts W, side, where it is fed by powerful subterranean sources, the Macaria of the ancients.
Half-way up the slope of the hill above Kuats-Souls there are some shallow, niche-like
excavations in the rock, perhaps ** the mangers of the horses of Artaphernes " mentioned
by Pausanias, The salt lake of Drakomera—where sea fish are caught—has perhaps
been formed since Pausaniac’s time, as he does not mention it; it dischurges itself into
the sea by a stream close to Cynosur, There is s much smaller swamp called Fresia
between the sen and Mt Ajpriefi:.

The famous mound, now called Serdr, which covers the remains of the 152 Athenians
who fell in the battle, rises from the plain a mile from the foot of the hills, } mile from the
sea, and ¢z, § mile N. of the marsh of Freasro; it is conical, ¢a. 30 ft. high and 200 paces
in dreumference.  The Gresk excavations of 1890-1591 (objects in the Athens Museum)
disclosed, st a depth of o ft. below the present surface of the plain, an artificial fivor, con-
structed of sand and other materials, ca. 85 ft. long and 20 ft. broad. On this floor there
rested a layer ca. T to 4 in. thick, composed of ashes, charcoal, and human bones, charred
by fire ; mixed with these were ca. thirty earthenware Jekythor, most of them broken in
pieces, and some other vases. A sacrificial pit or trench ca. 3o ft. long and 3 ft. wide,
cnsed, and originally roofed, with burnt (?) bricks, extended diagonally under the mound
from N. to 5. ; it contained broken vases, and the bones of the victims sacrificed to the
hernic dead after the pyre had died down and before the mound was heaped over their
remains. There also seemed to be some traces of sacrifices that were (periodically #)
offered at the mound after it had been erected.

Scattered nbout the plain and in the glens which open off it there are remains of
ancient buildings, collectively considerable though individually insignificant.

It is needless to tell again the story of the famous battle. As to the positions of the
hostile armies, all that may be regarded as certwin or fairly probable is that the Persians
were posted to the M. nnd the Athenians to the 5., and that many of the defeated
Persians were driven into the great swamp at the N. end of the plain. 1t is further
reasonshle to suppose that the great mound was erected on the spot where the fight had
been hottest and where the Athenians had suffered most severely.
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XX11
PLAN OF TEMPLES AT RHAMNUS

THE terrace on which are the remzins of the two temples of Nemesis (i 33. 2-5) and
Themis is situated at the head of a deep, narmow, woody glen, about § mile long, which
descends rapidly in a N.-E. direction to the seashore. The terrace is 150 fi. wide and
faces the sea. The two walls, which support it at right angles to each other, are beauti-
fully constructed of large blocks of white marble, laid in horizontal courses, but not
jointed vertically. The temples stand nearly in the middle of the terrace, side by side,
but not quite paralle] to each other. The larger temple and the walls of the smaller one
—as well as the terrace walls, and the fortifications on the hill by the sea,—were built
of & fine white marble which was quarried close by ; ce. 20 yards away the marks of
the quarrying tools can still be seen on the rock. The larger temple measures 71 x 33
fi. on the stylobate ; it is Doric, and its outer columns are unfluted except for & very
small distance at the top and bottom, which seems to show that it was never finished ;
those in the promaor have eleven flutes in front and nine planes behind, Al the members
of the cornice were painted or gilt ; among the patterns introduced were the Jotus and
maeander ; on the less exposed portions the incised outline still remains. There are
sufficient pieces of every part of the superstructure lying about to allow of a complete
reconstruction, including roof and ceiling. From its style the temple appears to have
been built about the middle of the fifth century B.C. ; that it was the sanctuary of Nemesis
is proved by o dedicatory inscription to that divinity (/. G. iii. 811) which was found in it,
and is confirmed by the discovery in the temple of fragments of the sculptures described
by Pausanias (now in the Athens Museum).

The smaller temple, 35 % 21 ft., is Doric i entir; the walls, still standing toa
height of 6 to g ft., are built of white marble hewn in large polygonal blocks, fitted
mgttbﬁwiththﬁniuﬁtptdﬂmmdpﬂhhﬁnndﬁ:mlumfm,mﬂn
columns and all the architectural ornaments are of common stone ; the edifice i= clearly
archaic in date. Tn the gromaor stood two marble seats, one on each side of the doorway ;
in the celfa were three statues with their pedestals ; inscriptions on some of these
identify the divinity as Themis ; these objects are now in the Athens museum ; their
dates range from the fifth to the second century B.C. or later.
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XXIn
SANCTUARY OF AMPHIARAUS AT OROPUS

Pavsawias's bref account (i 34) gives an invaluable picture of a rustic shrine of a
hero-god, with its cult, its dream-oracles, and the healing imparted to pilgrims by these
beneficent i

agencies.
The sanctuary lies in a pléasant little glen among low hills partislly wooded with
pine, ca. 4 miles 5.-E. of Oropus. A brook flows through the glen, and when swollen by
rain has carried away the ndjacent portion of the sacred area and in particular nearly
the whole S. half of the temple of Amphiaraus, The Greek Archasological Society
begun excavating here in 1884 ; it is still extending its investigations, with & valuable
> .'nfnrl;the-hu;:.plr: £ the W, ead of the precinet; it to ha
remaing are o X ; ita ri to have
bamnDnﬁcsuu:turt.m.gjx.uﬁ.,wﬁhshcd;mhmmmmel!.m
The celfa had two rows of fve columns each; on the base, ea. § fi. 4 in. wide, in the
central aisle, probably stood the image of Amphiaraus mentioned by Pausaning; &
muflnam&mm:iufmudﬁthhﬂmtempkma}-hnvehemputufi.t. The
parts of the N., and the N. part of the W. walls—the rest are lost—consist of &
socle of squared blocks formed of orthostates between narrow courses ; the opper parts
are constructed of small stones bonded with mortar or clay. In the middle of the W.
wall is a doorway leading into a small porch with two small unfluted columns at the
angles. The temple seems to have been built in the Macedonian or early Roman period.
In front of the temple are the remains of the large altar, dedicated to many gods,
which Pausanias described ; its foundations are of large blocks of common stone, the
preserved portion of the superstructure is of lmestone ; under it were discovered two
fragments of older altars, proving that the Iater structure incorporated previously existing
ones. At its side towards the higher ground are three curving steps or seats of common
stone for the onlookers at the sacrifices. To the 5. of the altar rises the sacred spring,
deseribed by Pausanias, into which patients who had been made whole used to throw

money.
£, G. vil. 235—begins between 70 and 8o yards E. of the temple, snd extends E, for o
length of ca. 360 fi. ; its depth is ca. 36 ft. ; along its front, towards the stream, is o
stylobate on which stood the Doric columns represented by fragments lying about ; on
the other sides it was closed by walls in the same style as the temple. The interior was
divided cross-wise into three sections—a large central hall (o, 310 ft. long) and a small
wing at each end, to which access from the central hall was given by an aperture, closed
apparently by a grating. The hall itself was divided lengthwise by a row of seventeen
lonic columns. A continuous row of marble benches ran all around the inner side of the
three walls of the colonnade. The inner surface of the walls of the colonnade was coated
with stucco and painted ; traces of a wavy macander pattern in red and green have been
discerned at the N.-E. corner,

The space between the temple and the W. end of the colonnade is lined on the side
away from the stream by a continuous row of pedestals which once supported statues
and still bear many inscriptions. Beyond the further end of the colonnade was a bath,
of which the foundations and conduit have survived ; it was built before the third
century B.C., but altered and repaired in Roman times.

Scooped out in the side of the glen, at the back of the colonnade, is a small theatre,
the unpaved orchestra being only 39 ft. across. The remains of the skené suffice for its
theoretical reconstruction, but of the seats there have been found only five chairs of
;thnm:rﬂe.mnﬂnguhuﬁﬂgmchanlmbhhau,hlmummlhdfuf

For recent investigations sce 'Apy. 'Eg., 1021, 166-160.
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XX1V

SACRED PRECINCT AT ELEUSIS, SHOWING THE
EXCAVATIONS OF 1882-1805

TiiE remains of the sanctuary of Demeter are situnted at the E. foot of & low rocky hill,
a mile long, which runs parallel to the seashore at a distance of a few hundred yards
and was the acropolis of Eleusis; the town itself lay on the level ground towards the
sea. Greek archaeologists have completed the excavation of the Telesferion or Hall of
Tnitiation itself, and are steadily progressing with the remainder of the site. The
recent work of Professor F. Noack, Elewtis, Die baugeschicktliche Entwicklung des
Heiligtumes, text and plates, Berlin, 1027 (rev. by W. Wrede, in Guoman, iv. (1928),
548-550) marks o great advance; in s few instances, indicated below, his results
involve the revision of the plan; especislly instructive is the region below and to the
E. of the E. comer of the Telesterion.

The arrengement of the sanctuary and Tefesferion appears on the plan. Within the
pnﬁnﬂ.thngtﬁdmufﬂunni“fnﬂsm,ﬁnmudmhadfuﬁﬁdmhﬁnmm
the objects in the sanctuary of the Mysteries ; Mmrm:hingth:ph,hn'nﬁ.hehd
pointed out several monuments including the well called Calfichorum {** of fair dances ™)
and the temple {or temples ?) of Artemis of the Portal and Father Poseidon.

The historical development of this shrine as manifested in the monumental remains
is in essentinls as follows (with references to the colours of the plate) :

In the third and second millennia 8.c, the hillside was inhabited, as is shown by
mthu:dpnﬁtry,hmmﬂl,gmvmlnithnﬂmhnmhafzwminum’m&hth
S.-W. of the sanctuary; the grotto (behind the Temple of Pluto) was probably even
then the seat of o cult. With the dawn of the Greek age, a tefrace was cons
where later there stood the Telerderion: to this terrace belongs the primitive wall to the
N.-W. of the curving wall (coloured green and lettered &), to W. of the eastern corner
P of the structure of Ictinus,

Hn:mn,tnimplenfﬂnmﬁuwu:mmdmmwrkypmiecﬁmnbuum
m,ﬂmmmmummdhmﬂmﬁ:ﬂyn.!cﬂmﬂr; and towards
the end of the seventh century is built the earliest Telesferion (green, a),—in the founda-
tions of which & * Leshian * form of polygonal masonry is used, with curved contours,
thhimw{gtm,&]mdmduﬁwrluwpﬁwfa (according to
Professor Noack, the outer ** red " wall, being a polygonal base for sun-dried brick ;
others have dated the part towards the Great Propylaea as late as ca. 400 B.C.).

I.uthe!-ttr_rpnrtuftbnsi::hmmry,undaPisisu-lnulndhism,thmi;mu-
structed the oblong Felerterion with its portico (red, in Aard limestone and porar
ashlar), also the inner E. fortification-wall (red, polygonal base for sun-dried brick) ;
likewise & temple in antis on the hill {dotted outline to N. of the Telesterion).

In 48c-479 the Persians burn the shrine ; sharily afterwards the (yellow) stretch of
fortification-wall to E. of the Portico of Philo is constructed in refined * psendo-iso-
domic * technique, on an carlier line but blocking the gate. Under Kimon it is resolved
10 extend the Telesterion on its N.-W. and S.-W. sides, thus forming & great square hall
with its roof supported by 7 x 7 columns ; the natural rock is cut away for m con-
siderable distance, and preparations are made for 3 x 7 columns to the N.-E. (yellow)
-ﬂ:!. Lih::fmlruth:t columns of the innermost N.-W. row (which are not indicated on

plate).

Under Pericles, Ictinus proposed to replace this project by a grandiose scheme
{olive) : this too was enly in part executed—the square preparations for 2 x 4 columns
in the 5.-W. part of the hall, and the massive exterior corners with concealed buttresses,
presupposing & portico, and some other details. Then this project was sbandoned, and
thcthmucbnfuumudhyﬂumchtﬁnwn,l;}mrﬁedmtumluﬁmwhkhm
exactly repeated in the Antonine restoration (violet), when the shrine had been destroyed
by fire ; the great porch was constructed by Philo after the middle of the fourth century
B.c. To the Periclean period belong the fortification-walls to 5.-E. (alive) and the
granaries (olive) betwesn them and the inner wall.

In Cicero's time were built the Small Propylsea, and under the Antonines the Great

i 44 wdbt:ﬂ:dmp ut: The enclosure was extended to S, (blue)

K. Kuruniotes, '03wyds it "Ehecaivor, Athens, 1924.
6o
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The W, hill, joined to it by a low ridge, is higher, more pointed, and steeper, The
two citadels mentioned by Pausanias no doobt occupied these same two hills; it is
Iy supposed, from the order followed by Pauvsanias, that the E. hill was the
acropolis called Caria (. 40. 6), and the W. one Alcathous (i. 42. 1) ; but Caria appears
tolmv:h:cnﬂmnlder:mpul’u.andwz:hnuidmmmﬂy:rpcctﬂniﬂmw.hﬂl,ﬂn
higher and stronger of the two, would have been the first to be fortified.

The ancient remains are extremely scanty. On the S, side of the E. hill have been
observed some pieces of the old fortification-wall : the remains of the fountsin of
Theagenes, mentioned by Pausanias (i. 40. 1), have been recognized ; and fragments of
columns, sculptures snd inscriptions have been seen Iying about or built into medineval
and modern structures.

Nisaen, as the port of Megara was still called in the time of Pausanias, was distant
¢a. 1} mile ; as late as the middle of the nineteenth century the scanty remains of one
of the Long Walls which the Athenians built ca. 459, and the Megarians mzed jn
424 B.C, were o be seen about half-way between the two; at present, though the
direction of the walls may be followed, hardly any remains can be painted out. On
the W. side of the bay which forms the harbour there rises a stecp, isolated hill ca.

ft. high, crowned with & medineval fortress which is largely built of ancient hlacks.
E. side of the bay is a much higher hill surmounted by a chapel of St. George.
This hill appears to have been the acropolis of Nisaea mentioned by Pausanias; the
remains of the fortification-wall, ca. 6 ft. thick and strengthened with towers, have been
traced on the 5., E., and N. sides of the hill ; the W. side is naturally strong, and at
its foot lay the town and harbour of Nisaea, so that fortifications were here not so
necessary.  In the S, there is a gateway ca. 6 ft. wide. From the N.-E. corner
the E. wall i= prolonged for ¢o. } mile down the slope of the hill to the plain; in this
stretch five or six towers may be made out.

The lower W. hill appears to have been what Thucydides (iii. 51) and Pausanias
(i 44. 3) call the island of Minoa ; Thucydides describes it as not far from the shore,
to whirh it was united by a bridge or causeway built over a shoal.  If this identification
is right, then the shoal water has been filled up with alluvial soil hrought down by the
streams whose beds, now dry, skirt two sides of the hill; even in Strabo's time the shoal
would seem 1o have been half silted up, since he describes Minoa as “ a headland
forming the harbour at Nissea " (ix. 1. 4), though Pausanias, a century and o half later
—perhaps influenced by his literary sources—still calls Minoa an island. The ancient
walls of Minos arc best preserved at the obtuse N.-W. angle of the medineval fortress,
and especially on its 5.-W. side, about one-third up the hill. There are also vestiges
of the lower town of Nisaea; and from the 5.-E. foot of the hill of Minoa some
remains of an ancient mole may be tracod extending into the sea and corving round
to the E, 50 as to shelter the ancient harbour. The present port is not here, but at
the Little rocky headland which juts out from the 5. side of the hill of St. George.

E. L. Highbarger, The History and Civilisation of Ancient Megara, Part L. ( fokns
Hoplins Unse, Studies in Arckacology, No. 2), Baltimore, 1927.
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XXVl
CORINTH

Pnusmummuﬁiz.ﬂﬁmcmmﬂmmﬂd-phm.wﬁchhw
and which he makes the starting-point for detours, first (3. z) along the Lechacum
road, then (3. 6) along the Sicyon road, and finally (4. 6) to the Acro-Corinth and
beyond {see on No. IT1). He says (2. 6) : * The remarkable objects in i
m:?main:ofmcithuﬁmh.hutmuEthundnhﬁmdmpﬂiuddth
restoration.”

Strabo (viil. 21, tr. Jones) utilised earlier writers, and also visited Corinth in person
soon after it had been rebuilt by the Romans in 44 B.C. ; hesays: “ A lofty mountain,
with a perpendicular height of 3} stadia, and an ascent of as much as 30 stadia, ends
in & sharp peak; it is called Acrocorinthus, and its N. side is the steepest; and
beneath it lies the city in a level, trapezium-shaped place close to the
Acrocorinthus. . . . Now the summit has a small temple of Aphrodite ;
the summit is the spring Peirene. . . " (Paussnios too had heard the name applied
to this upper spring, but the usage seems not to be early.)

The site of ancient Corinth then is a spacious rocky plateau, of soft deposits of the
latest tertiary period, co. 300 ft. above sea-level, extending toward the sea at the N.
foot of the limestone Acro-Corinth ; an adjacent lower platean forms the transition
to a third, still lower, level stretch extending almost to the shore at Lechaeom.  The
American excavations are situated near the N.-W. comner of the city, but this area
must have been the centre of interest of the Roman colony, for it includes the market-
place and a number of the monuments which Pausanins enumerates,

The accompanying plan, by Dr. W. B. Dinsmoor, is reprodoced through the

of the American School ; we add :

and rebuilt in marble. At a lower level, evidence for a hall and shops of

§
Ef
g
3

2. Captives Fagade : an omate Roman front for (apparently) an open court which
lay between the basilica and the N. side of the market-place ; details in museum.

3- Triglyph Wall, and 4. Temple B, with the Sacred Spring: well-preserved
remains of the fifth century B.C. or even earlier, which lay concealed in the Roman
period. The inscription from the region is in the museum ; the S.-E. face of the tri-
glyph wall (colours now much faded) was originally laid in a straight line ; the problem
of the concealed passage and drain is of special interest.

The Temple of Apollo: The monolithic columns of soft limestone were coafed
with Greek, and then Roman, stucco, which may be seen on the 5. columns ; the
rock-cuttings for foundstions show that there were two celiae, back to back, at different
levels ; in the E. part of the 5. wall can still be seen some remains of the treasure-chest
lined with Greek hydraulic cement ; it has been possible to assign to an eardy period
of this large, very archaic Doric temple the elements of & terra-cotta revetment executed
ofi a gigantic scale (E. Douglas Van Buren, Gr. Fictile Revetments, p. 25).

The fountains of Pirene and Glauce are the most perfectly preserved
tives of the srchaic rock-cut spring-houss ; the successive restorations of the former
illustrate the history of Corinth in all periods.

Recent excavation has brought to light still more of the theatre, including slements
of the good Greek period, and of the Odeum, bailt about the middle of the first century
A.D., thoroughly restored in the second century A n., doubtless by Herodes Atticus, and
again remodelled, this time in shabby workmanship, in the early third century.

Byvanck and Lenschau, * Korinthos,” in Pauly-Wissown-Kroll, Fral- Encyelo-
pidic, Suppl. iv. 091-1036. Ancient Corinth, a Guide fo the Excavations and Muscunt.,
Amer. Sch. at Athens, 1928.  Bibl. by F. J. de Waele, in Gromen, iv. (1925), 560-563-
Reports, in 4. /. A.



CORINTH

W . | i
\AIN EXCAVATION AREA - 1896-1927
:_- Tresk m3d Fomas Sapeesruciores
- Crweh ood Fames Pasgmee
(I Crea Fql.l.n‘_kl.fim
Bl Eoly Fomae Faandwvics
58 Larr Fiomas Feapantioors
D 3 Mednoval st Medere Seaciurn
=8 Subneranegn Conduim and Wells
== Open god —=ro- Filléd Excawaiions

i

fif1

it

ST wm o Ul =
&
3

.i'.

215 Meirgs dhow e belie Wear Snylabete
of Temple of Apelis
SCALES:

¥

e

O 1D 2 30 40 OMare O










XXvil
MYCENAE

Tue excavations of the British School at Athens, conducted by Mr. A. J. B. Wace
in 1920-1923 in the light of Cretan discoveries and the increased knowledge of the
Bronze Age culture of the Greek mainland, have advanced the interpretation of this site.
Mycenae was already & populous settlement in Early Helladic times (third millenniom
8.C.), but its acrme was in the sarly part of the third Late Helladic period (early fourtesnth
century B.c.). It is to this perind that there belong the circuit-walls of the citadel ;
these are preserved in their entire extent (though not at their original height), with
the excrption of a small picce that has collapsed S.-E. of the Palacre, and the ** Poly-
gonal Tower ** at the 5., classical in date. Thngmt:rpnrtisbuﬂti.ndm“ﬂy:hpmn”
style, roughly-hewn blocks of hard grey limestone heing piled upon each other without
order and bonded by small stones and clay ; in the thickness of the wall pear the N.-E.
corner is & stepped gallery, descending to a great depth, its sides coated with cement,
apparcntly & reservoir. At conspicuous points, such as the approach to the Lion Gate,
ashlar is adopted, with large hammer-dressed blocks of conglomerate, and the saw i
used to dress the flanges of the lintels and side-posts, a technique found at Tiryns as
well as in the Treasury of Atreus.

The Lion Gate (A) is unique for the preservation of the relief in the trinngular
space above the lintel ; the heads of the lions were probably executrd in some softer
stone: the symbolism is frequent in the art of the Bronze Age of Crete and Greece,
Within this gate is the Grave Circle: the contents of the famous graves are in the
Athens Museum. This area contnined, at a low level, Middle Helladic burjals. At
the end of M.H., not long before the beginning of the sixteenth century 5.C., part of
this cemetery became reserved for royal interments, the graves of the Shaft Grave
Dynasty. Then arose the Tholos Grave Dynasty (L.H. IL, IIL). Eardy in L.H IIL
(the early fourteenth century B.c.), the whole citadel was replanned and enlarged, and the
remains of the earfier princes were protected by the construction of the round enclosure,
meﬁﬂing-hwhh:dpephmnfmﬂl.m&eﬂmﬁm&thnmtdﬂdﬁ: the ald

area was regarded as sacred, the nucleus of a form of hero-cult.

A palace dominating the citadel was originally built under the Shaft Grave Dynasty
(L.H. L). This, with alterations, would have served in L.H. IL for the earlier kings
of the Tholos Tomb Dynasty. Later, at the beginning of L.H. 1IL, at the culmina-
tion of that Dynasty, a second palace arose here, the ruins of a section of which have
been uncovered (plan, H-5) ; it seems to have lasted till the fall of Mycenae, and would
have been the home of the Atridae. The very summit, which had been occupied
by the highest terrace of the palace, was levelled off in the late seventh century 5.6, to
give space for the Doric Temple (T) (sculpture in the Athens Museum). The more
substantial house-foundations within the citadel date fram the great age of Myvenas,
but the small and badly-built ones are Hellenistic.

There was no walled lower town here in prehistoric times ; the former explanation
of the Afakry Litheri is now abandoned. The Hellenistic lower city (see inset 1o
plan) lay to W. and 5.-W. of the acropolis and was slight in extent. The nine Tholos
Tombs fall into three groups of three each : the Cyclopean Tomb (4), Epano Phoumos
(3); using rough undressed blocks in the Cyclopean manner with somewhat larger
stones at the angles, Tomb of Aegisthus (E. of “ Mrs. Schliemann’s +."), which with
its doorway remodelled in ashlar represents & transition ; Panagia (S.-E. of 3), Kato
Phournos (upper 5), Lion Tomb (6), where the use of ashlar makes progress ; Treasury
of Atreus (1), Tomb of Clytemnestra (2, “ Mrs. Schliemann’s t."), Genii (N. of 4):
showing the perfection of the type, contemporary with the Lion Gate and the last
great period of Tiryns.

Ann. ﬁﬂ{-ﬂl Sch, at Athens, xxxiv,, xxxv., 1919-1923 (followed above, often
verbatim), Sir Arthur Evans, The Skaft Groves and Bee-hive Tombs of Mycenae and
their Interrelation, London, 1929, suggests, however, that the Shaft Graves and the
Thelos Tombs represent one and the same Dynasty, the contents of the Iatter having

been trapaferred to the former ca, 1 B.C. A work
N Tt 450 by Dr. G. Earo on the Grave

68
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XXVIII

(1) SECTIONAL PLAN OF THE S50-
CALLED TREASURY OF ATREUS
AT MYCENAE

(2) TRANSVERSE SECTION THROUGH
THE SOUTH WALL OF THE CITA-
DEL OF TIRYNS



XXVII (1)

SECTIONAL PLAN OF THE 50-CALLED TREASURY
OF ATREUS AT MYCENAE

This lies about the middle of the didge below the acropolis, on its E. slope (1 on inset
to No. XXVII). The passage leads horizontally into the hill from an artificial terrace |
its entrance was blocked by a low wall of which enly part of ane course remains ; the
entrance was on made ground, but the rest of the passage was cut out of the soft rock,
end floored with a thin layer of clay.

In the fagade the use of the saw is comparatively common. Over the lintel i= 2
relieving triangle. Attached columns, tapering downwards, rested on the bases which
ure still in place ; their remains are in the British Museum and Athens ; the opening of
the relieving triangle was clearly marked with something, and dowel-haoles in the upper

show that some form of revetment was attached to it; fragments of such have
been found here.

The inner lintel block measures 274 (below) and 29 (above) x 17 %3} ft., and i
computed to weigh ca. 300,000 English pounds; in its under side are two pivot-holes for
the double door ; on each of the side walls there are two vertical lines of bronze nails
descending exactly to the front and back limits of the threshold. This, judging from
the four bronze nails still in place, was protected by a covering. In 1920-1921, the two
wedges of poros were temporarily Temoved ; in the packing under the blocks were
found = quantity of gold leaf, & few potshends, and some other objects, including large
bronze nails—apparently “ decorators’ waste,” from the time of the construction of the
tomb ; all the potsherds are of Late Helladic TIT. date.

The dome itself, ce. 1450 metres in dinmeter and 13-20 in height, is builtupina
great excavation in the rock ; the individual blocks of ashlar work in conglomerste,
uuﬂyhm&md,merﬂmﬂummmm&emkpﬂd
tight with =mall stones ; at their backs the big blocks are counterweighted with a heavy
mass of rough stones ; the blocks in the lower courses are larger ; the * eye ™" is capped
by & large slab with a hollow in its under surface. The top of the dome projects abave
the surface of the hillside and is covered with a mound of esrth. From the third course
npnrdsmnﬂ:randh:gaholumybemutngulnrinmahiuﬂum; some
still contrin bronze nails for fastening metal rosettes or the like.

The rock-cut chamber, containing a grave-pit, is entered through & door with details
resembling those of the main entrance ; its threshold has long since disappearsd ; this
mmnwupmhuhlyintmdndluheuuduachnmrlchumtmmmﬂ:ivcthcrﬂmimd
earlier interments when the main chamber was being prepared for a fresh burial,

A. B. 5. A, xxv. (1921-1023), 138-357, pls. 56, 57 (here followed in part verdalin),

XXVIIT (2)

TRANSVERSE SECTION THROUGH THE SO0UTH WALL OF
THE CITADEL OF TIRYNS

Tug disposition of galleries and chambers will be understood by comparing the ground-
plan (No. XXX). From the court F a passage (not preserved) gave access to the corridor
and staircase D (¢ in section), which led with a single bend into the long corridor C
(& in section), which is 24} ft. lower. This is from 5 ft. to 5 fi. 7 in. wide ; its W. end
is completely closed, but its E. end is lit by a window () which, starting with almost
ﬁgm'ﬂ_lthllthtmrfﬁm,mrm::mnrdsthrmﬂsiﬂetﬂlitenﬁulm
hole 4 in. wide. The ceiling of the corridor is formed by the convergence of the si
nm.‘ﬁullnqmnrlludmuﬁuchmbua (B in plan, & in section), douhiless
magazines. A similar sefies, six in number, opening off a corridor, | l:\'l.u:u.l.r 5.
ea o foe . wall of the citndel ; here the Steirway which g o ey has o ot
pletely destroyed. Rzmmnflh:mmnizﬂith:h“!l,mwuﬂsiuﬁ,ulnﬂry,m

: four bases of columns show that a colonnade was here built on the top of
the wall 50 as to open inwards on the citadel,

T0
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XXIX
THE ARGIVE HERAEUM

This, the chief sanctuary of Arpolis, is situated on a terraced hill, 420 fi. high, rising
in a somewhat insulated position at the foot of & bare, steep mountain. It is distant
somewhat under 3 miles 5.-E. of Mycenae ; the ancient road can be traced at intervals,
keeping well up on the steep mountain-side, and crossing the beds of several torrents
on Cyclopean bridges, the ruins of which can still be seen.  The hill forms a rough
triangle, with its apex turned to the mountsin and its hack to the plain; to the N.
there is & deep depression, and to N.-W. and 5.-E. two deep ravines. The apexisa
rocky peak ; next to its 5. is the uppermost terrace, on which stood the old temple;
then the termce of the fifth century temple ; and below this still a third terrace.

The uppermost termce is supported on the 5. by a retaining-wall some 59 yards
leng, built of huge irregularly shaped blocks of conglomerate heaped together in a
rough Cyclopean style ; one black is 18 fi. long. The excavators found two parallel
arcas characterised by a layer of hard black earth, 1 to 2 in. thick, resting on &
hyuddﬂmd:oﬂtﬁmmmmhdhypkmuf:hnﬂwmd.ﬂlthﬁ;m
the action of fire, and other indications of a conflagration : clearly the remains of the
temple which was burnt in 423 B.c., the two parallel areas apparently marking the
lines of the two cella walls ; a structure of sun-dried brick with columns, ete., of wood,
as in the Heraeum at Olympia, accords with the evidence. The only remains of conse-
quence still visible on the spot are the pavement of irregular polygonal slabs, and a
streteh of stylobate with traces of columns,

The retaining-wall of the middle terrace is built of regular masonry, mostly of an
inferior sort. ﬂfﬂ::lmpltfmwhi:h?dydihumldﬁihecult—smm,m]ythaitﬂw

foumklations are in place ; fragments of the sculpture are in the Athens
Museum (F, Eichler, in Osterr. Jakrehefte, xin-xx. (1919}, 15-153); and there was
abundant material for a theoretical restoration—a hexastyle peripteral Doric edifice
with interior columns ; the order was of porws, but some of the upper parts marble,

The other structures on the middle and lowest terraces are such as are found at other
sanctuaries like Epidaurus, Oropus, and Lycosura : long colonnades serving as protec-
tizn from sun and rain by day and as dormitories by night ; rectangular halls or groups
of such which may have been used for great guild banguets ; and to the N.-W. a bath
estahlishment of the brick construction characteristic of the Roman period in Greece,
The general result is & representative, fully equipped sanctuary, the archaic temple
hm-tinq.!j.!.l‘:.,lndﬂunnplmﬂdb}'nﬁ.n:mm:unllnm,mmmbh
terrace, and the subsidiary structures ranging in date from the sixth century to the
Roman time.

Furthermore, the American excavations of 1592-1 disclosed the fact that this ares.
mmp&d.aﬂthuﬂintmthecu]tﬂfafumktfiﬂnityinﬂuudghbﬂwhnnﬂﬂf
the Iater sanctuary, and tombs not far distant, in Mycenaean times. Knowledge of eatly
conditions, however, entered on & new phase with Dr. Blegen's excavations of 1923-1928:
it became clear that the upper part of the hill had served us the site of a settlement, the
history of which can be traced through the whole of the Bronze Age; and evidence of
similar ccoupation was found on the lower slopes. On the ridges beyond the ravine to
N.-W. there have been cxplored many Mycenaean chamber-tombs with & rich yield
of ceramics, and some Middle Helladic graves; and even more important was the
discovery st several points in that area of Neolithic remains, while the so-calied
“ Geometric Terrace ' yiclded a fragment of bronze appiiged, and other objects of
mrtistic interest, dating from the scventh century B.C.,—apparently the sest of &
subsidiary cult in that period.

Charles Waldstein (Sir Charles Walston) and others: The Argive Herseum.
Bostonand N.¥., 1902, 1905. A.J. 4. xxix. (1925), 356, 413-428 ; xxxi. (1927), 390 -
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Tmsdnddmpidlheﬂntmpuflhmmﬂeridge,gmhg{uﬂyuiﬂhnﬂ'mﬂu
alluvial plain, shaped like the sale of a foot, ca. 300 yards long and less than 100 yards
wide, and st its highest point 86 ft. above the level of the sea, which now is ce. | mile
distant, the ing been considerably extended by slluvium since the Bronze
Age. The palace area, or upper citadel, occupies the S, end. The circuit-wall of
the citadel is built of very large blocks of limestone, wronght on one or more faces by
the pick-hammer, with a tendency to horizonts! courses, and with small stones and

buried) ; the limestone is of two sorts, quarried on neighbouring mountsins, o hard
weather-proof gray sort and a frinble reddish sort ; for members such as the thresholds,
side-posts, and lintels of gates, use is made of a conglomernte which is sawn as in the
great period of Mycenae.

As concerns the interior structurcs represented on the present plan and identified
in its key, these belong chiefly to the definitive form of the palace, due to enlargement
m&ﬂuﬂdiﬂgﬂmﬂﬂmﬂtﬁ:hﬂl—!:ﬂaﬂirﬂl.p&iﬂd; the towers, pointed
miches, and galledies (No. XXVIIL 2) are among the latest additions before the
eatastrophe—the palace was burnt, apparently with violence ; a perind of reoccupation
is represented by the narrowing of the great entrance in the E. circuit-wall, and the
inferior house-walls built upon the foundations and pavement of the chicf magarom,
which until Dr. Blegen's study (Kerabos, 130-134) were generally assigned to an
archaie Doric temple,

The visitor to-day approaching the propylon H from the exterior will obsetve the
evidence for an earlier period of the citadel—walls and entrance at a lower level ;
these belong to cs. 1400 B.c. But the history of the site has been carried many
centuries further back : & huge oval structure of sun-dried brick, with an elaborate
system of butiressing, lies at a low level beneath the 5. part of the palace proper, and
is dated in the nineteenth-eighteenth centuries B.C.; contemporary with it was a
settlement represented by huts of diverse forms which have been found at various
points of the hill,

The recent German investigations have added greatly to the knowledge of the
citadel hased on Schliemann’s excavations. They have also uncovered a Late Helladic
HI. dwelling quarter at the 5.-E, foot of the hill, built on eardier walls and intersected
by Late Geometric pithos graves. Further out in the plain in the same direction, a
chance find in 1915 disclosed a rich hoard of metal objects, apparently the loot of
some marauder (A. Philadelpheus, in *Agy. Aehrlor, §i. (1916), app. 13-21),

Frickenhaus and others, T¥omr, 2 vols., Athens, 1912, G. Karo, Fikrer durch
die Ruimen vom Teryns, Athens, 1015. Moéhins and Wrede, in fokrbuck der Just.
xhL (1927), Anseiper, 365-370. The following resumes the last-cited account:
1. Early Helladic (third millennium 8.0.) : an extensive settlement covered the whole
hill and vicinity ; at least two layers; appears to last into Middle Helladic times.
2. Middle Helladic (ra. 2000-1600 B.C.) : house ruins and graves ; the first terracing
and enclosing of the citadel, 3. Late Helladic /. (sixteenth century B.c.): the old
enclosure continues in use ; levelling operations result in the almost complete removal
of the earlier strata from the upper citndel; remains of painted stucco testify o a
palace. 4. Beginning of Late Helludic (cs. 1400 B.C.) : construction of m citadel
wall with large blocks and great gates, including the whole area of the later palsce
as far as to 5. of the great forecourt ; stucco fragments are evidence for the palace,
but nothing is known of its form. 5. Ca. 13501250 B.C. : comprehensive reboildi H
extension of the circuit walls to 5. and E., raising of level, refortifying of the Middle
Citadel. 6. Later: the whole hill is included in a great fortification wall ; the S-E.
end 5. galleries and the W. pml:mmadﬂ:d,nhutherﬂ.mpmﬁ..dEﬁmpqnnk,
while the courts assume their present form and the present palace is built. The small
meyera to E. of the great megarom are rebuildings of previously existing structures,
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XXX1
THE SANCTUARY OF AESCULAPIUS AT EPIDAURUS

ToE ruins of the sanctuary were excavated for the Greek Archaeolngical Sociely,
under the direction chiefly of Dr. P. Kavvadias, at intervals from the year 1881 wuntil
that veteran archncologist’s death resulting from an attack which came upon him
while he was engaged on his last eampaign in the summer of 1928 ; the local museum
is & monument to his devotion and skill. While there is testimony to the existence
of a cult here (of “ Apollo and Arsculapius *'} from early times, it was not until the
fourth century n.c. that the gentle heling, physical and mental, especially associated
with the name of the local hero physician, came to exert its great appeal; and it
was then that the sanctuary assumed its present form.

Pausanias’s account has been confirmed by the excavations. The theatre (No.
XXXIIL 1) lies on the hillside to S.-E. of the area of this plan ; the Rotunda is given
on No. XXXII; here we begin at the ., where the pilgrim approached, if coming
from the wown of Epidaurs.

After crossing a small brook-gully, the highway passed through the Grand Portal,
a limestone structure with Tonic columns ; within i are three stone basins for purifica-
tion ; about twenty paces S. of the portal is a deep droular well, of archaic masonry.
The poorly preserved foundations of the temple of Aphrodite are built of o friable red
stone ; mxhiugisprmn:ddth:mpcmﬂure,hnth:phnkndsiucﬂlum:diﬁu
with three steps, o cells and a promaos, either tetrastyle or iz amfir. Ca. 50 yards to the
W. is a very large cistern of the Greek or early Roman period.

TheElfmnfﬁnmnimu,Lh:mBnhsauﬂtheMusicHlﬂ,lhnwﬂld:Rumdlu
h&emﬂhﬂwmkmdmhr,hmmmwdmmmmﬂ
the structures at this site ; it should be observed, however, that except for monumental
:ﬁﬁml&tdutmpk:,ﬂnﬂndn.pmhh,mdﬂ:uhr,thtﬁ:uk:ﬁn:ﬂrkmﬁu
uﬂru[lhnfuuud-ﬁnm,nnhmuanﬂhﬂingm,nhnuihkhmbudynfﬂu
wall was of san-dried brick ; the roofs would have been of terra-cotta.

" We now enter the specially sacred area, built on its W. part on an artificial terrace,
l.lﬂ'bmmdﬂdmﬂ.hy'ldnu'hl:mlnnnndn,ﬂ!rw.hllfnf*hiﬂhiiinmmriﬂ-tﬂ
correct the drop in the ground level. It was here that the pilgrims slept in expectation
of inspired dreams ; and at the E. end can be seen the sacred spring, and the bases
which supported the six stone tablets with records of healing which Paunsanias saw
and which are partially extant in the museum. The remains of the temple of Aescula-
pitss itself still in place are only foundations ; but architectural fragments were found
in sufficient numbers for a reconstruction ; it was Darig, peripteral, without apistho-
demas. The walls and order were of porer coated with stucon, the roof of wopd, the
tiles of marhle. ‘The sculptures in the gables, representing battles with Centaurs and
ﬁhhmmmﬂthe\’icmﬁmnnﬂNmidsthﬁtmwmﬂthemﬂf.hdungm}fin
the fourth century B.C.

Ca. 60 L. to the E. of the temple was found a long inscription in letters of the early
fourth century n.c. ([, G. iv. 1484), giving details as to cost and construction. Like the
Rotunda, it wes built by contract ; amongst the contractors were men from Corinth,
Argos, Stymphalia, and Crete. The whole work was under the superintendence of &

architect named Theodotus. A sculptor Timotheus is mentioned, doubtless
the distinguished Athenian who collaborated on the Mausoleum of Halicarnassus,
although just what the  models ™ or ** reliefs ' were for which he was paid is not
:Iur,n.ndm:hnlus are not agreed as to the attribution to him of certain of the sculptured
ragments.

The other buildings are parily temples (that of Artemis is identified by the use of
dogs’ heads on the cornice) and partly a sort of hostel or caravanserai. The Stadium
was laid out us early as the first part of the fifth century B.C.; the cylindrical base at the
N. end of the starting-line bears an inscription of the sculptor Thrasymedes who
executed the cult statue of Aesculapius; the stone seats were individual benefactions
‘““mnmf?ﬂ“&i the starting-line was given its present arrangement in Roman
mul:.m'l'he Hrpp_-;;i!?m,; l-:.r‘s_::n: distance away to the 5.-W.

- wvndias, Ly roil "Archgrat ér 'Evddad S A 1 . .
articles in 'Apy. "B and Tpaerad, i theny, 1900/, snd yRzee
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XXXn
THE ROTUNDA AT EPIDAURUS

THESE remains are situated some 7o ft. 5.-W. of the temple of Aesculapius. Only the
foundations are standing ; but other fragments allowed of the admirable reconstruction
in the museum (Kavvadias, in Tlpasrsd, 1907, 183-186; Berlin Sttzungrberichiz, 1900,
536-540). The diameter is 107 ft. The foundations consist of six concentric walls
built of peres. The outermest supported the twenty-six Doric columns of the per-
style ; the second supported the circular wall ; the third supported fourteen interior
Corinthian columns ; and the three innermost supported the floor. These three inner-
most rings, with their cross-walls and gates, form a sort of lnbyrinth which, when the
building was completed, was fnaccessible ; they differ from the three outer rings in
thickness, in depth of foundations, and in horizontal joints ; the cutermost of the short
partition-walls is not structurally incorporated with the adjacent ring wall. It is clear
{F. Noack, in fekrdwch des fmst,, xlii. (1927), 75-79) that the central portion of the
Retunda was constructed at an carlier period, before the level of this part of the sanctuary
had heen raised by termacing, and that its present function is due to adaptation.

The entrance was approached by a ramp on the E. The outer stylobate was of
pores, and supported columns of a fine grained poros, coated with stucco ; the metopes
were decorated with rosettes finely carved in relief. The outer base of the circular wall
was of white marbie ; the inner base of black ; the decomated band above the ortho-
states and below the (probable) windows, of Pentelic marble : the wall was crowned on
the exterior by a course of black stone ; the rest was of peror; there was no opening
at the top. The interior Corinthion columns were of marble ; this is one of the earliest
known examples of the use of that order. At a depth of e 3 ft. under the ancient level
of the soil there was found a Corinthian capital {now in the museum) almost intact,
which yet, being without marks of attachment, had never formed sny part of the
colonnode to which, by shape and dimensions, it belonged. Tt had never received the
final working of the surface ; but it had not been rejected for any faw, for it was care-
fully covered with tiles to preserve it from injury. The points of its acanthus leaves
vary hetween five, six, and seven in number, wherens the fragments of the columns
actually employed show five or six points only ; it may thus have been an i
Perhaps too it may have been buried with some notion that so long as it remained intact
the colonnade itsell would stand entire,

The pavement in the interior, within the Corinthian colonnade, had diamond-shaped
flags of black and white marble ; the central flag was circular and white, 1-20 metres
in dinmeter, and there was no aperture ; Kavvadias's recent studies, cited above, show
that our plan is to be modified as regards the pattern. The rest of the pavement was of
limestone, except the part between the Doric columns, which was of tufa.

The ceiling, the cornice, and the floreated apex of the roof, were masterpieces of
design and execution ; the whole of the marhle decorstions of the building are carved
with the utmost delicacy, recalling the Erechtheum at Athens, the round building at
Dielphi, and the temple at Tegea ; this Rotunda is the latest of the series.

A long inscription (/. 6. iv. 1485), found in the sanctuary, contains the accounts of
moneys received and expended for the construction of the Rotunda, there called the
Fhumela, é.x, " altar " or * place of sacrifice.”” The work was spread over not far from
thirty years ; i:mdnnzbyc&nmt,diﬂ‘mmmbdngaaﬁgncdmdi&rmtm-
tractors. Some of these came from a distance, as from Athens, Paros, Troezen, and
Tegea, and were allowed travelling expenses, The beginning of the inscription seems to
duehnmnbuu!rlumiddl:ufthe!’uunhcmm_fy B.C., and the final entries to have been
inscribed ¢o. 320; this gives the approximate date of the Rotunda, and from this it
follows that the architect Polyclitus, named by Pausanias,—to whom we must attribute
apparently the completion of this edifice and the construction of the Theatre —was not
the famous Argive sculptor nor the second sculptor of that name, but belonged to a later
generation.
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XXXIII (1)
GROUND PLAN OF THEATRE AT EPIDAURUS

FAUSANIAS ii. 27, 5: “ In the Epidaurian sanctoary there is a theatre which, in my
opinion, is most especially worth seeing. It is true that in size the theatre at Megalopolis
hh:ﬁhsumssmh,mdththsﬂmdmﬂukmurmfummmdﬂthe
theatres in the world; but for symmetry and beauty what architect could vie with
Polyclitus ?  For it was Polyclitus who made this theatre and the round building also.”

For the date of this Polyclitus, see the discussion of the Rotunda (No. XXXII).
'I!:u:buuryafprnpurﬁnni.udu;einpuﬂtﬂthemzthndndn;mdhhyinguutthzmm
of the cavea: thmemmuad,fnm:inﬁmmgtb:muhﬂmuhmuiangh:
mWmcznm,{ummm;m.mrmmnrlghrmmdlemﬁm-hih
rhetwnmmdarycennu,ﬁj:hmplnmdm.zgfl.upn.rtmdwiﬂ:whir_hisumda
radius ca. 11} ft. longer, serve the two outer sections on each side ; the result approaches
mcﬂipsr,isilighﬂypcmeptihlensmc!mhfmmﬂ::auhﬂmnr:hlntﬂrmn-
unu-icﬁutnfm.animteuhn:ntdlnthewiduﬁngoutafrhnmmlﬁﬂoftht
flagged ring which runs about theiunarputnftheﬂrﬂ:cslntumebathupaﬂgt
for the audience and as gotter for rain-water.

Dthtrfmmmthtmmpld:pmnnﬁuudthedrdcafthemchﬁuaﬁththﬂ
foundation for the round altar at its centre ; the skené, which did not undergo radical
modification in Roman times ; the three rows of seats of honour, one at the edge of the
m:hﬂhl.brynndﬂmpusmgtﬂheu&mhurﬂpacﬁvﬂy-bwemﬂbdmrhediﬂgl}ﬂl
passage part-way up the slope of the cavea; and the polychrome effect—especially
nﬂituhlenftu'umh,mdminlyintmﬁmﬂwhmuudfnrth:mﬂfhﬂmﬂr*
wﬁ:hmnhhhadhrthemdudiﬁumtﬂm—nd&i;h,nntm—fmmﬂin
parts of the covea.

XXXIIT (2)
PLAN OF TEMPLE AT AEGINA

AFTER treating of the island of Aegina in general and then the town at its W. end,
Pausaniss continues (i 30. 3): * In Aegina, on the way to the mountsin of Panhel-
lenian Zeus, there is a sanctuary of Aphaca™; he gives the local legend, of Cretan
origin, then procecds to Mt. Panhellenius near the S.-E. corner of the island. Pausanias
adopted a devious route ; for the well-known temple near the N.-E. corner of the island
i now identified by four stone inscriptions as sacred to Aphaia {A. Furtwingler and
others, Aegina, das Heiligtum der Aphasa, Munich, 1906, giving the results of the
Bavarian excavations of 19or). The most complete and most important inscription,
with probable restorations, runs : ** In the priesthood of Cleoctas there were constructed
for Aphaia the house and the altar, and the ivory was added, and the wall was built
round about.” This commemorates the first constructional period of the shrine, in the
second half of the seventh century B.C. ; the finds of small objects, especially vase-frag-
ments, show that the colt was already established here e 1400-1200 B.C. Numerous
fporor frngments attributable to 2 small temple fm antis, which were found built into Inter
structures, testify to a second perind of construction, in the first third of the sixth century
p.c. This temple was burnt, perhaps by the Persians in 490 8.C., and was replaced by
the present edifice (sculptures in Munich and Athens ; minor finds from the sanctuary in
the museum at the town of Aeginn). The same thres periods appear in the accessory
structures : [. uses a black crystalline trachitic rock, and to it belong the stretch of
retaining-wall 5. of the temple, the cldest form of the hostel (5. of the latest altar), and
the oldest form of the altar (M. of the ramp) ; IL uses poras, and is represented by the
second form of the altar (projecting N. of the latest structure), the propylon partly pre-
served to 5.-W. of the latest altar, the central temple-like room mnm‘pm'lt:d in the later
hostel, and the E. and part of the N. retaining-wall ; to I11, with 2 new orientation,
belong the structures that were still standing in Paunsanias's day.
Sonqedft-?snfrh:tempic are the cuttings for grills at the E. end ; the red cement
floor, with indications of the position of the cult-statue ; the modifications at the back ;
the system for carrying the rain-water from the N. slope of the roof to the rock cistern ;

and the depressions for the bases of the pedi
the W, end of the area. pediment statues on some large blocks now at
By
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XXXIV
SANCTUARY OF POSEIDON IN CALAURIA

THE sancinary is situated on a saddle between the two highest peaks of the island,
an hour's walk from the modern town of Porer; from jts height of ca. 600 ft. above the
sea, beautiful and wide prospects of shore, sea, and islands open between the wooded
hills to both N. and S. ; it was excavated by Swedish archasologists in 1504,

The temple of Poseidon stood within o separate precinet at the N.-E. end of the
unmm,lﬂyfmmih:uthubnﬂxﬁnp,fnmfmgnmnglemﬂmdbrwﬂ!ﬂf
hard blue Bmestone, ca. 3} ft. thick, which are preserved all round to an average
height of ca. 2 ft. ; they are meanly built of small irregular stones. The N. wall and
part of the E. wall rest on a four-stepped baze. There are two openings in the walls
of the precinct : the principal one on the E. end and the other on the 5. Of the temple
itself the remains arc exceedingly scanty, a few small pieces of pavement or founda-
tions indifferently built of small stones; the edifice appears, however, to have had 2
peristyle of 6 x 12 Doric columns. The foundations of the peristyle were built of soft
limestone, and the walls of the temple of hard blue limestone; the cormice was of
marhle with palmettes painted on it; the iron clamps had a Z shape and were mn
with lead ; the shape of the clamps and other indications point to the sixth century 8.C.
as the date of construction ; the terra-cotin antefixes here found probably p
the marble cornice.

To the §.-W. of the temple there lies a group of buildings forming three sides of
large quadrangle. The * East Colonnade * is the best preserved. It s ca. 22 paces
distant from the temple precinct, and faced 5.-E. Preserved almost in their entire
length, though to anly a slight elevation, are the beautifully constructed stylobate in
front and the Jower parts of the three outer walls ; cach of the latter consists of a cor=
of small stones faced on the outside and inside with polygonal blocks of blue limestone
with smooth faces, well cut and well fitted together. Along the entire length of the
colonnads ran two rows of columns—an cuter row of sixteen Doric and an inner one
of four Ionic columns; the latter rested, pot on a stylobate, but on four sepamate
foundations. Tn}udgefmmﬂzﬁu:ﬂylenfibmmrythismmdemustbdm
to the best period of Greek architecture ; it has been assigned to the fifth century B.C.

In line with this colonnade to the S.-W. are the far less complete remains of a
similar structure, the * Middle Colonnade ”; and a third colonpade, the “ South
Colonnade,” similar in plan but of less fine masonry, faces the " E. Colonnade,"
[mmcdhidytnimbi-w.iaahuﬂdingofmmesiz:,D.whichhastb:i‘um:orammngh
with a large corner cut off ; it comprised a colonnade to N.-W.,, four inner rooms, and
lppuendranupmmmtufhﬂguhrshap:hdwamthmrmmmdthﬂmmmﬂ.
The back walls of the rooms are built of rough polygonal stones. The S.-W. side of
thegtutqundﬂ.nglewudmedhflh«ehuildingE,vhichmntnh.n\reiudndtdn
portal leading into the quadrangle, a colonnade opening in the same direction, and
two or three rooms lying at the back of the colonnade.

Thesewnew.nﬂmmdthnpmsmmdchi:ﬂyhrfnun&nﬁnmmdbythcnﬂubdr
of the N.-E. wing ; in front of it are four bases, onc at least of which, from an inscrip
tion carved om if, supported a statue. It has been suggested that this colonnade was
lCﬂﬂnﬁiHﬂn:‘J:ﬁ fﬂ.?#pﬂmmitis.v‘w,mMfmln.daﬁun&n.nﬂﬂl.;iﬂfﬂ.‘

ifice which is conjectured to have been n dwelling-place for priests
and officials ; ln_npenmunmnmnun&zdh}'mmnfwﬂch,ﬁﬂlmbmﬂhﬂ
running round its walls, may have been the meeting-place of & religious society;
rectangular rooms with similar stone benches occur at the Argive Herarum and at
&#ﬂmﬂ'ﬂhhﬂﬂlﬂﬂmmﬂmmdhmﬂﬁmnmutﬂmhﬂl

Minor finds, chiefly from the fll of the and
1 is, f the temple terrace, include Mycenacan

nmu-:rchmfhnhﬂfﬂﬂftﬂr.mdmduuthmthcpmchﬂm:yhmebemm'
mzmdmthennrlhcmnu}n.c..hmthatanmmuyu{m:mcdﬂtdhﬂ‘:ﬂ‘
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XXXV
SPARTA

‘T#iss site has been explored by the British School at Athens, in 1906-1910, 1924-1927 (se2
its Awnual, xil-xvi., xxvi.-xxviii.,, and the monograph by R. M. Dawkins and others:
The Excavation of the Sanctuary of Artemis Orthia af Sports, London, t92g). The
statement of Theeydides (i 10} is in genersl confirmed, that the city contained no
mmﬂhuﬁhgs.mdﬁuﬂhwmﬂmmdm“thingbutrbuﬂlﬁnﬁ
and foundations left, it would seem incredible to posterity that such a city should ever
have been so great and powerful. Few of the points mentioned by Pacsanias have
been identified ; notwithstanding, a well-documented pictare of the place and its
culture has been obtained (Guy Dickins, in Tke Burlington Magasine, xiv, 1008-1909,
66-84) ; the principal topographical results are presented on our plate, which has
been kindly revised by M. A. Woodward, Esq., former Director of the British School,

_ Ancient Sparta stood upon = hroad stretch of fairly level ground, broken by a few
low eminences (some 50 ft. high), including the acropolis, on the right bank of the
Eurotas, where the river makes a bend to the 5.-E. Thus the city was bounded on
the N, and E. by the wide gravelly bed of the river, To the S, of these hills is a level
I!Iﬂ:hnfhnd.m.imﬂ: ACTOSS ; uﬂiuS.it'mtaminatudbytbnluwbrmd-badtd
ridge, running E. and W., on which stands New Sparta. To the 5. this is bounded
bylhcdmﬂqwfn,hemﬁnwi:ngfmmw.luE..:oIaJ]‘mtutheEmutunliﬂkbduW
the town. Wﬂtwatﬂtthephinmd&;ur4mﬂumﬂlefmtuﬁhﬂmg:nle}Fgm
which rises abruptly to the height of nearly 8ooo ft.

There were sertlements during the Bronze Age at two well-known sites in the

i to the S-E., Amyclae and the Menelaeum ; the presence of a few
sherds, described as seeming ** undoubtedly of Myceanean fabric,” near the Chalifotkos
wtdunﬂﬁf,}.w&ntﬁmhdfhdhﬂnmphdiﬂm
measare in the second millenniom B.C.; but the real importance of the city begins
with the coming of the Dorians at the first millennium.

The acropolis walls are late Roman. The circuit of the town-walls of the late
third century 8.C. has been traced at many points : it was ea. g ft. thick, a stone base
wiﬂ;anlp:rmudnuﬂfunhnl:dhﬁﬂ:tm&dwﬁhtﬂu. It followed the natural
mmgi:ﬁn:.wbinhiududedlﬂtb:hillnfﬂu acropolis, down to the brook on its N,
as well ps two sharply isolated ridges to its N.-W., and extended as far as the Eurotas
mmtﬂ.,hdudiugtheah:intnfﬂnhia,whﬂetuﬁ.ittmkinmustnfﬂmmlnfmndﬂn

Sparta.

Ththdckhthﬁmrheiluftht:mpuﬁsmebditinthzﬁnmuim#ﬂoduﬁ
twice restored.

Above the theatre are the foundations of the famous sanctuary of Athena Chalkioibos;
the space betwesn the two has proved rich in finds.

Thethﬁuehibmnfuﬂyinv:ﬂigﬂd;i:i.sun:ufth;elngﬁlinﬁr:m.uﬁ:he
wmtm:d-m-tmmtm&dy[mﬂmmﬁunfﬂrﬂmﬂmpiu;
the N. wall of the E. paroder contains many inscriptions.

htﬁnEnmlufﬁnannpoﬁungchﬂbetnfumﬂnByﬂ[ﬁmchﬂrﬂl‘ﬁhm
mhntﬁngmmn,andhmmthh-d:puitaikmmtm—mﬂumdafnmmlda
for their manufacture.

The sanctuary of (Artemis) Orthia lies near the bed of the Eurotas: a theatre-like
structure of concrete was erected in Roman times for the convenience of spectatnrs
“mw-bﬂ”ﬁ:pﬂdm.dnr,mdmpkmﬁmm‘w,w
of earlier periods ; the cult began at some time between 1000 and 740 B.C.; & 600
md"“nm'“mmm'hﬂhmmmnﬂﬁm‘dmphyuﬂf
sand ; valuable data were here obtained as to stratification and chronology.

hmmdm"TmbﬂM"Wm.dﬂ!HEWj
have been found four tombs (at Sparts, burial was permitted within the walls) ; these
lie wlong the S. limit of the supposed site of the market-place. ’

Several mosaic pavements in the present town testify to the R od

MWE%WWTMMW“%MM.:gnﬁ}ixmcq{themnhr
p:l!tlﬂlnprmm:-l' immnm-ﬂpﬁdﬂﬂrfurcﬂudu,miﬂqhh,mdthc

i Throne ; the most important fvories and bronzes, and the
early Eith-century marble Siatue from the acropalis, are i the Athens Museom.
Reihe, iil. 12651528, and Lippold, in Pauly-Wissown, Real-Encpel., 36
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XXXVI
MESSENE

FioM Kalemota, the probable site of the ancient Pharae, the road which Fausanins
followed runs N.-W. across the fertile plain between hedges of huge fantastically-shaped
-cactuses and groves of fig-trees, olives and vines. In front of us loom nearer and nearer
the twin peaks of Ithome and Eva, rising boldly and abruptly from a single base on the
W. side of the plain, about midway between the N. hills and the gulf, and forming the
natural citadel, as it were, of the whole country.  Eva, the lower of the two, les to the
S. or 5.-E. of Ithome, with which it is connected by & ridge or saddle about half-way
up the two mountains, Mt lthome was one of the most venerable cult-sites of Greece,
and portions of is walls may date from the early period of Messenian independence ;
but the establishment of the city-fortress, to serve as the centre of a liberated and restored
Messenia, was the work of Epamincndas and the Thebans, after the Spartan domination
had been broken at Leuctra in 371 B.C.: together with Megalopolis and Mantines it
was designed to hold Sparta in check. The city itself lay on the W, side, in the cup
formed by the converging slopes of the two mountains. The site may be compared to
an immense theatre, of which the back is formed by the saddle in question and the wings
by Ithome and Eva. The hamlet of Maromati (sce below) lies nearly in the middle.
Mt Eva iteelf was not included within the fortifications of Messene.

The circuit of the walls is ra, 5§ miles, Large portions remain and are the finest
specimens of Greek fortifications in existence. The best-preserved parts are the N, and
N.-W. ; the worst-preserved are on the slope on the S. side, where the wall has in some
cases disappeared. The celebrated Arcadisn Gate is discussed on No. XXXVIL 1.
(ch:mmth:b:ﬂpmen:ﬂmﬂutwnimm:&mymthcﬁ,nf:hcm
Gate, where the wall begins to ascend the rocky slope of Mt Ithome. They are a.
llﬂ.mre,andiﬁtypmiectljft.fmmthrcuminm]in:ﬂfraﬂ; their height is
ca. 31t Thqminmndnrh,thzlnweru{whkhisen:emdﬁnmmempafﬂm
curtain by doors on each side. In the lower storey are four loopholes for missiles, two
to the front and one on each side, In the uppﬂtbmnreii:mallrinduws,mmuch
of the sides except the back. In the walls are visible the holes for the rafters which sup-
ported the floor of the upper story, and the walls are set back toleave room for the ends
of the floor-planks to rest on. The eurtain between the towers is g ft. thick. Both
curtaine and towers in this part of the walls are built entirely of large squared blocks,
admirably cut and joined. At all the salient angles the towers are not square but form
sbout § of a circle, and generally have sally-ports. Whereas at Mantinen only the lower

of the walls seems to have been built of stone, the upper part having apparently

built of unburnt brick, we have Pausanias's word for it that the whole circuit of
the walls of Messene was built of stone from top to bottom ; for he adds (iv. 31. 5)
* and there are towers and battlements on it ; and then he says, ** I have not seen
the walls of Babylon, or the Memnonian walls at Susa in Persia, nor have I heard of
them from people who have seen them ; but Ambrosus in Phocls, Byzantium, and
R]:{:dg:mt’mﬁﬁadinth:butst}'lc,mﬂyﬂthewﬂhofbimmmzuthm

Pausanias next goes to the market-place and the lower town, where many remains
I'-flntu]u.'l.t_',’ have always been visible, and in addition to the large structures such as the
stadium and theatre, Greek archasologists in recent years have revealed various details
of the dity (G. P. Oikonomaos, in Tparmed, 1900, 201-205).

[3.;!, i P !I:In the way to the summit of Ithome, where is the acropolis of Messene,
there is a spring called Clepsydra™ This is generally taken to be the fine spring which
issues in several jets from an ancient wall, and, being itself called Mavromalni, or
ﬁhtfy:&"hu given its name to the hamlet. When at the market-place, Patsanias

observed u water-basin called Arsinog ; ** water flows underground into it from &
spring called Clepsydra ™ (31, 6) ; hence the market-place was to be looked for some-
what to the S, of the spring, where in fact its remains have been found.
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‘m GROUND PLAN OF THE ARCADIAN
GATE AT MESSENE

~ (2) GROUND PLAN OF ONE OF THE
GATES OF MANTINEA
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XXXVII (1)
GROUND PLAN OF THE ARCADIAN GATE AT MESSENE

For Messene, see No. XXXVL This gete lies in the N, wall, directly under Mt
Ithome. Itis a double gate : in other words, an outer gate in the line of the city-wall
gpens into a spacious circular court with high walls, at the opposite end of which is an
inner gate. At the latter may still be seen the enarmous stone which formed the lintel ;
it is broken in two, but measured over 18] fi. in length, The circular court, ca. 62 ft. in
diamcter, is built in the most magnificent style of masanry : the lowest course is s row of
stones, each ca. 5§ fi. long and half as much high ; the next course has stones of equal
Imgthludhdfﬂmhﬂght.tbejuhunfwhi:hammﬂymﬂmmduchm
in the lower course ; the other courses are not quite so regular, but the stones are joined
and finished with the same wonderful accuracy ; their surface is given a striated finish,
To both right and left of the outer gateway (16 ft. 10 in. wide), on its inner side, is a semi-
circular niche, doubtless for a statuee ; over the left-hand one is an inscription (£, &. V. 4
1460), probably referring to the restoration of the statur in Roman times. The outer
gate i fanked on the exterior by two square towers. - From the inner gate a paved road
leads inwards uphill for 40 paces; it is marked lengthwise with the ruts of chariot-
ﬂhﬂﬂimdﬂm-wiuwﬂhmlswhi:hlﬂ'ﬂrdﬂifmthddfurthehﬂm

XXXVII (2)
GROUND PLAN OF ONE OF THE GATES OF MANTINEA

E!Gmoflh:gnmm:ﬁnb:tnmd,nnﬂi:mmpmbulaludauthﬂemtwm
Their plan differs somewhat in drtail, but the object in all of them was to expose an
attacking enemy to cross fire. At all except one, the circuit-wall overlaps, 5o that the
approach is throogh a passage, from both sides of which the assailant could be attacked
by the defenders ; and all these gates open in such a direction that an enemy attacking
to each gate was defended by two towers, one on cach side ; some are round, other
square, one at least is pentagonal. The gate on the N.-W., however, leading to Clitor,
it constructed on a different plan: a straight entrance, an outer half-moon court
defended by round towers, and an inner rectangular court.

XXXVII (3)
ALEA

THE hill of Ales is connected by a saddle on the N. with the higher mountains, and
from here it slopes gradually S. in the form of a ridge till it subsides into the plain;
the ridge falls away steeply on the E. and W. ; at its highest point, on the N., it may be
some 600 ft. above the plain. The city walls are well preserved on the E. and W. sides
of the ridge. The one on the E. side does not follow the line of the ridge southward but
strikes down the steep slope 4l it reaches the plain. The terminations of these two lines
of wall in the plain must have been farmerly united by a third wall, but no remains of it
exist, Then.nglentﬂ::tuphuhmnuoﬁhymnumwal&.mfmmmimgdui}'
quadrangular acropolis. Both sets of walls arc well preserved.  They are bailt of grey
limestone in the polygonal style. The masonry is solid and substantial but rather rough.
Squlumnpm&cctnhltcmh,humnmmd:dtithﬂxcm The thickness
of the walls, where both faces are preserved, is co. 10 f1. ; and the greatest height pre-
served ¢a. 16 ft. ﬂn#d'thth:‘g‘tllbluﬂhisgﬂ.lnnghg4&high, The two inner
walls are built of very massive polygonal blocks. The prescnt view is that these fortifi-
uﬂnnu-ppcumd:tcﬁumm:ﬁmzuﬂhzadlmlqgnh The view from the hill
embraces the valleys an both sides, with high barren mountains rising from them and
bounding the horizon in all directions.
Lattermana, in fakrd. d. Jasz,, xxix. (1914), Anseiper, 103.

o4



ARCADIAN GATE AT MESSENE

Nain

Falley

Valtley

o — ———— ——— __—

Road to Etgmphalus

ALEA

95







XXXVIII
PYLUS AND SPHACTERIA




XXXvVIN
PYLUS AND SPHACTERIA

THE remote and desolate island of Sphacteria is indeed, as Pansanias ohserved (iv. 36. 4),
anexample of how ** human fortunes can confer renown en places previously unknown ™ ;
the tale of the military operations which lasted seventy-two days in the year 425 B.C. s
told by Thucydides (iv. 2-go0). Of better omen, however, for the fortunes of Greece
was the battle that was fought in the bay of Navarine on zoth October, 1827 A.D.
Naturally, the 5.-W. corner of the Peloponnesus would become the theatre of decisive
operations between powers contesting the control of Greek waters,

Coryphasium is the rocky promontory at the N. end of the bay of Nevarins.
It is connected with the mainland on the E, only by two narrow strips of land enclosing
a lspoon ; on the 5. side it is scparated by & narrow channel (132 yards wide at its
narrowest point, and only ca. 2 fi. deep at the E. end, where it is ca. 250 yards across)
from the Island of Sphagia or Sphacteria. This island extends S. for ca. 2§ miles, in
front of the bay of Navarimo. Coryphasium itself forms a rough platean, rising from
5. to N.; the summit (450 fr. high) is at the N. extremity ; on the E., towards the
lagoon, it is a precipice ; towards the sea it slopes more gradually, especially at the
5.-W. corner, where the Athenians repelled the Spartans’ attempt to land. Remains
of ancient buildings are found nesr the middle of the S. wall of the Venetian castle
which crowns the promontory, and also on the N.-E. side ; some of these are fragments
of walls built in the regular polygonal style ; others are of rough Cyclopean masonry ;
there is a large piece of & Cyclopean wall on the W. side, constructed of great rough
blocks, the interstices being filled with smaller stones. Ancient cisterns and staircascs
hewn in the rock may also be seen.

1t appears that the lngoon of Ormas Ape is pradually being sanded up, as is also the
channel which separates Coryphasium from the island of Sphacteria ; it scems probahle
that the sand-bank which now separates the lagoon from the bay of Naverins did not
exist in antiquity—it was all the of Pylus.

For Pausanias the prcmau.tm:agf Can;-phnm'un was the site not only of the Pylus
of historical times but of the Homeric Pylus, the abode of Nestor., Strabo, however
{viii. 3. 22-29), had argued at some length that the Homeric Pylus lay in Triphylia, to
the M. of the Neda ; he is doubtless following a Hellenistic tradition ; and the contro-
versy is not yet closed.  The discovery at mod. Kabovator in Triphylia of a tholos tomb
with Bronze Age objects (Sir Arthur Evans, in f. &. 5. xlv. (1925), 43-46) has put the
question in a new light, and srchaeologists are now more ready than they were thirty
years ago to place the Pylus of Nestor in the region which Strabo claimed for it, and
even, by convention, to associate the tomb at Asbopater with the Homeric hero. There
are other instunces on the map of Greece where it is either certain or probable that with
a shifting of population between the second and the first millennia 8.C. there has been
a transference of place-names. There may even have been (leaving aside the Pylus in
Hollow Elis) a third Pylus, intermediate in both time and place between the other two:
for according to Stmbeo (viil. 4. 2) the Messenian Pylus lay originally inland, at the
foot of Mt. Aegaleum, and it was only after the destruction of this inland city that some
of the people moved to Coryphasium and scttled there.

In any case, in Pausanins’s day on Coryphasium there were paointed out to visitors
the house of Nestor, his tomb, and ** a cave, in which they say that the cows of Nestor
and of Neleus before him were stalled.” This cave may still be seen; it is o spacious
high-roofed stalactite cavern on the N, slope of the promontory ; this was the cave
where in the Homeric Ayma fo Hermes the young gpod is said to have stowed away the
stolen cattle of Apallo.

Space forbids & discussion of the campaign of Sphacteria, except to repeat Leake's
words, that * an inspection of the island illustrates the description of Thucydides in the
most satisfactory manner,” except for his under-estimating the width of the two chan-
nels ; "thzlndmdmmufwuﬂh:th:midﬂ]:-hﬂcmm,mmd
—the summit at the N. end to which they retired—the landing places on the W, side, to
which the Helots brought provisions, are all perfectly recognisable

o8












XXXIx
OLYMPIA

Tﬂ:uudpnﬁuﬂmﬁlﬁsufth:d&wicdpuind;ppunmhuzfmdnqmdﬁ-
lutern.]nfu.;rjnﬂ_IongfmmE.tuW.,hy;;'uft.bcrmdﬁmN.mS. Its boundary
mrﬁ:N,hmhm.hmpmhblyhmfmudhyMtCmnim. To W., 5., and
E. it was bounded by a wall, the greater part of which can still be traced. On the E,
ItutendsbuhindduEdmCulmld:,mdmattheum&m:nsdumppmﬁug*
wall of the stadium, On the W., remains of two walls ean be seen extending parallel
h.lhdwﬂ}ﬂnasbutdistamnfmnhnmer,furnlmgmy‘ The inner of these dates
ﬁomthgﬂnckpeﬁnd,mbnhlrthelgtdmm; the outer is shown by the
meﬁmﬁmdmﬂs,mm*mmﬁemmmmwwfmt
to be of Roman date, The S. wall is also Boman. Originally, the S. boundary-wall
seems to have been further to the N., on the line of the S. terrace wall. Thuos we learn
that in Roman times the Altis was enlarged on the S.; this may have been the wark
of Nero, who converted the building at the 5.-E. corner of the Altis intn a palace.
Theuldﬂhﬂa.ppear:inmnnjrphmtnhwebccnnn]yulw:ndume.nntlhigh
boundary-wall. No trace of a gatewny older than the Roman period has been found ;
the existing gateways are all of Roman construrtion, It appears that the grand gate-
way at the 5.-E. comer was built by Nero as a new processional entrance, but that
mmmmmmmmmmmmwafmmp:mw
~W. gate.

The position of an early sacred grove may be demarked by the water channels
m.clntingﬂdeupuhunmdtthcusTmﬁ:withmtammS‘mdﬁnE. Pre-
historic remains (rubble foundations of apsidal huts ; stone implements ; rude pottery)
have been found to the E. of the Herneum,

The indications on the plan are to be supplemented as follows: at the N.-W.
mﬁ&:ﬂnmahgﬁﬂnhn{thenﬂufﬂnﬂhﬂmmupmdh}ﬂmﬁﬂm
freshets of the winter of 1928-1920. The treasuries are identified by their numbers
thus: I. Sicyonians. 11, III, not mentioned by Pausanias. IV. Syracosans, V.
Epidamnians. VL Sybarites. VIL Byzantines. VIIL. Cyrenaeans. I Selinun-
tines. X. Metapontines. XI. Megarians. XII. Geloans (the last originally faced E. ;
the 5. porch is an addition). To the W. of No. I are one other treasury with its altar,
and a corner of still another, which were concealed and partially destroyed when the
Exedra of Herodes Atticus was built, The determination of the original function of
the 5.-W. group of buildings (Heroum, Theocoleon, Byzantine Church, etc.) has besn
the subject of discussion; the theory of A. Schwarzstein (Eine Gebdudegruppe in
Cymgpia, Strassburg, 1900) appears convincing, that in the sixth and following cen-
turies B.C. the pymnasinm with its sppurtenances, including baths, stood here; in
later times fundamental modifications were introduced. The long narrow structure
tnl.heS.uEth.isg-mup,wi-dzrhin,pmfrbnﬂtwallg,isﬂ:mtnbeidmﬁﬁ:duﬂu
studio of Phidias.

The Zeus Templs is discussed at No. XL ; the Hera Temple at No. XLI; the
Hippodrome at No. XLIL. 1.

E. N. Gardiner, Olympria, Jis Hivtory and Remains, Oxford, 1925.

Too
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' THE TEMPLE OF ZEUS AT OLYMPIA:

GROUND PLAN RESTORED




XL k

THE TEMPLE OF ZEUS AT OLYMPIA: GROUND FLAN
RESTORED

EVIDESCE as to date hos been obtained by an examination of monuments under and
above the terrace fill ; the former are dated not much earlier than 430 B.C., and the
latter between 468 and 452. Agpain, the Lacedarmonians hung on the E. gable &

shield in commemoration of the victory at Tanagra, 457 8.c. Therefore the
temple was built between 480 and 452 B.C.

This, the most important of all the buildings at Olympia, stands in the S.-W.
comer of the precinct: the rest of the precinct was alrendy occopied by buildings
and ultars; whether an older temple stood on the site is not known, although an
attempt hae been made to demonstrate this (Lehmann-Hartleben, in_fadrd, des fust.,
=xxvif-xxxix. (1923-1924), 37-48). The ground here slopes towards the 5.; it was
nrcessary fo raise it in order to give the temple its commanding position.  The founda-
tions are sunk more than 1 metre decp in the original soil ; they rise to an sverage
height of ca. 3 metres ahove the original level of the ground ; round sbout the temple
an artificial mound was raised so s to hide the foundations ; these latter consist of
sepamte units to support the upper walls and the rows of columns. 7

The temple was of very large proportions, Doric, hexastyle, and consisted of local
limestone, containing many fossil shells ; this inferior material was coated with stucco.
The sculptured portions—pediments; 2 6 metopes over the spaces between the
emfae ; cornice, and roof-tiles,—are of Parian marhle except where Prntelic was used
in restoration ; inthefeﬂa,uaﬂnpt:dtnmnﬂ.'mfhidlﬂ'lmmt,daﬂiﬂﬂﬂhhﬂ
stone and Pentelic marble are used ; the ceilings were of wood.

Pausanias devotes to this building and jts cult-statue the fullest description of o
Greek temple and the representation of its divinity which any ancient author has trans-
mitted to us, His account is confirmed by the remains ; the sculpured pediments;
metopes and other details are installed in the local museum.

The extericr had the adornment of colour, for traces have been detected on many
of the architectural members—red on the rings of the capitals, on the upper part of
the architrave, etc, and blue on the triglyphs, on the gutfar of the architrave, etc.;
some painted decorations in the form of leaves, ete., have been traced on the geiron
and rima.

A great ramp formed the principal, Eastern, approach ; it was enlarged on both
sides in Roman times, On the exterior metopes on the E. front and at the E. end of
the S. side hung the twenty-one gilded shields dedicated by Mummius; and the E.
part of the S. stylobate has the cuttings for the supports of the fect of a number of
bronze statoes ; it was this part of the temple which was most in view as processions
or individuals followed the wsual route from W. to E. and then to N, before entering
the temple from the E.

The colonnade was paved with large blocks of limestone, on which was laid good
Greek cement incorporating river pebhbles ; in Roman times this was concealed beneath
a rich pavement of various coloured stones including alabaster,

The bronze doors mentioned by Pausanins have left their traces on the threshold
of the temple ; the floor of the fore-temple contains the remains of & Greek river-pebble
mosaic in two panels representing sea creatures within borders of palmettes and meander-
ing lines ; there was a third smaller panel in front of the statue-bhase to N. ; all thess
were concealed in Roman times by a rich pavement like that of the peristasis, and are
now covered up for protection ; of the great doors which led into the cella very few
traces survive on the threshold.

Down the length of the celfs were two double-storied rows of Doric columns ; the
galleries were reached by two winding stairwnys next to the entrance. OF the three
divisions of the ceila, from front to back, the first, with regular limestone slab pave-
ment, was accessible to worshippers, the second, paved with Eleusinian stone, and the
third, occupied by the base of the statue, were screened off by o barrier ; this arrange-
ment was not the ariginal one.

Hestoration by J. K. Smith, in Mem. of the Amer. Acad. in Rome, iv, (1024), 153168,

o2
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XL :

THE TEMPLE OF ZEUS AT OLYMPIA: GROUND PLAN
RESTORED

EVIDENCE 5 to date has been obfained by an examination of monuments under and
above the terrace fill ; the former are dated not much earlier than 480 B.c., and the
lntter between 468 and 452, Agpain, the Lacedaemonians hung on the E, a
golden shield in commemoration of the victory at Tanagra, 457 B.c. Therefore the
temple was built between 480 and 452 B.C.

This, the most important of all the buildings at Olympia, stands in the S-W.
corner of the precinct: the rest of the precinct was already occupied by buildings
and altars ; whether an older temple stood on the site is not known, although an
attempt has been made to demonstrate this (Lehmann-Hartleben, in_fakrd. des Just.,
xxwwiit -xawix. (1g23-1924), 37-48). The ground here slopes towards the 5.; it was
necessary to raise it in order to give the temple its commanding position.  The founda-
tions are sunk more than T metre deep in the original soil ; they rise to an average
height of ca. 3 meires above the original level of the ground ; Tound about the temple
an artificial mound was raised so 25 to hide the foundations ; these latter consist of
scparate units to support the upper walls and the rows of columns,

The temple was of very large proportions, Doric, hexastyle, and consisted of local
limestone, containing msny fossil shells ; this inferior material was coated with stucco.
The sculptured portions—pediments ; 2 %6 metopes over the spaces between the
entas ; cornice, and roof-tiles,—are of Parian marble except where Pentelic was used
in restoration; in the celfa, as adapted to contain Phidias’s statue, dark Eleusinian
stone and Pentelic marble are used ; the ceilings were of wood.

Paunsanins devotes to this building and its cult-statue the fullest description of a
Greek temple and the representation of its divinity which any ancient author has trans-
mitted to us. His account is confirmed by the remains ; the sculptured pediments,
metopes and other details are installed in the local museum.

The exterior had the adornment of colour, for traces have been detected on many
of the architectural members—red on the rings of the capitals, on the upper part of
the architrave, etc., and blue on the triglyphs, on the guifer of the architrave, eic.;
some painted decorations in the form of leaves, etc., huve been traced on the grvion
and rima.

A great ramp formed the principal, Eastern, spproach ; it was enlarged on bath
Ilﬂ.ﬂlnnmll:;lmﬂ.. DnthumiormewpﬁunthrE.fmnrmdaHheE.mﬂd
the 5. side hung the twenty-one gilded shields dedicated by Mummius; and the E.
part of the 5. stylobate has the cuttings for the supports of the feet of a number of
bronze statues ; it was this part of the temple which was most in vicw as processions
or individuals followed the usunl route from W. to E. and then to N. before entening
the temple from the E.

Thcmlmd:mpv:dwﬂhh:g:ﬂuﬁsbflﬁmum.aﬂwhichmhﬂgmﬂ
Greek cement incorporating river pebbles ; in Roman times this was concealed beneath
a rich pavement of various coloured stones including alabaster.

The bronze doors mentioned by Pausanias have left their traces on the threshald
of the temple; the floor of the fore-temple contains the remains of 3 Greek river-pebhble
maosaic in two panels representing sea creatures within borders of palmettes snd meander-
ing lines ; there wos & third smaller panel in front of the statue-base to N, ; all thess
were concealed in Roman times by a rich pavement like that of the peristasis, and ane
now covered up for protection ; of the grest doors which led into the colia very few
traces survive on the threshold.

Down the length of the crlfa were two double-storied rows of Dorie columns ; the
galleries were reached by two winding stairways next to the entrance.  OF the three
divisions of the erdla, from front to back, the first, with regular limestone slab pave-
R T L L T

were jer : thi
ment was not the original one. g s this aorma
mh"]a K. Smith, in e, Bff.il' Amer, dcad. in fﬂ-'_ v, {:m}, ls}.lﬂ.
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XL1
THE TEMPLE OF HERA AT OLYMPIA

"
This is one of the earliest purely Greek temples known to us in & state of relative
completeness ; and jts study throws much light on the early history of Greelk archi-
tecture. It stands at the foot of Mt. Cronins, on the N, side of the Altis. At this
point the ground sloped away to the 5. and W, and in order to obiain a level surface
it was necessary to cut away part of the foot of the hill and to pile up the soil so obtained
further to the S, The foot of the hill was then supported by a wall rising in steps.
In consequence of the yielding nature of the soil, the temple has sunk on the S, and
W. Recent excavations in and about the foundations have shown that the edifice in
its present form is due to & rebuilding in the seventh century §.c—its terrs-cotta revet-
ment is contemporary with fully-developed Proto-Corinthian cernmics; there were
two earlier structures occupying the same space, at lower levels, but the earlier of
these had no enclosing colonnade, and in the second the columns were of wood (E.
Douglas Van Buren, Gr. Fret. Rew., pp. 49 L)

We are here concerned, however, with the structure which is preserved. Its
material is a shell-conglomerate. It had only a single step : the course below is merely
part of the foundations. At a later time, with the change in the level of the ground
shout the temple, more steps were added where required.

The order is Doric ; the columns differ in shape, size and kind of stone ; the varna-
tions in the capitals are especially obvious. Pausanias mentions that in his time one
of the two columns in the sprsthodomas was of cak-wood. The usual explanation
is the one proposed by Dr. Dérpfeld, that original wooden columns were
replaced by stone ones, executed in the style current at the time. The use of stone
columns here had begun as early as the sixth or even seventh century B.C., for some of
the capitals are amongst the most archaic specimens of Doric architecture known. It
is mot, however, necessary to assume in all cases that they replaced wooden ones, nor
that such previously existing wooden columns had already stood in position until they
had deteriorated to such an extent as to require replacement ; there is the example of
the original marble columns in the temple of Artemis at Ephesus, inscribed ns the
dedication of King Croesus, to attest the practice of dedicating individual columns,

Of the entablature not a trace was discovered ; it is highly probable that down to
the destruction of the temple it remained of wood. This inference is confirmed by
the unusually great distance between the columns. The reduction in the intercolumnar
space at all the corners implies that there was already a frieze of triglyphs and metopes,
requiring such an adjustment to allow the end triglyphs to come st the very corners.

The roof had a complete system of term-cotta tiles, including a great disc abroferson
mnd semicircular antefixes.

The lower part of the celia walls, of squared blocks, is remarkably well preserved.
E:mﬁilmdr.(n.jﬁ.hi[h,th:ﬂn“mfm:mlllhin Bjnmm;fmlﬂ
ime incorporating classical fragments. The must originally bave been
some other material ; bolﬁwuuda:ﬂhkndhiwmp‘;tdndnd; unburnt or sun-dried
brick is the necessary conclusion. The interior of the temple was found to be covered
in many places by a layer of greenish clay, ca. 3 fi. thick, into which the Hermes of
Praxiteles had fallen, and over which the Byzantines erected their buildings ; this
doubtless is due to the disintegration of the unburnt bricks, when expased to moisture.
Thus is explained the unnsual thickness (1.18 metres) of the walls, and the cuttings
at the entor and doors, indicating a sheathing of planks at these points,

The long, nurrow cedls had eight columns on each side, to support the roof-beams ;
they align with the exterior columns. At an earlier time, four short cross-walls pro-
jected =0 as to meet every second column ; these were climinated, but their foundations
m[ with traces on the walls; compare the cross-walls at Bassae, No

. The friable sandstone of the base of the cult-statue recurs in the head of that statue
itself (in the museum), and in other early monuments such as treasuries,
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XLII

el

"T‘Ii " (1) HIPPODROME AT OLYMPIA

2 H,(a} MARKET-PLACE AT ELIS: PLAN OF f
AUSTRIAN EXCAVATIONS TO 1912




XLIT (1)
HIFFODROME AT OLYMPIA

PAUsAN1AS describes this structure and ifs arrangements at some length (vi. 20.10:21.1):
it lay beyond the stadium, in a corner of the valley of the Alpheus; one side of it con-
sisted of & hank of carth and the other was a low hill. No remains have been found.

Pausanins's description of the hippodrome, and especially of the ingenious mechan-
ism, resembling the prow of a ship, for starting the chariot-races and horse-races, is ex-
plained by this ground plan, based on that drawn by Hirt from Pausanias's text. aais the
Colonnade of Agnaptus, § the altar of unburnt brick set up in the middle of the * prow,”
¢ “ the tip of the beak ™ where the bronze dolphin stood, o are the tuming-posts, on
one of which stood stames of Pelops and Hippodamia, and « is the goal, with the scats
of the umpires beside it. The round altar of Taraxippus, the terror of the horses, seems
to have stood somewhere near the turning-point—perhaps it was here that the horses
caught sight of their shadows; it was the confusion of this turn which especially taxed
the skill of the drivers and lent zest to the competition.

XLII (2)

MARKET-PLACE AT ELIS: PLAN OF AUSTRIAN EXCAVATIONS
TO 1912

THi1s spot has intimate associations with the Olympia festivals, Its identification is con-
firmed by the discovery, to its N.-E., of the theatre, which Pausanias describes as situated
between the market-place and the stream Menius. Pausanias’s account (vi. 24) is so
precise as to cause unusual interest to attach to the Austrian excavations, the plan of
hich is here reproduced, with the courteous permission of the publishers, from
EIW.!IWM#, xvi. (1913), Befblat? 145. The several buildings have

suficred much from depredations, owing to the slight depth of earth with which they
were covered ; they are as follows : A. So-called Hall of Pillars. B, So-called West
Hall. C. Temple-shaped Building, under the érapyucds dpiuor. D. So-called North
Building. E,, E, Tile drains. F. Tile pavement. G. Rubble foundation of uncertain
purpose. H. Remains of a great cistern.  J. Ramp. K. Late Baths, X-X." érapgicde
dpdper.

See Osterr. Jakresh, xiv. (1911), Beibl g7-116; xvi. (1913), Besbl. 145-152; viil,
(ro1s), Besbl. 61-76; Sfahrb. des Just, xxix. (1914), Ans. 137-140; ‘Apy. Arkriow, L
1915, app. 60-72.

The conclusion of the Austrian excavators is that althoogh there is no doubt that
these and several other bufldings lie on the market-place or in its immedinte vicinity,
still it does not appear possible to identify any of them on the basis of Pausanias's de-
mﬁoﬂﬁhnhhin:d:ﬁnﬂ:mmpthnofthﬂbumd-ﬁumdmedhpu&&mdm
market-place,

Pausaniassays: * The market-place of Elis is not constructed after the fashion which
prevails in lonia and in the Greek cities which border on Tonia. It is built in the older
style, with separate colonnades and strests between them." In other words, st Elis,
as apparently at Athens, Sicyon and elsewhere, the market-place was not laid out in
accordance with a simple plan of one architect, but rather was the result of o gradeal
lines, so that the whole area can hardly have had the form of a regular rectangle.
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XLIIT

GROUND PLAN OF THEATRE AND MARKET-PLACE OF
MANTINEA

This arca was cleared by the French in their excavations of 1887-1888, The market:
place is a large rectangular space, bounded oo the W, by the theatre and on the N, and
E. by colonnades which, with the exception of the one next the theatre, appear to be
of Roman date, Inscriptions found in the N. colonnede and dating, apparently, from
ﬂll!Eﬂiyﬁ'ﬁtﬂmturrh.n.[ﬂG.V,ﬁ.:ﬁﬂ}upmk:fg:mnmnstmcﬁmu:Etﬂldiﬂthﬂ
market-place by one Euphrosynus, son of Titus, and by his wife Epigone, daughter of
Artemon ; they restored temples, and built banquetting-halls and treasuries for
socicties.  Epigone further erected a basmar surrounded by workshops, an exedra of
semicircular hall, and a marble colonnade.

As the theatre was built on & dead fiat, the back had to be supported artificially
this was done by means of & wall of massive polygonal blocks forming rather more
than = semicircle. The wings are not systematically placed with regard to each other,
nor is the stage symmeirical with the rest of the theatre, Outside staircases led up to
the seats from the wings and from the W. and 5.-W. On the upper course of the front
wall of the stage are the holes and traces of the columns, apparently sixteen in number,
which decorated the front of the stage ; in the middle of the front wall is a doorway.
The stage-walls are built of rough blocks, fitted with earth and mortar, They are of
Roman date, and so apparently is the rest of the theatre, except the supporting-wall
and the outside W. staircase, the remains of which are built of fine pelygonal masonry.

At the W. end of the N. side of the market-place, close to the N, wing of the theatre,
is & small paved rectangle with traces of columns ; it seems to have been originally s
portal to the market-place, but to have been blocked up and rendered uselessshy the
construction of the theatre. To the E. of this portal extended & colonnade, the front
line of which was a pavement of white limestone with a row of nine round holes in
which no doubt Doric columns were set; its massive foundations are a proof of its
antiquity, and it may be a remnant of the original market-place. In front of it are the
foundations of a semicircular structure, either the pedestal of o groop of statuary or a
scat. To the E. of this colonnade, still on the N. side of the market-place, was an
entrance, beyond which snother line of colonnades extended E. At the back of the
first one was constructed an edifice, perhaps in two stories, somewhat resembling the
Exedra of Herodes Atticus at Olympia: an oblong portion in front, and a semicircular
portion: behind ; this may have been the sxedra of Epigone (see nbove). Within it
were found the remains of an earlier edifice which must have been pulled down to make
room for it : apparently a square court with rows of Doric columns of conglomerate
coated with stucco, possibly an old bazaar which was replaced by Epigone's. To the
E. again is another colonnade, the calumns and roof of which were probahly of wood,
and behind it a number of badly-built rooms surrounding a small paved rectangular
court, probably the bazaar of Epigone itself ; its entrance was to the E.

The colonnade which bounds the E. side of the market-place may have been the
marble colonnade erected by Epigone; the two halls of rabble and brick, abutting on
its back, at the N.-E., may be the banquetting-halls of the inscription. At the 5.-E.
corner of the market-place a street entered it from the S., skirting on its right a long colon-
nade, at the back of which is a large building of bricks and slight materials, divided
into a number of compartments.  Just to the W, of the point where the street enters the
market-place, a small rectangular structure projects into the market-place ; the care-
fully-wrought marble basement supported a three-sided colonnade. The building in
thcmddhﬂ‘tb:ﬁ.ddennh:mrin-phukinihminpwﬁmﬂgmdﬂm&m;
the Ionic colonnade on its S, side is apparently s later addition ; the building may be
the Councdil House.

. Fougtres, Mantinde ef I Arcadis orientale, Paris, 1858 (fasc. 78 of Bibl. der Ex.
Fr. d' Athines ot de Rome).

114



VINLLNVH 40 30VTd-LINUVIN ONV T¥LVIHL

di- & X &k o
WA Jo oy

& SEN0H TIONN0D

s s R R LN FE T T

B

OHILLENDMYT

s Dol Bl 3%&&. =
_Y _I_ LI MO 40

YEOIxa

THOBIED 4O WY







XLIV
MEGALOPOLIS




XLIV
MEGALOPOLIS

Tms city was founded probably in the year 370 B.c.; for the circumstances, see on
Messene (No. XXXVI).

Megalopolis occupied broken ground on both sides of the Helisson, ce. 21 miles E.
of the point where that stream flows into the Alpheus. The Helisson flows from E. to
W., and divided the dty into two parts which seem to have been approximately equal.
Its bed is very broad and gravelly ; except in time of flood, the stream, when it is not
entirely dried up, flows along it in several small channels, A little way from its beanks
the ground rises into low hillocks, platesus and ridges broken and divided by smull
valleys or hollows through which, in rainy weather, tiny rivulets flow to join the Helis-
son. Thus the site of Meganlopolis is far from being a dead flat; and the engineers
who constructed the fortifications took advantage of the natural defences offered by the
inequalities of the ground. For example, the N. wall ran along the top of the steep slope
which separates the high tableland N. of the Helisson from the valley of the little river
Aminins and its tributary streams ; this slope i= a very steep one, and has in places 8
fall of as much as 120 ft. Only detached fragments of the city walls remain, but they
suffice to indicate the whole circuit with tolerable certninty, The circumference was
ea, 5§ miles ; the length of the city from N. to 5. was ca. 1] miles; its breadth along
the bed of the Helisson, ¢o. § mile; the name Megalopolis (* great city ") was not
misa

The fortifications appear to have been formed of two paralle] walls, distant from
each other about 3 ft. and conpected by bonds or cross-pieces, the interval between the-
two walls being filled up with earth and small stones ; the total thickness of the fortifica-
tion wall thus formed varies from 7§ to 12} ft. At some points there was a third com-
ponent wall cutside the other two, to which it wus likewise united by bonds, the interval
between it and them being similarly filled up with rubble and earth ; the total thickness
of the fortification thus formed was nearly 16 ft. The best-preserved example of this
type is to be seen on high ground close to the village of Karidockors, on the N. side of
the Helisson. Square and semicircular towers appear to have projected at intervaly
from the city wall. In regard to the style of masonry, the existing remains fall into two
groups : on the W. and S, sides, and at two points on the E. side, what we may consider
the original city walls, with their large stones roughly hewn into shape ; and on the N.
and N.-E, sides, what is best understood as the rebuilding after 222 n.c., with stones
entirely unhewn. The upper part of the walls of both periods was probably constructed
of sun-dried bricks ; for if the walls had been entirely built of stone, it is difficult o
account for their almost total disappearance ; and we have good reason for believing
that the upper portions of the walls of Gresk cities were aften built of this material.

The two important groups of public edifices at the centre of the dty, the market-place
to the N. of the Helisson and the Thersilium and theatre to its S., are discussed at Nos
XLYV. 1 and XLVI respectively.

ni
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XLV (1)
MARKET-PLACE OF MEGALOPOLIS
(Conjectrral Rasteration by E. Curting)

Ttus plan had been made by Emst Curtius on the basis of Pausanias’s description
[vif. 30, 31): the results of the British School's excavations of 18901891, which are
indicated on a small seale on the plan of Megalopalis (No. XLIV), have shown both
the modern plan and the ancient description to be substantially correct, for they have
disclosed remains which are to be identified with the Philippian Colonnade (ca. 200
yards N. of the river bank ; 5Io ft in length) and the sanctuary of Saviour Zeus (2
rectangle, fa. 175 it. from E. to W. and 154 ft. from N. to 5.) ; other monuments found
were a double row of columns—a late structure—running S, at a right angle from the
W. end of the Philippian Colonnade ; two late edifices to its 5.-W., perhaps belonging
to the gymnasium mentioned by Pausanias : the stylobate of a colonnade, ca, 300 ft.
long, bounding the market-plice on the E—perhaps the Mfyropolis of Pausanits;
and in the interior of the market-place the remains of an altar (one of those sacred to
Lycaran Zeus mentioned by Pausanias 7} and apparently an exrdra. To-day, almost
forty years after the British excavations; the aspect of this civic centre resembles that
of many Greek cities in the time of Pausanias himself: grain is growing among the
half-concealed remains which the excavator's spade had restored for a time to the
view of man,

XLV (2)
PLAN OF RUINS NEAR DRITSA (THE ANCIENT HELEON?)

THESE remains of an ancient fortress are situated on a rocky plateau ce. 10 minutes
walk to the W. of the village of Dritra (A=driisa) in Bocotia; the high road from Thebes
to Chalcis runs ca. two miles to the N, ; the path from Thebes to Tanagra passes by
the S. foot of the platean, close to the ruins. The steep edges of the platean may
average 50-60 fi. high ; at the highest point, close to its W. end, are the ruins of a
medinevnl tower, The view in the direction of Thebes is closed by Parnassus on the
W.: Helicon is seen on the 5.-W., and Ptous appears beyond Hypatus on the N.-W.
The fortress, perhaps the acropolis of the town, cccupied only the W. portion of
the platean; hence its E, end, situated at a point where there was o deep indentation
on the 5. side of the platean, was defended by a massive well ; this is well preserved,
and is one of the finest specimens of ancient masonry to be seen in Greece, The 5.
tower is constructed in its well-preserved lower portion of quadrangular blocks ; two
of these measure 74 ft. long by nearly 5 fi. high ; the upper part, of which a fragment
is preserved, consisted of polygonal blocks. The curving curtain to it N. is magnifi-
cently built of very large, carcfully-smoothed, and accurately-joined polygonal blocks,
some of them over 6 ft. long and 5 ft. high, resting on a sodle of squared blocks laid in
horizontal courses.  The slight remains of wall to N, of the gateway are built of large
rough stones in a far inferior style. The diagonal wall towards the S.-E. comner of
the enclosure is also of large rough stones. Thus the massive and beautiful wall of
polygonal masonry exists on the E. side of the fortress alone, and extends along only
about one-third of that side : it seems as if the people of the little town had considered
the W. cliffs a sufficient defence on that side, but bad begun to replace the old roagh
walls that protected the other three sides. The vestiges of buildings in the form of
rows of large rough stones now contained within the area are probably mediacval or
modern, constructed out of the ruins of the ancient town. The water of the spring
to 5.-W. of the platesu forms a brook, which flows N. to the foot of Mt. Hypatus.
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XLV1
PLAN OF THEATRE AND THERSILIUM AT MEGALOPOLIS

THe site of the theatre of Megalopalis, on the S. side of the Helisson and nearly opposite
to the ancient market-place, has always been well known to modern travellers. The
great semicircular embankment apainst the side of a low hill, which supported the
seats of the spectators, is visible from a long distance, whether we approach Megalo-
polis from the N. or the 5. The remains of the theatre and of the great assembly hall
known ns the Thersifiume, which immediately adjoined it on the 5., and with which it
wﬂ;l;ﬂ_im:imat:ly connected, were excavated under the direction of the British School in
I 1803.

Thr_-a-:'!ajs of the spectators rose up the sides of the hollow of a low hill which faced
nearly N., ca. 100 yards 5. of the broad bed of the Helisson ; the slopes at both sides
had to be prolonged by artificial embankments, supported by retaining walls; in
the centre of the auditorium the hill was almest high encuph, and here only a very
slight embankment seems to have been raised to supplement it. The top of the
auditorium is now ca. 76 ft. above the level of the orchestra ; the remains of the retain-
ing wall on the E. side rise to a height of ca. 40 ft., those on the W, side to ea, 36 ft.;
on the further part of each side there is an inner, parallel wall, connected with the outer
ane by short cross-walls, and perhaps intended as an additional support for the greater
height and weight of the embankment at these points. Some of the other cross-walls
by the E. parodir are merely butiresses, but others suggest an approach to & horizontal
passage running all round the anditorium. The space that would normally have been
devoted to n W, parodar is occupied by the oblong room, of the same length as the
colonnade thet forms the séené front, and with a channel, aligned with that colonnade,
running along its M. side ; this room is named on roof-tiles séasotéela or ' stage-
dock,” and obviously served for shifting and storing the scenery which was intended
to stand in front of the skenéd colonnade.

This theatre, however, has no proper skend in the sense of actors’ quarters ; for in
the place usual for such there stands the large covered assembly hall, * . . . the Council
House, which was built for the Arcadinn Ten Thousand : it was called Thersilium
after its founder ™ (Paus. viil. 32. 1), It is to be compared with the Telerferdon at
Eleusis ; the columns supporting the roof are so arranged as to provide converging
vistas, Dr, Darpfeld’s conclusions, in Dar gr. Theater, 141, are convincing : he
distinguishes three carly and one, or possibly two, later periods :

L. 370~360 B.c.: Construction of Thersilium (of hard limestone and povar; the
breccia columns in the interior are an addition), and of an open theatre without stone
seats ; sirict symmetry is not observed ; the porch has two steps ; the orchestra has a

I1. Second half of fourth century : Building of the stone theatre (of hard lmestone
and breceia) ; lowering of the orchesira and adding of the three lower steps of the porch.

111. Likewise second half of fourth century, perhaps not many years after 1L :
Erection of the seats of honour, and second, only partial lowering of the orchestra,
sloping down from the bottom of the lowest step of the porch to the top of the gutter
in front of the seats.

Perhaps after 220 B.C.: Erection of low wooden proséenion on stone stylobate
intersecting the orchestra circle,

There are slight suggestions of a late Roman Jogedon,

This theatrs was to Pausanias ** the largest in Greece " ; the area of its orchestra
is in fact double that of the theatres at Athens and Epidaures; his attention was
attracted by Lh;‘*pﬂemiﬂaﬂmingofwnr;"whjghﬂmm the orchestra, The
armangements orchestre and colonnoade fornish st ar ts in
iginal use of the foriner for dramatic sepevmnintions, | protes
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XLVII
SANCTUARY OF THE MISTRESS AT LYCOSURA

Amonc the hills, the S. spurs of Mt, Lycaeus, which bound the plain of Megalopolis
on the W, is the modern village of Sfafe. It stands on the bank of a stream (the
sncient Platuniston) which flows E. to join the Alpheus. From Stals a somewhst
steep path ascends fn co. twenty minutes to the ruins of Lycosura, which lic on a small
rocky hill to the E. of the village. From the E. side of this hill & low ridge runs E. for
& few hundreds of yards, ending in a green knoll or hillside ; the N. slope of the ridge is
broken by & terrace, not many feet helow the summit of the hillock ; snd on this
terrace are the ruins of the sanctuary of the Mistress. They were excavated by Messrs.
Cavvadias and Leonardos in 13891890, and 1895 ; the dating of the various portions
of the sanctuary, the reconstruction of the great group by Damophon of Messene, and
the determination of the period of that artist’s activity, have been the subject of much
discussion, but now may be considered settled.

Pausznias says (viii. 37. 1-10) that on entering the sacred precinct you had on the

right a colonnade, and that in front of the temple stood three altars. Remains of all
these have been found in the situations described by Pauvsanins, The precinct was
enclosed on the W. by a boundary-wall strengthened by buttresses. The only entrance
was from the E., to the 5. of the ruined chapel of 5t. Athanasins. The colonnade is on
the N. side, 7.¢. on the right e you entered ; its interior dimensions are Gy » 5.82 metres;
at the back it was connected by short cross-walls with the houndary-wall of the pre-
cinct ; jts fagade was supported by Doric columns made of the native stone ; these are
unfluted, but some fluted Doric half-columns have also come to light. At the W, end of
the colonnade is a chamber ca. 380 metres sqoare, measured on the inside ; its walls,
so far as they exist, are built of squared blocks set upright, two of these blocks making
the thickness of the wall ; here an archaic bronze statuette, perhaps of Athena, was
found.
A little to the 5. of the colonnade are the remains of the three altars mentioned by
Pausanias ; they stand in a row from E. to W, ; the most easterly is faced on the outside
with marble fragments brought from some other structure ; the middle one is built
more regularly of large blocks of the native limestone, of which two courses are pre-
served ; of the W. altar only three stones remain. Pausaniss's order indicates that
they were devoted to Demeter, the Mistress, and the Great Mother respectively,

The temple of the Mistress stood towards the W. end of the precinct, immediately
to the 5. of the W. end of the colonnade. The foundations, the lower part of the walls,
the pavement of the pronaos, and the great pedestal which supported the images are all
made of the native limestone, of a grey colour streaked with red. The upper part of the
walls, above a socle of squared stones, so far as it is preserved, is composed of large,
thick, imperfectly fired bricks bonded together, apparently, with mortar. The E.
fagade, including the six Doric columns which supported it, was of white marble from
Doliand ; the W. gable was of the same material. The E. part of the cella, paved with
a design in mosaic, was divided by a barrier from the W. part, in which is the great
pedestal that suppaorted the four statues mentioned by Pausanies, of which so many
fragments have been found (now partly in Athens, partly in the local museam). An
inscription on the 5. side commemorates a restoration in the Imperial age.

Three periods are to be distinguished in the temple : in the fourth century B.C. were
constructed the lower part of the walls and the 5. door in its original form ; near the
beginning of the second century B.c. the 5. door was modified and the present threshold
of the E. door was laid, the pavement was maised and probably given its mosajc decora-
:mi:tthﬁ;eﬁmh;wm&mtmp;mmmm

walls, columns portico, marhle portions of the roof belong
to the Roman period.

G. Dickins, in Ann. Brit. Sch. at Ath, xiil. (1906-1507), 357-404. E. Kuruniotes,
:E[l_'ﬂrrw rof Mowweisy Awwosofpar, Athens, 1911, E. Meyer, in Pauly-Wissown,

2417-2432.
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XLV +
THE TEMPLE OF APOLLO AT BASSAE

THE,hyfnﬂwbﬁtprnﬂﬂeﬂ:faﬂmﬂmttﬂuplﬁhthePdupﬂnﬁuﬂﬂmﬂlina
miﬁngty-ﬂdundududndsimaﬁmnuhﬂghmf;:mﬂ.umﬂmmmammw
mckyﬁdg:nmningnmﬂyﬁ;m&ﬁ,anﬂuﬁﬂd:ﬂyridﬂned to Teceive it ; the ex-
::pﬁannlpn:iﬁnn,fu:ingtnli.,nmE,,ia.daubﬂes:duzmuigﬂadunfsplm,bntthe
presence, at the back of the cella, of a room facing E. may perpetuate the memory of an
earlier, smaller edifice with normal orientation; objects found in the filling of the
terrace, and in particular terra-cottn revetments, testify to the presence here of & cult
with buildings of some consequence in the early part of the seventh century B.C. (K.
Kuruniotes, in "Apx- "E#., 1910,271-332). The present temple is assigned by Pausanizs
(wili 41. 8 f.]tu]aﬁ.uus.uueﬂflh:ﬂthiinmﬂxh:Panhmunddlttdinﬂnﬂﬂy
years of the Peloponnesisn War ; and his dating is confirmed by the stylistic qualities
of the architecture and the sculptured frieze. The structure was consolidated, and
the walls and other details replaced when necessary, with some attempt to put the
individual blocks back in their exact positions, by the Greek Archaeclogical Society;
in 1902 (Kavvadias, in Ilpacned, 1902, 33-27; Congrés & Athémes, 1905, 171-179)
Thrsculpﬂuumdmmeqthnﬁngmmﬁmin:thdﬁshMumm.

The temple rests on a three-stepped platform, including the stylobate ; its length,
mm.md.nnthnﬁnts!rpbeluwﬂ:rﬂyin‘han,islzjh?h,mﬂiﬂbrmﬂthqﬁft,lh.:
it is therefore unusually long in proportion. The walls, columns and entablature were
tnﬁhufameymmpnnlimm,winad-ithwhiunndnd.whin:hi.-aqmrrladunthe
neighbouring mountsin ; ﬂuup&tdsufﬂuinnﬂmlmm,themﬂ'mdnﬁlinmnfﬂm
N. and 5.pmﬁmﬂ.th¢rnufatﬂ=i,lﬂltbtmﬂpmxﬂmuunflmgmﬁﬂd
yellowish brown marble. The exterior columns are Daric.

There were no sculptures in the gables, but the stones above the apex and the
extremities of each gable were prepared to support ebroferda. The roof was tiled with
Puhnm:ﬂr,lmﬂinzmminguﬁnmmmbywlﬁnhmnﬂnufn&ﬂem
{uhbn!dlikn.mini:tufegahlc-mof.undappingdmniuﬂhmdﬂofdn
to it. Thrndlingufth:ﬂlmmdemfmdhyahh-dnmndﬂﬂhmukmm:k;

mhmdnfdmtcmpie,insi&ethnﬂmicmlmﬂe.mnsisudnfl:mhﬂufh

cdlinga[th:npiﬂhdnnwwuufmublewhhpti.ntadlndgiltd.tmthnl; those of
the premass und celfa must have been of wood.
Thcmlngﬂncﬂtnfﬂl:aﬂnilv:rymuiahk,uﬂi.lcumpulhll:tl:lrhl:i.nnlnw
tions introduced by letinus in the Parthenon and the Eleusinian Telerierion. Each
side is broken up into alcoves by short cross-walls terminating in lonic half-columns,
the capitals of which have volutes on three sides—the earliest instance of this device.
The half-columns supported a frieze which ran all roond the cella and was sculptured
with the battle of the Greeks and Amazons, and the Lapiths and Centaurs. Between
the last two buttresses and the S. wall of the eella there intervenes a space of ¢a, 15 ft.
wﬁd:myh:mppuedmhanbmm:hnnmmﬁuwm;mdﬂrhnmdﬂw
deity. The two buttresses in question are set obliquely, and between them, in the axis
of the cefla, stood a marble Corinthian column with exquisitely-wrought capital ; i
this belonged to the ariginal temple, it is the earliest known example of the Corinthisn
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MANTINEA AND TEGEA




XLIX
MANTINEA AND TEGEA

THE railway has now been extended S.-W, from Tripolitsa past Framfoevyss and on to
Kalomata on the 5, coast of Messenia,

Pausaniss twice enters the area of this map. He mentions (viii. 6. 2) a pass (by
which later he leaves Arcadis) from Argolis by Hysize and over Mt. Parthenius, de-
bouching in the territory of Teges ; and two passes debouching in the territory of
Mantinea. He enters the Fallow Plain, sees Nestane on a mountuin to his left, passes
over a slight eminence, descends into another plain where there iz m fountain called
Arme beside the high road ; then proceeds to Mantinea, which he describes in detail
(. 4-9.10). Then he takes up the several roads leading from Mantinea to the rest of
Arcadia: to Tegea, to Pallantium, to Methydrium (W., see VIII}, two to Orchomenus,
whence two roads lead him to N. Arcadia outside the aren of this map. The second
time (viii. 43) he comes by the highway from Megalopolis to Pallantium snd Tegea §
after a full account of the latter place he mentions the * Alphcus** (see above), and
takes up in turn the roads from Tegea to Thyrea (in the Argolid, to S-E), and to
Argos (by way of Mt. Parthenius).

This is the great plain of 5.-E. Arcadia, 2175 ft. above sea-level, damp and chilly
in winter, stifling hot and in parts malarial in summer. Tripolitsa, now the
is 8 post-classical development ; the ancient centres were Mantinea, controlling the
laternl valley o the N., and Tegea, dominating the S. part of the plain and barring
the direct route to Laceduemon, The map shows how it was fated that a decisive
battle should be fought at the former place, and why the people of Tegea were almost
constantly at grips with the Spartans. (For Mantines, see Nos. XXXVIL 2, XLIIL)
At the 5.-W. corner of the vast extent occupied by the city of Teges, the village of Fraki
contains the remnins of the temple of Athena Ales, which was rebuilt, with Seopas of
Paros as srchitect, after the fire of 395 8.c. (some sculptures are in Athens, the other
details in the local musenm); within the sacred area the French excavations have
yielded offerings from the earlier period of the shrine.

The hydrography of this region is interesting, since there is no matural drainage
above ground : the streams burrow their own subterranean outlets. In the extreme S.-W.
corner of the map is marked the acropolis of Asea, near which Pausanias and Strabo
{wviii. 3. 12) place the sources of the Alphcus and Eurotas; in the latter case erroneously,
for the water from both of the sets of springs near Asea, which can still be easily recog-
nised (they gave the name to Frambsvryss in the time of the Latin overlords), finds its
way along the gorge followed by the new railway and eventually to the plain of Megalo-
palis, some Too ft. lower, where various confiuents go to form the Alpheus as it heads
for the wild gorge of K'arytens on its way N.-W. towards Olympis and the sea (see also
VIII, Arcadia). The river Seranfa-pafamos, at the middle of the bottom of the map,
wits wrongly identified by Pansanias as the upper course of the Alpheus ; he notes that
it is the boundary between the lands of Lacedaemon and Tegea ; he must have thought
that it flowed into the chasm which still drains the swamp of Taka, in early spring s
veritable Inke in extent, at the S.-W. comer of the plain; but in reality on entering
the plain it bends awsy to N.-E. and eventually disappears in a chasm at the foot of
Mr. Parthenius, not far from the village of Fertsera, Mt Parthenins has a name in
literature, for it was here, according to Herodotus (vi. 105), that Pan met Phidippides
und promised his aid to the Atheninns,

Pallantium, the acropolis of which has been identified as occupying the summit
of & conical green hill of moderate height near the highway as it leads out from the
5.-W. corner of the pluin, deserves notice because, as Pausanias knew, it was from here
that the Romans considered the pre-Romulesn settlers of the Palatine to have come.
Traces of the fortification-wall can be seen round the summit, and on the highest point
of the hill are the foundations of a temple, doubtless the sanctuary of the Pure Gods
mhm;m&mfmh.mmmmha_ﬂ
slope. The town was situated in the plain at the N. and E. foot of the hill, but most of the
stones have been carried away to build Tripolitsa. Neara fountain there are the fornda-
tions of a temple.

G.memﬁ#rJMﬁu&[wﬁhMmph
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PLATAEA

THE ruins of Plataea cceupy a trhiangnlar platean which projects N. into the Boeotian
plain from the foot of Mt. Cithaeron. The base is turned towards the plainand the N.,
while the apex almost touches the declivity of Cithaeron, from which it is divided by 2
shallow ravine some 16 ft. deep. The plateau rises little above the surrounding plain;
it is highest at the 5. ; its sides were probably never high or steep enough to form a
sufficient natural defence without the aid of walls. The rock is a conrse grey marhle,
and of this all the existing walls of the ancient city are built; the soil is a clayey lime
The ancient walls may be traced in a circuit of ca. 2} miles all round the edge of the
plateau ; in some places they are standing to & considerable height. Inside the circuit
wall are two cross-walls . an upper one, extending roughly E. to W. and cutting off the
apex of the trianple, and a lower one, cutting off the N.-W. corner of the site and thus
having formed, at some date, an acropolis. Five different styles of masonry may be
distinguished, pointing to as many different periods of construction : (1) well-jointed
palygonal masonry (these pieces are the worst preserved) ; (2) an intermediate style;
better than (1) but not so well built as {3); (3) excellent workmanship, with large,
four-sided blocks laid neatly and accurately in horizontal courses, the outer surfaces
of the blocks being somewhat rounded or bulging, and cut vertically into wide and
rither deep grooves (the upper cross-wall and the wall at the N.-E. comner); (4) the
lower cross-wall, carelessly built of earlier materials; (5) latest and worst of all,
same Roman or, more probably, Byzantine fragments and stretches on the N. and W,
by projecting towers, of which there are many remains ; four of these are round, the
rest square,  The walls at the 5. end, beyond the upper cross-wall, are the carliest, and
here seems to have stood the original acropolis or even city. The best preserved and
best built portion of the whole fortifications is the upper cross-wall, The foundations
of what was probably the temple of Hera were discovered by the American School in
1891, on a small terrace about the middle of the N. division of Plataea, to the 5.-E. of
the later cross-wall which encloses the N.-W. comner of the platean. The temple of
Hera is stated (Hdt. ix. 52) to have been in front of the city in 479 B.C., but appears to
have been within the walls in Pausanins's time : this necords with the pogition of these
remaing, which are considered to be the structure built by the Thebans soon after
427 n.c.; the presence of o layer of blackened earth beneath them indicates that a
former temple had been destroyed by fire. In the N. portion of the town-site lies a
mass of ruins, containing ancient fragments ; pieces of marble are also built into the
walls of two springs, one some 250 yards E. of the plateau, the other immediately W.
of the walls and serving as a washing-place for the women of Kokls, the modern village
on the lower slopes of Cithaeron, a little to the 5.-W. of Flataea.,
The topography of the battle of 479 8.C. is difficult, and there have been considerable
ies of opinion with regard to it. Herodotus's (ix. 14-735) detailed account was
probably derived from men who had themselves mken part in the fight ; but the onmly
mountsin-fed torrents may have shifted their courses and deposited alluvial soil many
feet thick since that time. The identification of some of the most important spots is
still very uncertain : but the sanctuary of Demeter, on the slope of Cithasron above
Plataca, appears represented by two inscriptions found a little to the E. of Arickowds
the Gargaphian spring, from which the whole Greek army drew their water, was Situated
among low hills at a distance of 23 miles from the sanctoary of Hers ; and the Island,
to which the hard-pressed Greeks had thoughts of retreating, was formed by a stream
the waters of which, descending from Citheeron, divided and then, after flowing
round a tract of ground ca. 3 furlongs wide, reunited ; the Tsland lay in front of Platacs
at a distance of a little over a mile from both the Asopus and the Gargaphian spring.
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LI
ANCIENT THEBES

THE railway now passes practically along the N. edge of the plan.

The results of years of special research and excavation were presented by Dr, A. D).
Eemmopulles, in Omfaicd, being vol. i, (1017) of "Apyashoyuds Askrios, His plan shows
Impartant changes as compared with older views. Several prehistoric burial areas hnve
beme:plurui,mthehighupuundmthtﬂ,nfthncdm-ndﬂmgmzrﬂgﬁm
E. and W. of the Ismenus ; the dreuit of the outer wall is extended on the N. and E.
to include Hag. Athanasins, Hag, Paraskevi, Hag. Theodod, and the Ismenium ; and
an attempt, largely convincing, has been made to ascertain the position of the gates of
bath circuits, and to identify those mentioned by Pausanias, on a different principle
from that followed on the present map : Pausanins's gates, those of the Seven Apainsi
Thebes, are placed inthe inner, Cadmean, circnit. Kernmopullos also identified the spring
at Hag. Theodori as the Oedipodia ; he excavated the Ismenium; he cxplored the
burnt prehistaric edifice within the citadel, known to antiquity as the House of Cadmus.
A museum has been installed at the N, end of the Cadmen.

Thebes stood on the N. side of & range of low hills which extends from the foot of
Helicon, near Thespiae, on the W, to near Tanagra on the E., separating the N. from
the 8. plain of Boeotia. The line of hills, here at its lowest, Is intersected by the channels
of streams. Ome platesu is occupied by the modern town of Thebes, which undounbtedly
stands on the site of the Cadmen or acropolis. On its W. side it is bounded by the
valley of the Dirce; on its E. by a deep winding depression or gully. The platean
slopes gently upward towards its S. extremity, where it is connected by a saddle with
ththu.mm:wh-tlngi:ﬂ‘ ground to the 5. Here the modern road from Athens enters
The

The distant views are superb ; the eye ranges over o magnificent circle of mountains
of fine and varied outlines which bound the horizon on all sides : Cithasron on the 5.,
Helicon on the W, the massive Parnassus far away on the N.-W., the mountain of the
Sphinx maore to the N., Ptous dur N., and the bare rugged Hypatus on the N.-E.

But ancient Thebes seems to have extended over the neighbouring hills or platenaus
both to the W. and to the E.  That the earlier city did not occupy the whole of the area
indicated may be taken as certain.  Probsbly it was at first confined to the Cadmen.
The extension may have taken place in 457 B.C. ; Dr. Keramopullos, however, op. cit.
E;zg:.r, observing that the cemeteries of the end of the sixth century B.C. appear to
ie outside the larger circuit, prefers to date its construction at the close of that century.,

Pausanias approaches from the 5.; he mentions the ring of the * ancient * wall
and enumerates its seven gates, still existing in his own day, Toward Plataea lies the
Electran gate, and outside it he sees various monuments of legendary, historical and
religious interest ; on one's right as one comes from Plataea is the hill called Ismenius,
with the sanctuary of Apollo, and nearby the stream of the same name. The shrine
of Heracles and other edifices lay * to the lefi * of the Electran gate ; the statue of
Epaminondas roused suggestive memaries,  After describing the dty itself, Pausanias
follows the road which led from the Proetidian gate to is, mentioning & theatre,
nﬁmuadiﬁmmd{mnhutuhi:l:&}ihemnnd.nmm-dlylhnﬂmrh.hu:n
#s the tomb of Zethus and Amphion ; and soon coming to the tombs of the children of
Oedipus and the spring Oedipodis. Then he returns 1o Thebes and describes the road
leading N., past the stadium and the Hippodrome with the tomb of Pinder and on
wﬂnl’m;:ndbﬁ?md_ Again, he follows the road which leads from the Neitan
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L11
THE COPAIC LAKE DISTRICT

TuE railway now parallels the main carriage road in the 5.-W. part of the map ; the
luke has been drained, and its place is now occupied by a vast level plain, s great part
of which is under cultivation, with drai -canals at intervals. Like the basins of
Phenens and Stymphalus and the plain of Tegea in Arcadia, the Copaic basin is hemmed
in 50 closely by mountains that the water which pours down into it cannot escape above
ground snd has been forced in the course of ages to hollow out for itsell subterranesn
passages through the imestone rock.  These datsvorkrar exist at the foot of the moun-
tains on the N.-E. and E. sides of the plain, which is here bounded by  long line of
precipitoas limestone cliffs some 7o to 100 ft. high, once a series of capes and bays
washed by the waters of the lake. Twenty-five of these fissures are marked on the
mape; sixteen have separate names; they are of all sizes, and the largest have formed
only by the gradual widening of small rents.  The very slight general slope of the plain
from W. to E., with a very slight rise in the middie, caused the water to flow townrds
the N., E., and S. The height of the plain above sea averages 311 ft. ; the surface of
the lake, when full, was ca. 318 fi. above sea ; it was fed by streams from the W. and
5., while the natural emissories are situated on its N, and E. banks, The Melas,
originating in copious perennial springs near Orchomenus, is the only tributary which,
after the lake has been drained, continues even in the height of summer to flow across
the whole width of the plain in a deep bed of its own ; it falls into the Grear Katavothra
at the N.-E. comer of the plain.

The level of the lake varied greatly from time to time. Such variations, in all lakes
which are drained by natural subterranean passages, depend first on the warying
mpndtyﬂ{ﬂurminmiﬂ,ﬂhi:hmyhmmzﬂnﬁdﬂmdudmnpbrlﬂuﬁﬂ
deposits and are also exposed to sudden and incalculable changes wrought by earth-
guakes, ips, floating logs and so on ; and second, the fluctustions in the rainfall.
]nmmmhuﬂ::mwhmmqﬂumﬁmIMMh
the Copaic; in the summer there was only a great brown expanse, broken here and

by a patch of green mmrsh; with the setting in of the heavy autumn rains in
ovember the lake began to rise ; it reached its greatest depth in February or March,
by which time the mouths of the emissories were completely submerged ; when vicwed
[rnmahdghtmchuﬂmampclhnfﬂmhmusitnppﬂrtdumimmms:{m.ﬂ
vivid green colour, overgrown with sedge, reeds, and canes, through which the river
Cephim:u'rr]:rH:hsmighthtmdusgis}dymﬁngruidlhutmdﬂimuglumd
gunlit water, especially towards the N.-E. corner of the mere. In spring the water
began to sink ; by the middle of summer great stretches were bare ; by the end of
August the greater part of the basin was generally dry, though the water did not reach
its lowest point tll October.

The map indicates the situation of three of the subterranean outlets 7 in the upper
valley of Larymna (sce W. A. Oldfather, in 4. /. A. xx. (1916}, 32-61), beside the bay
of Séropeneri, and through the lakes Likers and Paralimei. The plan of draining the
Copaic lske, which has been recently accomplished, was conceived and
executed at & very remaote time in antiquity, tadition said by the men of .
i.#. the Minyans, whose prosperity may well have been largely due to the rich harvests
and the control over their neighbours thus obtained. The modern engineers have
discovered a complete and very ancient system of drainage works in the bed of the
lnke. There were three canals @ the N. canal, beginning on the N. bank st the modern
the waters of the Hercyna ; and the 5. camal, beginning at the mouth of the Phalarus
beside the village of AMfamowra. The Minyan engincers thus guided these various
mbmmdhpﬁﬂmm;MtMmmmdm
works begun wi intention of constructing artificial emissories, in the direction of

and also toward Lake Loberi; their date is not clear, perhaps they are due
to the engineers of Alexander or Nero.

=



y_—g g g
SN a0 XI¥0R
b f kL]

Thulanein 40 TITIE

P T ) W WERE R e

; q._..__r ey w
vl gy OF 4 1









LIII
GLA {GHA, GOULAS)

Pavszawias makes no mention of a very remarkable fortress of which the well-preserved
remains aré to be geen to this day on a low rocky tableland of some extent, till lately an
island in the lake, and known in modern times by the above names, which rises abruptly
on all sides from the dead fint of the Copaic plain. These remains show a general resem-
blance to the constructions at Mycenae and Tiryns ; but they exhibit marked differences
as well, They wouold have been built by 2 people akin in civilisation, if not in mce, to
the inhahitants of those strongholds : such & people were the Minyans of the neighbour-
ing Orchomenus. Gla bears the imprint of a single period and of a single plan ; there
is mot a trace of an enrlier or of a later settlement ; the marks of fire which have been
ohserved in the palace point to the conclusion that its end was sadden and violent; its
Very name in antiquity is not known with certainty.

Gla is distant some 2 miles to the 5.-E. of Copae, and forms a conspicuoes object,
with the long grey line of fortification-wall stretching along its brow ; its circumference
is e, = miles ; its greatest height, to N, is ce. 200 ft,, here in particular its edges fall
away steeply ; 2 natural ramp leads up to the most E. point of the tableland. On the
highest ground, close to the N. edge, is built the great palace. All round the outer
edge of the platcan runs an immensely (17-19 fr.) thick fortification-wall, nowhers
interrupted, and still standing for long stretches to a height of 3 and 4 courses (4 to
8 ft.) on the outside. It is built of rude but solid masonry ; the blocks, of varying sizes,
are very roughly fitted together, the chinks being filled with small stones ; the blocks
nre roughly squared, their exterior to some extent smoothed, and on the whole they are
luid in horizootal courses ; some measure 6 x3x 3 ft.; one at the S. gate is 7§ ft. in
length, A specinl feature consists of o series of retreating angles, at interyals of from
20 to 40 ft., but in general ca. 30 ft. ; the depth of the backsets varies from ca. 4 in,
toca. 2 ft. ; commonly they measure 10, 12, or 16 in. ; a similar system ocours at Troy,
Tiryns, Myceoas, Phylakope and Samicum. There are no towers except at the four
gates, to N,, W., 5., and 5-E. respectively ; the N. and 5. gates seem to have been the
principal ones. The masonry of the towers is more massive and regular than that of
the walls ; the N. gate had a court between the outer and inner openings ; the smaller
W. gute likewise seems to have had an interior court ; the 5. pateway was naturally
as well as artificially much stronger than the N. one; the 5.-E, gate consists of two
openings side by side in the wall.

The N. wall of the palace rests directly on the fortification-wall, which here runs
along the brow of high precipices ; in siyle the two are indistinguishable. The inner
walls, built of irregularly-shaped stones of various sizes, with small stones in the inter-
stices, were excavated in 1893 by Mr. A de Ridder and were everywhere standing toa
height varying from 18 in. to 2 and 3 fi. The plan consisted of two long wings, one on
the N. and one on the E., meeting at right angles. The N. wing ends on the W. in a
large tower ; the E. wing ends on the 5. in a much smaller one ; the total length of the
N. wing is ca. 263 fi., of the E. wing ¢s. 230 ft. Each comprises a series of chumbers on
its outer side, while its inner side is occupied for its greater part by two broad corridors ;
the entrance to the palace is at the middle of the outer corridor of the N, wing. The
l:hlﬂhmnrrg'rmﬂ}rmm. some are inter-communicating, and some open through

stucco ; in one room and a vestibule some remains of frescoes have been observed.
The pavement was of concrete, composed of ime-mortar mixed here and there with
pebbles, and resting on 2 bed of small stones ; in one room faint traces of a painted
ﬂemﬁmhubeennhrnedupmﬂxﬂmr;mdinm]ymm‘imhkm;
of stone. The thresholds are immense slabs, carefully smoothed ; one is
10 ft. Jong by 6 ft. wide. The external walls of the palace on their inner side are built
hﬁ:ﬂ:ml:hmwﬂht:bﬂvm Lhunfrhemmfmﬁ:ﬁm.qﬂhmdthniunnpuﬁ-
The other walls on the plateau are indicated on the general ; with the exception
ﬂ'ﬂl!m'mwmhmmlqlrnthtnumwﬂhﬂdﬂlﬁm
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LIV
DELPHI BEFORE THE FRENCH EXCAVATIONS OF 1892-18¢7

Mm&mmnmnﬂyﬂm‘bﬁdhsmhfm}3j: *On the 5§, side
nfpmmushﬂdpbi,lrocky]ﬂmhth:fmmdnthm.rhhtheuﬂdclndﬁie
city at the top. nrdrmm[ﬂmmﬂfthtnityillﬁfuﬂmgl....ﬂﬂ{ﬂtmplﬁﬂﬂ!]
d‘l‘ﬁﬂlbuuttbl:c.aﬁlin.nipdng, In front of the city, to the S., lies Mt Cirphis, a
precipitons mountain, separated from Dielphi by a dale through which flows the Plistus
river.” The city luy at the S, foot of the tremendous cliffs of Parnassus, which form a
uhmm]]ufmrk,u.ﬂmft.high.nmningfm NAW. o 5-E., and then bending
round at an obtuse anple towards the 5—the Phacdriades or * shinfng ** rocks, Just
lllhnanglewhntthilvmwauorroﬂ:hen&&rcnmdmwnrd:th:ﬁ.hismfmtﬂp
to bottom by s deep and gloomy gorge, some 20 ft. wide, in which there is a fine echo.
Facing each other across this chasm rise two stupendous cliffs, whose peaked summniits
tower considerahly above the rest of the line of clifs: the Eastern one was called
Hyampia in antiquity ; it is now called Phlemboutor, and the W, one Rhodini. In
'w:'unerﬂtwntwa&li:ﬂntmlmfmmhgdmth:mham&:mmﬁ
high. Atﬂmmuthufthegnrg:,mderlheE.diE.iHhtrmkfutbuinafdemnnhi

inn spring, a few paces above the high road. The water from the spring joins
the stream from the gorge, which plunging into a deep glen descends to join the Plistos
at a great depth below the town. From the cliffs at the back of Delphi down to the bed
ufthePlimntheremca.thim-lnmnu,:uppnnndbyﬂmwulh,mmjrnfpnlyguml
MASONTY ; meammqufﬁpuﬂnumup&tﬁmlytheﬁnmﬁ:h}ghmmﬂm
W. side of the Castalian gorge ; twenty minutes are needed to descend the stesp slope
to the Plistus, beyond which are the bare precipitous cliffs of Mt. Cirphis. From the
w.ﬂminfthtpzt&pineﬂhirhﬁsuﬂth:b&nkﬂfﬂ:}pﬁahighm&!ﬁdgtpm]tﬂl
towards the Plistus ; this ridge closes the valley on the W., shutting out all view of the
(hiumnpln‘n:ndth:gu&"nfﬂwﬁnthﬂmngh:glhnpsenfthenhnu{tﬁ:;ﬂlfﬁ
obtained from the stadium (now excavated), the highest part of Delphi, and a superb
mmﬂuﬁhtwhnlengiunﬁumthefurﬁﬁmﬁuuufﬂﬁlumdm,highupwthgm
of the ridge ftself, Thus enclosed, D:Iptﬁhyhumﬁ:ﬂ:dmmnt:inraﬂey.mﬂﬂing
mtﬂrm:hlnnﬁchmlushupc,itrﬁmhlednnimmthmu,uﬁmhunnd
others have noted. The whole seene is one of stern and awful majesty, well fitted to be
the seat of a great religious capital. In respect of natural seenery no contrast could well
be mare striking than that between Delphi and Clympin.

Pausaniss (x. 8. 6) entered Delphi from the E. ; by comparing his deseription with the
existing remains we see that the ancient road, at least in its last part, must have been
nearly of quite the same as the present road from drackops: it passes through one of
the ancient cemeteries of Delphi, which extended far down the slope to the steep banks
of the Plistus and also included many sepulchral niches cut in the rocks which
the road on the right ; the Zagari, the likeness of a great double door, chiselled in the
flunflmhwﬂt:hhufallmﬁ'nmrhcdiﬂs, and lies somewhat below (not above) the
line of the new highway, may have marked the entrance to the necropolis,

Pausanias mentions first the four temples, including that of Athena Pronaia, with
the precinct of the hero Phylacus (No. LVI); next, the Gymnasium, which has an upper
terrace with a colonnade and a lower terrace with baths snd other arrngements ; then
[i‘ﬂh“lﬂlﬂi:nhther&hxﬂuwhghduwjthncaﬂaﬁluﬁlﬁng.afmwhidlh
mmututhudtypmpu-ndlninhighu:puttb:ummnf.&pnﬂn,mﬂﬁchthc
greater portion of his tenth book is devoted (No. LV), He leaves the sanctuary by the
m,mmmm-ﬁummmwﬁumﬂu.mmmﬂ
c]fﬁﬂfhmmhuhyhthchnd}cﬂrr&:nute,ﬁhmﬂiﬁghmmw
pine-clad slopes of the mountain (x. 32. 2).
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LV
DELPHI, PLAN OF EXCAVATIONS OF MAIN SANCTUARY

Himuﬂmﬁmesthtupperormmdqnmnfﬂieundmlﬁiymmpﬂhﬁu
village of Aestrd down to 1802 when it was cleared away and the people transferred to
the new town on the further side of the western ridge. The enclosing wall of the pre-
cinict owes its present form to tl:emhui!ﬂiﬂganﬂ:nh:gﬂﬂﬂtﬂfthtshﬂntintblllttﬂ'
part of the sixth century B.C. whichis u.s&uciﬂtuiwiﬂlth:uam&nfrh&_ﬁ]cmamﬂﬁhﬂrﬂ'hﬂ
contracted to build the temple (ce. 513 g.c.); at several points it= developed polygonal
cnmtrucﬁuuhugimngtuﬂth:rstﬂﬁ.uuth:ﬁ.-meer:hmmmﬂgﬁd
about the year 400 B.C. {aghlar, with striated surface), and at certain points an earlier,
inner line of wall has been traced [r.g. to E. of Gate B.” of the W, wall).

We follow Pausanias’s order, beginning at the S..E. entrance, The first aof the
three divisions of the preeinct lies below tb:gmtpulygm.nlwu.llnfth:templem:
'ftbmtuﬂdb}'th:SatndWay {the name is not attested from antiquity for Delphi)

The central purﬁnnoir]:rpm&nctiluctupicd hythemmpI:ﬂpruﬂnmdth! great
terrace on which it stood. The polygonal retaining-wall below, in the # Leshian "'
curvilinear technique,—a wonder of the mason’s art,—is due to the  Alomaeonid "'
rebuilding, and the massive foundations of the temple jtself are of the same time, except
ot the W. end. The steps and pavement, so far as preserved, and the fmgments of the
mptrstru.ctﬂre.mﬂuttulrehuﬂlﬁnginﬂ:.emn‘nﬂn.udlhirdmnﬂmnflhzfﬂlﬂh

I

hmrpmud'mth:fnmﬂntinnslt the W. end, also owing to the rebuilding in the
fourth mnm:y.mbeubunndmanrrmgmmts,par&rm:bl:,oftht.umumid temple,
and sculptured fragments of both marble and peros are in the Museum., Pores archi-

leading down, at the S. of the temple, to the channel which conveyed the water from
the Cﬂuﬁdspﬁngtudmpﬁmi&vemmﬁunfEmh a.ndﬂ:ell!um:ftﬂi.thﬂ-d-
beneath the tempile of Apollo itself.

Above the temple platform is the upper third of the precinct, where except for the
I.fschﬁﬂft.h:{hﬁdims. the lafty site for which must have been chosen partly fior its
view and seclusion, there were few large monuments earlier than the second half of the
fourth century 8.C. ; it contained the primitive precinct of Neoptolemus atits S.-E.edge
and the bronze chariot group at its 5.-W.cdgc,nnﬂlmsmﬂﬂrnnunsm5.-£ufth¢
cavea of the theatre ; hutﬂbmefuﬂympieduﬂywhmﬂmlmwﬁﬁfﬂﬂ
sanctuary were already erowded.

Many of the secondary monuments of the precinct have been identified, besides
those indicated on the plan; the treasury there marked © Siphnian (or Cnidian) " i*
now ?rcrptedn Siphnian, the base to E. of the Great Altar, marked as  Phocian
Offering (7),” almost certainly supported the Triped of Plataea.

The official publication, Foutlles de Delphes, is progressing towards completion-
Dither important works are: A. D, Keramopullos, Cuide de Delphes, Athens, 1909
W.B. Dmmn?r,{“ St;}ﬂiu of the Delphian Treasuries,” in B. C. H. xxxvi. (1o12):
439403 ; xxxvii. (1913), 5-83; also, in A J. A, xxvii, (1923), 164-1 E. Bourgueh
Les Ruimes de Delphes, Paris, 1914, F. Poulsen, Deipgi.llmﬂnnﬁmn- Pamto®,

Delphi,” in Pauly-Wissowa-Kroll, Feal Encyclopddie, Suppl. iv. 1 180-1432.
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DELPHI, SANCTUARY OF ATHENA
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LVl
DELPHI, SANCTUARY OF ATHENA PRONATA

{PAvusANTAS, x. B. 6) * On entering the city you come to a row of temples.  The first of
them was in ruins, and the next was empty both of images and statues. The third con-
tuined portrait statues of & few Roman emperors ; and the fourth is called the temple
of Athena Before the Temple. . . . Beside the sanctuary of Athena Before the Temple
is & precinct of the hero Phylacus. . . .Y

This sanctoary lay on the left and below the highway as the pilgrim approached
Delphi by the pass from Daulis and Boeotin; to S. it enjoys a full view of the gorge
of the Plistus and beyond it the slopes of Cirphis, while to the W. one looks across at
the great precinct of Apallo.

The rufnu*hith"ti?:t:ﬁmaﬂ by the French in 1901, and more fully investigated
in recent years, ngree in genernl with the indications given by Pausanias. Proceeding
from E. to W., there is first a diminutive precinct, shown by finds of small objects at a low
level to have been the seat of a cult of o female divimity from Mycenaean times ; in the
clussical period several altars were erccted here, and inscriptions associate the cules
then maintained with the patron goddesses of women's sphere of life.  Next there is the
large temple which Pausanias saw in ruins: a tufa Doric structure of ca. 490 5., into
the foundations of which were built the remains of o very early Doric temple of tufin; the
building was restored at least once in later times before it was finally abandoned. The
builders had chosen the one point of all the hillside most exposed to the fall of rocks
from the threatening precipice ahove, To its W. are the two exquisite marble edifices,
the first Doric and the second a form of Tonic, now called * Aeolic,” of which Pausanias
says that the first was void of statues of gods and men and the second had portrait statues
of some Roman emperors.  The large rectangular imestone edifice beyond the round
building to the W. is clearly the temple of Athena Prowsis (this form is preferred to
Proncia) of which Pausanias speaks ; it was built in the fourth century 8.C. in a safer
position to replace the older tufa temple which had been repeatedly damaged by falling
rocks. Its builders sacrificed an early structure consisting apparently of two rooms front-
ing on a wide vestibule—the low limestone wall doubtless supported a superstructure of
sun-dried brick. The successive phasesin the useof the terrace are reflected in the various
stretches of retaining-wall ¢ an early archaic wall curves below the Eastern temple, and
the present kine to E., 5., and W. of the enlarped sanctuary is of the late sixth century
B.C,,in a polygenal style similar to the greater part of the enclosing-wall of the Apollo
precinct of the Alcmaeonid period. To N., however, the wall which had the function
:fpmrﬁngtheu?:m Inndslides falls into diverse stretches, with plan and technique
corresponding to the several phases of building activity esented in the sacred
edifices themselves, i

The two small rectungular marble buildings to W. of the old tufa temple are probably
treasuries (see No, LV) ; the * Acolic ™ treasury probably belonged to Massilin which,
us Pausanias reminds us, was a colony of Phocaen.

More difficult problems are presented by the marble rotunda between these treasuries
and the fourth-century temple. It is a masterpiece of mature Doric mingled with Tonic
Wmﬂ:ﬁnﬂwﬁhlﬂmitm; the material and execution equal the design.

columns which stood against the inside of the wall are early examples of
Corinthinn ; Mhuﬂdhgappunnfnmuf&emﬂnat}egum{hhﬂﬂm
Itzpdl.nrm (Nn 'K.‘:CKII}. It can hardly Bave been other than the tdofur at Delphi
mentioned by Vitruvius, vii praef, 12, as the subject of a treatise by Theodorus of
Phocaes, apparently its architect; and we may imagine that the Phocaean received
hmfmllmﬂhmdqﬁmm’h'ddmtmmmmg
freasury of the Massaliotes, Pausanias's expression with regard to the precinct of the
hero Phylacus, and still more the statement of Herodotus (viii, 30) that it lay * beside the
road itself, above the sanctunry of Pronaia,” preclude our regarding this round building
ﬂﬁuﬂﬁ:“mi mﬂ‘?wtiﬂhbuuﬁu!hnqumtoh:uuﬂlepmﬁ*
Pansanias § it : s =
mmwmmmm“‘mmmm lying outside the field of his interests;

lcable ™ but thes 1 ot
the rotunda as P-u-niu’lthi:ﬁmplrhinpmhzdiﬁnﬂﬁud"nﬂ:ium §
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LVII
(1) PLAN OF RUINS AT LILAEA
(2) PLAN OF RUINS AT CHARADRA (?)
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LVII (1)
FLAN OF RUINS AT LILAEA

“ LILAEA s a winter day’s journey from Delphi: the way lies across and down Par-
nassus ; we judged the distance to be 180 furlongs 7 ; so Pansanias (x. 33. 3), who also
ohserves that the climate of the place * is pood in autumn, summer, and spring, but
owing to Mt Parnassus its winters are not correspondingly mild.” The well-preserved
ruins are situated at the N.-W. foot of Parnassus, & mile or so W. of the copious springs
_ which the ancients regarded as the source of the Cephisus, though they are not actuslly
its highest source ; they rise at the N. base of the mountain. The grey walls and towers
climb a steep and rugged hillside, the last fall of Parnassus to the plain of the Cephisos ;
the place can receive very little sun at any time of the yesr.

The sitvation of the Acropolis is striling and peculiar, The walls, fanked with
square towers, ascend the steep rocky bushy slope of the hill at a short distance to the
W. of the precipices which terminate it on the E,, gmdMyawmdlEnt:miiF only
& nartow strip of shelving rocky ground is left between them and the brink ; this strip
varies from 50 yards in width to a space only broad enough to allow a passage between
the walls and the crugs; at one place the slope begins at the very foot of the wall.
Towards the summit the wall makes an angle to W, and leaves a somewhat wider but
still very small space between it and the precipices on the E, ; this narrow area, enclosed
by walls on three sides and by precipices on the fourth, was the citadel proper; the
massive and tall walls and towers on the hillside below were apparently intended
merely to connect the tiny citadel with the town, the scanty remains of whose walls may

LVII (2)
PLAN OF RUINS AT CHARADRA (7)
AFTER describing Lilaea, Pausanias continues (x. 33. 3): * Twenty furlongs off is

l@ﬂyhfm%dhmmwm:tmﬁqmmpdnmlmm
furlongs to fetch it. The Charadrus falls into the Cephisus. . . .
Thpwuhabkﬁmdﬂhuudnh;ﬂupmckyhﬂl,puﬁ:ps@&mgh,whkhpm—
jmuiﬁghﬂyinmm:phiufm&zfmtumeamnmmﬁﬂzgrn{M#hhm
ca. 3 miles N.-W. of Lilaea, The brook which in winter flows through the glen on its
W.ﬂiehmbﬂh}ytheﬂhlr-d:ns: its bed is dry as late as October. The very steep
rocky slope of the hill towards the glen on the W. would seem to be the * high crag ”';
E?tmﬁ:rh:hmdﬂ::nﬂ?gmﬂnﬂymﬂieglm,wﬁmh:mmkunbmi On the E.
i 1 with biok et 3 i
to the Cephisian plain, s g ey 4
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LVIII
ABAE

PAtsANTAS says (x. 35. 1) : * To reach Abae and Hyampolis from Elatea ™ (near mod.
Drackmant), * you follow a mountain road on the right of the town, The high road
from Orchomenus to Opus also leads to these cities. If, then, you take the road that
leads from Orchomenus to Opus, and tumn off a short way to the left, you reach Abae."
1t stood in a side valley opening into the great valley of the Cephisus on the E. side of
the latter, & little way to the N. of the narrow defile through which the Cephisus passes
from Phocis into Boeotin. Tts ruins oceupy the summit of a sharp-pointed nearly isolated
hill that rises on the E. side of the valley, from which, however, it is divided by a lower
hog-backed hill. The remains of Hyampolis lie low down in the valley at a distance of
only about & mile to the N.-W. of Abae, On the precipitous E. side of the hill of Abae,
fortifications seem to have been omitted ; on the W. and 5. sides it is defended, not
very far below its summit, by two fortification-walls, one above the other. The narrow
N. face has no wall running along it, but a wall (now very ruinous) ascends the slope
on this side, mesting the lower of the two * dreoit "-walls at the N.-W. comer of the
hill ; from this point begins the upper * circuit "-wall, The summit is not = tableland :
it descends in unbroken slopes on all sides from the very small top,  The walls are mostly
ruinous, but many isolated picces are standing to a height varying from 5 to over g ft.
The masonry is of the fine polygonal sort ; the blocks, many of which are of great size,
are hewn into a great variety of shapes, fitted neatly together, and smoothed on their
outer faces. On the whole the lower wall is built of lurger blocks than the upper and is
better preserved. The walls seem not to have been fianked with towers except at the
5. gatewny ; but the outer wall makes several salient angles. Most ruinous of all is a
wall which descends the hill from the lower * circuit "-wall in o N.-W. direction; it &
traceable for a short way, but only in the form of a heap of broken stones, except just
at the point where it starts.

The main approach was evidently by a saddle from the 5., where lower hills afford
& gradusl ascent. - Here, nccordingly, is the principal gateway, still in very good preser-
vation though partly buried. It faces 5., and only & short piece of wall intervenes be-
tween it and the E. precipices. The present width of the gateway at the level of the
ground is g fi. 10 in, but the opening is narrowed towards the top by stones which
project on cach side. The lintel is still in place over the gateway : it is a single block of
stone, 8 ft. long, 3 ft. B in. wide, and ca. 1 ft 7 in. high. The gateway is set back from
the line of the wall and is flanked on each side by a tower ; the E. tower is much nearer
the gate ; the W. tower is by far the better preserved ; it is built of immense, well-fitted
polygonal blocks. There is also a small gatewny ca. 5 ft. wide, unflanked by towers, in
ﬂﬁw.uu!:rn&lndmiyuppﬁ:mhhudmmyrg.afLﬁhﬂdehﬂmilmﬂ‘
{opper) wall. ]

The small rocky peak of the hill commands fine views of Parnassus to W., Helicon
to 5., and the more distant mountains of Boeotin to E. To N.-W. is seen the acropolis
of Hyampolis.

a'tlﬂ!hl:N.fnﬂtﬂfﬂumighbnu:hﬂlnf,ﬁhumﬂuw,mlnytumb:mmhattbeeﬂ
excavated, Here then was the necropolis of Abae, or perhaps of Hyampolis.
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WORKS BY SIR J. G. FRAZER
THE GOLDEN BOUGH

A STUDY IN MAGIC AND RELIGION
Third Edition, revised and enlarged. 8vo,
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